
 

Monitoring Officer 
Geoff Wild 
 
County Hall, Newport, Isle of Wight PO30 1UD 
Telephone (01983) 821000 
 

 

 
 

 
Name of meeting ISLE OF WIGHT FIRE AUTHORITY FIRE FIGHTERS 

PENSION BOARD 

Date WEDNESDAY 14 OCTOBER 2020 

Time 2.00 PM 

Venue VIRTUAL (MS TEAMS) 

Board Members Cllrs R Barry and D Stewart, R Singleton (Chairman) and 
S Harrison 

 Democratic Services Officer: Megan Tuckwell 
democratic.services@iow.gov.uk 

 
1. Changes to the operation of the board   
 
 To confirm the changes in operation of Fire Pension Board meetings, in light of 

changes to the Council’s constitution. 
 

2. Minutes  (Pages 5 - 8) 
 
 To confirm as a true record the Minutes of the meeting held on 5 December 2019.  

 
3. Declarations of Interest   
 
 To invite Members to declare any interest they might have in the matters on the 

agenda. 
 

4. Administration Update  (Pages 9 - 10) 
 
 To receive information about membership numbers at 31 August 2020, details of 

annual benefits statements issued, and other administration updates. 
 

5. Legislation and Local Government Association (LGA) update report  (Pages 
11 - 100) 

 
 To receive a report, extracted from Hampshire Fire Pension Board papers, on 

bulletins issued by the Local Government Association in respect of fire pension 
schemes since the last board meeting in December 2019. 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



6. McCloud/Sargeant case update  (Pages 101 - 136) 
 
 To receive a report, extracted from Hampshire Fire Pension Board papers, on the 

latest developments in the transitional protections age discrimination case. 
 

7. Combined Fire Authority  (Pages 137 - 138) 
 
 To receive a report on progress towards the Hampshire and Isle of Wight 

Combined Fire Authority. 
 

8. Other matters for the board's attention   
 
 Members to raise any other matters. 

 

 
GEOFF WILD 

Monitoring Officer 
Tuesday, 6 October 2020 

 

Page 2



 
Interests 
 

If there is a matter on this agenda which may relate to an interest you or your partner or 
spouse has or one you have disclosed in your register of interests, you must declare your 
interest before the matter is discussed or when your interest becomes apparent.  If the 
matter relates to an interest in your register of pecuniary interests then you must take no 
part in its consideration and you must leave the room for that item. Should you wish to 
participate as a member of the public to express your views where public speaking is 
allowed under the Council’s normal procedures, then you will need to seek a dispensation 
to do so. Dispensations are considered by the Monitoring Officer following the submission 
of a written request. Dispensations may take up to 2 weeks to be granted.  
 
Members are reminded that it is a requirement of the Code of Conduct that they should 
also keep their written Register of Interests up to date.  Any changes to the interests 
recorded on that form should be made as soon as reasonably practicable, and within 28 
days of the change.  A change would be necessary if, for example, your employment 
changes, you move house or acquire any new property or land.   
 
If you require more guidance on the Code of Conduct or are unsure whether you need to 
record an interest on the written register you should take advice from the Monitoring 
Officer – Geoff Wild on (01983) 821000, email geoff.wild@iow.gov.uk, or Deputy 
Monitoring Officer - Justin Thorne on (01983) 821000, email justin.thorne@iow.gov.uk. 
 

 
Notice of recording 

 
Please note that all meetings that are open to the public and press may be filmed or 
recorded and/or commented on online by the council or any member of the public or press. 
However, this activity must not disrupt the meeting, and if it does you will be asked to stop 
and possibly to leave the meeting. This meeting may also be filmed for live and 
subsequent broadcast (except any part of the meeting from which the press and public are 
excluded).  
 
If you wish to record, film or photograph the council meeting or if you believe that being 
filmed or recorded would pose a risk to the safety of you or others then please speak with 
the democratic services officer prior to that start of  the meeting. Their contact details are 
on the agenda papers. 
 
If the press and public are excluded for part of a meeting because confidential or exempt 
information is likely to be disclosed, there is no right to record that part of the meeting. All 
recording and filming equipment must be removed from the meeting room when the public 
and press are excluded. 
 
If you require further information please see the council guide to reporting on council 
meetings which can be found at 
http://www.iwight.com/documentlibrary/view/recording-of-proceedings-guidance-note  
 
All information that is recorded by the council is held in accordance with the Data 
Protection Act 2018.  For further information please contact Democratic Services at 
democratic.services@iow.gov.uk  
 

Page 3

mailto:geoff.wild@iow.gov.uk
mailto:justin.thorne@iow.gov.uk
http://www.iwight.com/documentlibrary/view/recording-of-proceedings-guidance-note
mailto:democratic.services@iow.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
  
 
  
 
  
 
 
 

14. Changes in Membership 
 

Members noted the recent changes in Board membership including the appointment 
of Sean Harrison as Scheme Member Representative. The resignation of Cllr Tig 
Outlaw from the Board (following his resignation as Cabinet Member for Community 
Safety and Public Protection), and the subsequent appointment of Cllr Stuart 
Hutchinson as Employer Representative, had resulted in the Board being non-
compliant with its internal terms of reference which states that one of the employer 
representatives shall be the Cabinet Member with responsibility for Public Protection. 
The board was however compliant with legislation which was satisfactory per the 
Monitoring Officer. 
 
Discussion took place regarding the operation of the Board. It was advised that the 
Monitoring Officer was undertaking an extensive review of the Isle of Wight Council’s 
Constitution which would include a review of the Pension Board and would enable a 
more proactive approach than the existing framework allowed.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 

THAT the changes in board membership and updates on the operation of the board 
be noted.  
 

15. Minutes 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

THAT the Minutes of the meeting held on 11 September 2019 be confirmed.  
 

16. Declarations of Interest 
 

No declarations were received at this stage.  
 

17. Membership Numbers 

Name of meeting ISLE OF WIGHT FIRE AUTHORITY FIRE FIGHTERS PENSION 
BOARD 

Date and time THURSDAY 5 DECEMBER 2019, COMMENCING AT 8.30 AM 

Venue MEETING ROOM 3D, COUNTY HALL, ISLE OF WIGHT 

Board Members Ross Singleton (Chairman), Sean Harrison, Cllr Reg Barry, Cllr Stuart 
Hutchinson 

Also Present  Matt Collier, Jo Thistlewood, Megan Tuckwell 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 
 

 
The Employment Services Lead Officer presented membership data and highlighted 
the key changes since last reported in July 2019. The Technical Finance Manager 
provided an overview of the schemes and discussion took place regarding the 
complexities of the administration including possible implications of the McCloud 
ruling.  It was noted that an emphasis would be on data cleansing and if additional 
resource was required, a business case would be developed. Members noted the 
detailed explanation provided by the Employment Services Lead Officer and 
Technical Finance Manager and were confident that officers were informed as best 
they could be. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
THAT the update be noted. 
 

18. Feedback from Hampshire Fire Pension Board 
 

The Technical Finance Manager provided an update on the feedback from the 
meeting of the Hampshire Fire Pension Board held on 9 October 2019. It was advised 
that the key issues discussed were mainly around legislation and updates from the 
Local Government Association including discussion on the McCloud ruling, the 
O’Brien case on part-time judges buying back benefits, and the Langford case 
regarding survivor benefits.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
THAT the update be noted.  
 

19. The Pensions Regulator’s Scheme Returns 2019 
 

Members considered the completion and submission of the scheme returns for 2019 
in advance of the deadline. Attention was drawn to the response to Record Keeping, 
that common and scheme-specific data had not been measured in the last three 
years. A notice was subsequently issued by the Pensions Regulator stating that a 
data review must be completed by April 2020 and agreement had been received the 
from Chief Fire Officer advising that the cost would be charged to councils fire budget. 
A procurement exercise was now underway, and an update would be provided at the 
next meeting.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
THAT the completion and submission of the scheme returns be noted.  

 
20. The Pension Regulator’s 2019 Survey  

 
Technical Finance Manager presented the Pension Regulator’s 2019 Governance 
and Administration Survey and drew members attention to the following key points.  
 
o The current policy in respect of board members' conflicts of interest is linked to 

the council’s constitution, which is not entirely suitable for the purposes of board 
members. A review of this, in conjunction with the LGPS board, is planned.  

Page 6



 
 

o Due to quorum issues only two of the four scheduled meetings were held last year, 
against the Pensions Regulator’s recommendation to meet quarterly.  

o There was a need to develop a training plan in response to the current frequency 
of evaluating the knowledge, understanding and skills of board members.  

o It was noted that a risk register would be developed, primarily around 
administration and legislation, as the board did not have its own documented 
procedure for assessing and managing risk. Members were reassured that risks 
are checked by auditors.  

o Discussion took place regarding cyber risk and the process for reporting breaches.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
THAT the survey be noted.  

 
21. Report on Breaches and Complaints 

 
The Employment Services Lead Officer provided an update on breaches and 
complaints reported since the last meeting. A potential complaint had emerged, and 
it was confirmed that a meeting was scheduled with the scheme member to address 
and resolve any queries they may have. Two breaches had been identified, both in 
relation to the membership of the board. Neither breach was not deemed significant 
enough to report to the Pensions Regulator as the board was compliant with 
legislation. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
THAT the updates be noted.  

 
22. Combined Fire Authority (CFA) 

 
The Employment Services Lead Officer provided an update on the progress towards 
the Hampshire and Isle of Wight Combined Fire Authority (CFA). It was advised that 
all paper membership records had been scanned onto the system to make the 
transfer of files easier, and meetings had taken place with the Hampshire fire 
pensions team to discuss the schemes’ membership details. There was a focus on 
ensuring that the data was the best possible quality for the transition, and the GMP 
reconciliation project was awaiting final confirmation from HMRC.   
 
RESOLVED: 
 
THAT the update on the progress towards the Combined Fire Authority be noted.  
 

23. Items Circulated for Members’ Attention 
 

The committee noted the items circulated for information since the papers were 
published for the last meeting (3 September 2019). Members agreed they were happy 
to continue receiving updates via email between the formal meetings. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
THAT the updates be noted.  
 

Page 7



 
 

24. Members’ Question Time 
 

Members were reminded next meeting Wednesday 18 March 2020. Questions were 
raised regarding knowledge and understanding, and the Technical Finance Manager 
agreed to circulate an assessment to board members.  

 
 

CHAIRMAN 

Page 8



Isle of Wight Fire Pension Schemes
Membership Data at September 2020
Source: Altair administration system

Active Undecided Deferred Pensioner Dependants TOTAL
1992 scheme 13 0 6 83 22 124
2006 Scheme 0 1 58 4 3 66
"Modified" Scheme 17 0 11 18 0 46
2015 CARE Scheme 90 1 33 0 0 124

120 2 108 105 25 360

movement since July 2019
Active Undecided Deferred Pensioner Dependants TOTAL

1992 scheme -2 0 0 1 0 -1
2006 Scheme 0 0 -1 1 0 0
"Modified" Scheme -1 0 0 1 0 0
2015 CARE Scheme -8 0 3 0 0 -5

-11 0 2 3 0 -6

Treated for accounting and reporting purposes as deferred members.
This will be followed up by Pensions Lead Officer,

Dependants = pension benefit payable to spouse/children of deceased pensioners

Taper timetable

Original scheme 2018 2019 2020 2021 TOTAL
1992 scheme 2 1 3 0 6
2006 Scheme 1 0 0 0 1
"Modified" Scheme 1 1 0 1 3

4 2 3 1 10

Undecided = no longer active (i.e. probably left service) but admin team have not received leaver 
documentation.

Deferred = staff who have left the service before retirement age, who are entitled to a pension benefit in 
future.

The Pension Team Leader and the Senior Accountant - Fire & Contracts are reviewing the administration 
system data in comparison with the accounting system records to ensure that all members are recorded 
in the correct scheme, and are paying the correct contribution rates.

Following the introduction of the CARE scheme in 2015, there remain a number of scheme members who 
have still to transfer into the 2015 scheme. The timing of future transfers is set out below

Transition year

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
Purpose: For Information 

 
 
 
    

 
 
Committee 
 
Date 
  
Title 
 
 
Report of  
 

 
ISLE OF WIGHT FIRE AUTHORITY FIRE PENSION BOARD  
 
14 OCTOBER 2020 
 
LEGISLATION AND LOCAL GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION (LGA) 
UPDATE REPORT 
 
TECHNICAL FINANCE MANAGER  
 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1. Information contained in this report has been taken from the reports to the Hampshire 

Fire and Rescue Authority (HFRA) Hampshire Firefighters' Pension Board for their 
meetings on 15 July 2020 and 8 October 2020. 

 
2. The Local Government Association (LGA) issue a bulletin at the end of each month; 

there have been seven bulletins issued since the last Fire Pension Board report. The 
bulletins are emailed out to a variety of contacts but can also be accessed via the 
http://www.fpsregs.org/ website. 

 
3. Bulletins 30 (March 2020) to 36 (August 2020) can be found in appendices 1 to 7. 

There is a lot of information contained within these bulletins; the key items are set out 
below. 

 
ANNUAL ALLOWANCE (BULLETIN 30) 
 
4. In the spring budget on 11 March 2020, the Chancellor announced changes to the 

threshold income and adjusted income limits that are used to work out a tapered 
Annual Allowance. 
 

5. From 6 April 2020, the adjusted income limit will rise to £240,000 (increased from 
£150,000) and the threshold income limit will rise to £200,000 (increased from 
£110,000). The Chancellor also reduced the minimum tapered Annual Allowance from 
£10,000 to £4,000. 
 

6. The threshold income is broadly the member’s total taxable income from all sources 
after any pension contributions. These changes mean that the member is not be 
subject to the tapered annual allowance if their threshold income for that year is 
£200,000 or less, no matter what their adjusted income is. 

 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



INTERNAL DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCEDURE (BULLETIN 30) 
 
7. The Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) have agreed that data on Internal Dispute 

Resolution Procedure (IDRP) should be collected on an annual basis, to collect 
numbers and any emerging themes.  

 
8. Isle of Wight Council reported to LGA that for the 2019-20 financial year, no IDRP 

were received. 
 

9. The LGA have issued some updated guidance for IDRPs which is in line with the 
council’s  established IDRP processes for both the Local Government and Fire 
Pension Schemes. 

 
2015 SCHEME ADDED PENSION FACTSHEET (BULLETIN 32) 
 
10. The Fire Communications Working Group (FCWG) have produced a factsheet for the 

purchase of additional pension within the 2015 scheme. This can be found on the 
LGA’s fire pension regulations website and in Appendix 8. 

 
ANNUAL BENEFIT STATEMENTS - MEMBER COMMUNICATIONS (BULLETIN 34) 
 
11. As it was not possible to include any details on the McCloud / Sargeant remedy within 

the Annual Benefit Statements (ABS’) for 2020, the LGA provided some standard 
wording that all administrators could use to explain the current position with regard to 
the age discrimination court case. 
 

12. It was agreed that the 2020 ABS’ would provide the same information as provided 
last year, based on current legislation and pension arrangements, this is also likely to 
be the position for 2021. 

 
RAISING TAX AWARENESS THROUGH JOB ADVERTS (BULLETIN 34 & 35) 
 
13. Thresholds for the Annual and Lifetime Allowances have decreased, and there is an 

increased likelihood of members breaching tax limits by accepting a promotion or 
change of position which attracts pensionable allowances. 

 
14. The LGA have recommended some suggested wording for FRAs to use in job adverts 

as contained in Appendix 5. 
 

15. This information is being shared with the council’s HR team for consideration in future 
job adverts. It is also being used within Hampshire FRA for their recruitment. 

 
PENSIONS DASHBOARD (BULLETIN 34) 
 
16. The Pensions Schemes Bill, which is expected to be taken through the House of 

Commons later this year, provides legislation to support the creation of Pension 
Dashboards. 
 

17.  One of the aims of the dashboard is to provide one central place for all pension 
arrangements that someone has. This is primarily being aimed at Money purchase / 
defined contribution schemes, but the plan will no doubt be to eventually include 

Page 12



defined benefit schemes information, including those from Public Sector pension 
schemes. 
 

18. A new website for the Pensions Dashboards programme has been launched - 
www.pensionsdashboardsprogramme.org.uk/. 

 
TEMPLATE ADMINISTRATION STRATEGY (BULLETIN 34 & 35) 
 
19. The SAB issued a consultation on a proposed template for a pension administration 

strategy. No response was submitted to this consultation by either Hampshire of Isle 
of Wight. 
 

20. Isle of Wight Council, as administering authority for the Isle of Wight Council Pension 
Fund (Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS)) has an administration strategy 
which sets out the standards of operation for both the employers within the LGPS 
and the administration team.  

 
21. This strategy is equally applicable to the Fire Pension Schemes, and covers the 

relevant content in the proposed template. 
 
 
EQUALISATION OF MALE SURVIVOR BENEFITS (BULLETIN 35) 
 
22. The Chief Secretary to the Treasury made a written statement on public service 

pensions: Survivor benefits for opposite-sex widowers and surviving male civil 
partners. The statement can be found in Appendix 9. 
 

23. In an Employment Tribunal case (Goodwin) for the Teachers’ Pension Scheme, it was 
found that male survivors of female scheme members remain entitled to a lower 
survivor benefit than a comparable same-sex survivor. The Government is therefore 
intending to remedy this across other public sector schemes where the husband or 
male civil partner of a female scheme member are in a similar situation. 

 
24. This could only affect the 1992 Fire Pension Scheme as we are talking about 

membership prior to April 1988. However, the 1992 Fire Pension Scheme legislation 
does not differentiate between a male or female survivor and therefore the benefits 
are already equalised and LGA do not consider that any amendments to Fire Pension 
Schemes will be required. 

 
McCLOUD / SARGEANT REMEDY (BULLETIN 35 & 36) 
 
25. The LGA have provided details in these bulletins of both the consultation and also 

the immediate detriment guidance. Both of these are covered in detail in a separate 
agenda item for this meeting. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
26. The Board is asked to note the contents of this report. 

 
 

Page 13

file://iow.gov.uk/corpdfs1/Central%20Finance/(A)%20Corp,%20Central%20&%20Tech%20Finance/Pension%20Fund%20Accounts/Investment%20Committee/2020-21/201028/www.pensionsdashboardsprogramme.org.uk/


APPENDICES ATTACHED 
 
27. Appendix 1 – FPS bulletin 30 March 2020 
28. Appendix 2 – FPS Bulletin 31 April 2020 Interim 
29. Appendix 3 – FPS Bulletin 32 April 2020  
30. Appendix 4 – FPS Bulletin 33 May 2020  
31. Appendix 5 – FPS Bulletin 34 June 2020  
32. Appendix 6 – FPS Bulletin 35 July 2020  
33. Appendix 7 – FPS Bulletin 36 August 2020 
34. Appendix 8 – 2015 FPS Added Pension factsheet 
35. Appendix 9 – Written Statement HCWS397 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
36. LGA Fire Pensions website 

http://www.fpsregs.org/ 
 

37. Isle of Wight Council Pension Fund Administration Strategy 
https://isleofwightpensionfund.org/media/4314/pension-fund-lgps-administration-
strategy-2018.pdf  

 
38. Hampshire HFRA Fire Pension Board meeting 15 July 2020 

https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=196&MId=6614  
 

39. Hampshire HFRA Fire Pension Board meeting 8 October 2020 
https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=196&MId=6615  

 
 
Contact Point: Jo Thistlewood, Technical Finance Manager,  821000  
e-mail jo.thistlewood@iow.gov.uk 
 

 

Page 14

http://www.fpsregs.org/
https://isleofwightpensionfund.org/media/4314/pension-fund-lgps-administration-strategy-2018.pdf
https://isleofwightpensionfund.org/media/4314/pension-fund-lgps-administration-strategy-2018.pdf
https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=196&MId=6614
https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=196&MId=6615


FPS Bulletin 30 – March 2020 

Welcome to issue 30 of the Firefighters’ Pensions Schemes bulletin. 

We hope this bulletin finds you safe and well.  We understand that the current 

restrictions on movement due to the Coronavirus pandemic will lead to some 

challenging times.  To enable us to communicate with you quickly, we have a 

dedicated COVID-19 webpage, which contains important information, please check 

this page regularly.  We have suspended all meetings, training and travelling with 

immediate effect for the foreseeable future but remain available at home by mobile, 

email or video (MS Teams or Skype for Business). 

If you are looking for information on a certain topic, issue and content indexes are 

held on the main bulletin page of the website and are updated following each new 

issue. 

If you have any comments on this bulletin or suggested items for future issues, 

please email claire.hey@local.gov.uk  

Contents 

Calendar of events 

FPS 

• COVID-19 online survey: action needed
• Update on transitional protections remedy (Sargeant)
• FPS contribution rates 2020-21
• FPS annual update 2020
• Firefighters' Pension Schemes (England) - Factor Guidance Notes
• Suspension of medical appeal boards due to COVID-19
• March query log

Page 51Page 15

Appendix 1

http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/covid-19-and-the-fps
http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/covid-19-and-the-fps
http://fpsregs.org/index.php/bulletins-and-circulars/bulletins
mailto:claire.hey@local.gov.uk


 
 

2 

Click here to return to Contents 

FPS England SAB updates 

• A fond farewell to our chair Malcolm Eastwood 

• Malcolm Eastwood signs off 

• IDRP data collection: action needed 

• Immediate event data request update 
 

Other News and Updates 
  

• Spring Budget 2020 
 

HMRC  

• HMRC newsletters/bulletins 
 

Training and events 

• LGA annual fire conference - 10-11 March 2020 Blackpool 
 

Legislation 

Useful links 

Contact details 

 

Calendar of events 

Please see below a calendar of upcoming events relevant to the Firefighters’ 

Pension Schemes.  Only those events which are hyperlinked are currently available 

to book. If you have any events you would like to be included in a future bulletin, 

please email claire.hey@local.gov.uk 

Table 1: Calendar of events 

Event  Date 

SAB Administration & Benchmarking 
committee 

6 May 2020 – TBC 

North East regional FPOG 20 May 2020 – TBC  

Eastern regional FPOG  21 May 2020 – TBC  

SAB 11 June 2020 

SAB 17 September 2020 

Firefighters’ Pensions AGM – save the 
date!  

22-23 September 2020 

SAB 10 December 2020 

 

Page 52Page 16

mailto:claire.hey@local.gov.uk


 
 

3 

Click here to return to Contents 

FPS 

COVID-19 online survey: action needed 

On 25 March 2020 an email was sent to administrators and scheme managers to 
seek information on working arrangements and concerns with regards to COVID-19.  
Please ensure this online survey has been completed on behalf of your Fire and 
Rescue Authority (FRA). 

 

Update on transitional protections remedy (Sargeant) 
The Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) are close to submitting their response to HM 

Treasury’s (HMT) informal proposals to address long-term remedy in the Firefighters’ 

Pension Schemes. All public service Boards have been asked for their views on the 

proposals to inform government thinking ahead of a full formal consultation in late 

spring/ early summer.  

Under the proposals, members will revert to their original final salary scheme from 1 

April 2015 to a future date, when discriminatory provisions are removed from the 

schemes. This will be known as the remedy period.  

As indicated by the interim order made in December 2019, which stated that 

claimants are “entitled to be treated” as a member of their former final salary 

scheme, there will be an element of choice afforded to individuals as to whether they 

wish to receive final salary or CARE benefits for the remedy period, depending on 

what would be more beneficial to their circumstances. The HMT proposals centred 

around when this choice would be made. 

While the mechanics of implementing these changes and arrangements for the post-

remedy period are not yet clear, the SAB, in consultation with a working group of 

representative stakeholders from the Fire sector, have developed a considered and 

comprehensive response to the proposals to outline the practicality and feasibility of 

delivering remedy and particular implications for the unique FPS workforce. 

On 25 March the Economic Secretary to the Treasury, John Glen, made written 

statement - HCWS187 regarding progress toward remedy in public service pension 

schemes following the McCloud/Sargeant age discrimination case. The statement 

confirms that no qualifying scheme member will need to make a claim for the 

remedy to apply to them. 
 

FPS contribution rates 2020-21 
Banded contribution rates were introduced to the Firefighters’ Pension Scheme 1992 

and the Firefighters’ Pension Scheme (England) 2006 by Statutory Instruments 

2012/953 and 2012/954 respectively.  

  

Page 53Page 17

http://www.fpsregs.org/images/COVID-19/Administrator-and-scheme-manager-email-25-March-2020.pdf
https://www.surveymonkey.co.uk/r/G5WB935
https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2020-03-25/HCWS187/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2020-03-25/HCWS187/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/953/article/4/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/954/article/4/made


 
 

4 

Click here to return to Contents 

These rates have subsequently been amended each year by an amendment order to 

the schemes. The most recent amendments1 , which came into force on 1 April 2015, 

listed the rates applicable from 2015-16 to 2018-19, including contribution rates for 

Special Members of the Firefighters’ Pension Scheme (England) 2006.  

The Firefighters’ Pension Scheme 2015 was introduced on 1 April 2015 by SI 

2014/2848. Regulation 110 set out details rates applicable from 2015-16 to 2018-19. 

For 2019-20, FRAs were instructed that the 2018-19 rates would continue to apply, 

due to the pause of the cost-cap mechanism. These rates will continue to apply for 

2020-21. The contribution rate factsheet reminds FRAs of the contribution rates 

set out in the above Regulations and Orders which will apply from 1 April 2020. 

 

FPS annual update 2020 
Relevant thresholds and rate changes for 2020 are available in the FPS annual 

update 2020. 

All relevant legislation can be viewed on our website under annual update Statutory 

Instruments. 

 

Firefighters' Pension Schemes (England) - Factor Guidance Notes 
HM Treasury reduced the SCAPE discount rate from 2.8% to 2.4%pa above CPI 

from 29 October 2018. As a result of the change, the Government Actuary’s 

Department (GAD) undertook a factor review for the Firefighters’ Pension Schemes. 

Guidance notes covering divorce, pension credits and debits for the 1992 and 2006 

schemes to accompany actuarial factors previously issued to FRAs during 2018 -

2019 are included below. 

• FPS 1992 Pensioner cash equivalents on divorce, pension credits and 

pension debits - factors and guidance  

• FPS 2006 Pensioner cash equivalents on divorce, pension credits and 

pension debits - factors and guidance 

All factor tables and guidance notes can be found on our dedicated GAD guidance 

webpage.  

In line with best practice and in order to make sure that factors are being used as 

intended and the instructions are fit for purpose, we suggest that some example 

calculations are sent to GAD for review. 

 

  

                                                           
1 SI 2015/579, SI 2015/590 

Page 54Page 18

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/2848/regulation/110/made
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Legal/Annual-updates/FPS-contribution-rates-2020-21.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Legal/Annual-updates/FPS-annual-update-2020.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Legal/Annual-updates/FPS-annual-update-2020.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/legal-landscape/annual-update-sis
http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/legal-landscape/annual-update-sis
http://www.fpsboard.org/images/PDF/Bulletin13/Appendix1.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/GAD/Div/Fire-England-1992-divorce-guidance-060320.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/GAD/Div/Fire-England-1992-divorce-guidance-060320.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/GAD/Div/Fire-England-2006-divorce-guidance-060320.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/GAD/Div/Fire-England-2006-divorce-guidance-060320.pdf
http://fpsregs.org/index.php/gad-guidance
http://fpsregs.org/index.php/gad-guidance
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/579/article/2/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/590/schedule/2/made


 
 

5 

Click here to return to Contents 

Suspension of medical appeal boards due to coronavirus (COVID-19) 

As readers will be aware, under FPS 1992 – Rule H2, FPS 2006 - Part 8, paragraph 

2, FPS 2015 - Part 12, Chapter 2 and Part 6, Paragraph 2 of the compensation 

scheme, a medical decision can be appealed.  The secretary of state delegated 

responsibility for managing the appeal process in FPSC 9/2010 and the current 

contract is with Duradiamond Health Ltd.   

Unfortunately, due to complexities arising from COVID-19, Duradiamond have 

announced below that this service will be suspended for three months.  This will 

have the effect of suspending all processes in the medical appeal, and we 

appreciate this will be disappointing to members and FRAs currently in an appeals 

process or about to begin one, however as we are sure you are aware the COVID-19 

crisis is unprecedented, and this delay is unavoidable. 

FRAs should address any concerns or queries about the suspension to 

Philip.Perry@homeoffice.gov.uk.  

 

National Framework Agreement for the Supply of Police & Fire Medical Appeal Board 

Services 

Framework Ref. No: C15285 

COVID-19 

Due to the current COVID-19 situation, we are following Govt guidance regarding self-

isolation, limiting social contact and travelling in London.  

 Duradiamond Healthcare has asked the Home Office under Clause 10.8 of the National 

Framework Agreement, that the Supply of Police & Fire Medical Appeal Board Services is 

suspended for an initial period of 3 months (to 20th June 2020) with a review at the end of 

that time (and within the 4 months allocation under 10.8.1.).  The Home Office has 

confirmed that they agree with this approach. 

 We very much enjoy working with both the Police and Fire Authorities and the decision to 

suspend the service has not been taken lightly.  We look forward to resuming the service as 

soon as the situation settles. 

Best wishes, 
  
Carole Scott 
Client Relationship Manager 

 

March query log 
The current log of queries and responses is available on the FPS Regulations and 

Guidance website. The queries have been anonymised and divided into topics. The 

log will be updated on a monthly basis in line with the bulletin release dates.  

There have been no new items added since January.  

  

Page 55Page 19

http://www.fpsregs.org/images/FPSC/9-2010.pdf
mailto:Philip.Perry@homeoffice.gov.uk
http://fpsregs.org/images/admin/Technical-query-log-290120.pdf


 
 

6 

Click here to return to Contents 

FPS England SAB updates 

A fond farewell to our chair, Malcolm Eastwood 
Sadly, the time has come to say goodbye to Malcolm Eastwood who is retiring from 

his role as chair of the FPS England SAB.  We would like to take this opportunity to 

thank Malcolm for his time, energy and passion, and to wish him a happy retirement 

with his wife Sylvia.  Malcolm has said goodbye to you in his own words below. 

 

Malcolm Eastwood signs off  
“Dear Friends & Colleagues, 

As per that well known, tear jerking song, it is now, "Time To Say Goodbye", as I 

reluctantly 'sign off' from my role as Chairman of the Firefighters' Pension Scheme 

Advisory Board. 

I am conscious I do so at a time when we as a nation are facing the biggest 

disruption ever seen to society globally since the last World War and I wish you and 

your families well at this difficult and challenging time for us all.  

Many of you hold key positions within 'Fire Pensions' and, in spite of this situation, 

Scheme Members will still be retiring, have queries, become ill, and unfortunately, 

some will die, all of which will require your ongoing support and assistance to provide 

a 'business as usual' service…” 

Read Malcolm’s message in full at Appendix 1.  

 

IDRP data collection: action needed 
As detailed in FPS Bulletin 28 – January 2020, the SAB have agreed that data on 

Internal Dispute Resolution Procedure (IDRP) should be collected on an annual 

basis, in line with the scheme year, to collect numbers of cases and any emerging 

themes.  

We request that FRAs complete the spreadsheet at Appendix 2 and return this 

to bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk by 30 April 2020. 

An IDRP can be raised by a member of the Firefighters’ Pension Scheme if they feel 

that the scheme manager has made a decision under the scheme incorrectly.  Each 

Fire and Rescue Authority (FRA) should have in place a process which determines 

how an IDRP will be managed. 

A full list of discretions and determinations made by the scheme manager can be 

found under the ‘Guides and Sample Documents’ tab, within the ‘Administration 

Resources’ tab of www.fpsregs.org  

  

Page 56Page 20

http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Bulletins/Bulletin-30-March-2020/Bulletin-30-appendix-1-Malcolm-Eastwood-signs-off.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Bulletins/Bulletin-28-January-2020/Bulletin-28.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Bulletins/Bulletin-30-March-2020/Bulletin-30-appendix-2-IDRP-data-collection-March-2020.xlsx
mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/admin/AllSMdiscretionsv2.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/


 
 

7 

Click here to return to Contents 

If the disagreement involves an issue of a medical nature2, then an IDRP is not 

appropriate and the correct route is a medical appeal.  However, it should be noted 

that in certain situations it may be possible that medical disputes could end up with 

both a medical appeals dispute process and an IDRP where the processes that 

should have been in place to deal with the medical issue have not been 

appropriately managed. 

FPS Bulletins 13 and 143 commented on the duty of FRAs to ‘not act blindly’ on 

receipt of an IQMP opinion.  The responsibility of the decision maker (the authority) 

is to not act blindly in accepting a medical opinion and should ensure the IQMP 

reaches their opinion in a proper manner.  Various case law was cited in the 

bulletins. 

The wording of the regulations across the schemes is identical and states that where 

a member disagrees with a scheme manager’s determination, they can within 28 

days of the determination require the scheme manager to conduct an IDRP.  

The guidance in FPSC 1/20094 put in place a two stage process: stage one should 

be considered by the Chief Fire Officer (CFO) or a senior manager specified by the 

CFO, stage two should be considered by the elected members of the FRA. 

The guidance also set out timescales for the authority to deal with the complaint 

which could have the effect of the total process taking 16 months to complete. 

The SAB received a number of queries regarding the potentially lengthy process and 

whether two stages were necessary, and / or whether the elected members of the 

FRA were the appropriate body to review the second stage owing to a lack of 

technical knowledge of the scheme. 

At their meeting on 20 June 2018 [Paper 3]5, the SAB considered retaining a two 

stage process or moving to a one stage process and decided to retain the two stage 

process, albeit they agreed that a review should be made of which roles would be 

appropriate to be involved and whether the time limit should be lowered6.  The Board 

also agreed that further training should be provided to FRAs if needed. 

The decision maker at each stage and timescales was further considered by the 

SAB at their meeting on 13 June 2019 [Paper 2]7.  

The Board are currently reviewing informal guidance which updates the 2009 FPSC 

circular in respect of who each stage of the appeal should be heard by, and the 

relevant timescales for each stage. A workshop on IDRPs is planned for the Fire 

Pensions Annual Conference 2020. 

                                                           
2 See Ill-Health and Injury Pension Quick Guide - http://www.fpsregs.org/images/admin/Illhealth.pdf  
3 http://www.fpsboard.org/images/PDF/Bulletin13/Bulletin13.pdf and 
http://www.fpsboard.org/images/PDF/Bulletin14/Bulletin14.pdf  
4 http://fpsregs.org/images/FPSC/1-2009.pdf 
5 http://www.fpsboard.org/images/PDF/Meetings/20062018/ITEM12-200618v2.pdf 
6 http://www.fpsboard.org/images/PDF/Meetings/20062018/Minutes200618.pdf [Item 12] 
7 http://www.fpsboard.org/images/PDF/Meetings/13062019/ITEM9-130619.pdf 

Page 57Page 21

http://www.fpsregs.org/images/FPSC/1-2009.pdf
http://www.fpsboard.org/images/PDF/Meetings/20062018/ITEM12-200618v2.pdf
http://www.fpsboard.org/images/PDF/Meetings/13062019/ITEM9-130619.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/admin/Illhealth.pdf
http://www.fpsboard.org/images/PDF/Bulletin13/Bulletin13.pdf
http://www.fpsboard.org/images/PDF/Bulletin14/Bulletin14.pdf
http://fpsregs.org/images/FPSC/1-2009.pdf
http://www.fpsboard.org/images/PDF/Meetings/20062018/ITEM12-200618v2.pdf
http://www.fpsboard.org/images/PDF/Meetings/20062018/Minutes200618.pdf
http://www.fpsboard.org/images/PDF/Meetings/13062019/ITEM9-130619.pdf


 
 

8 

Click here to return to Contents 

Immediate event data request update 
In FPS Bulletin 28 - January 2020 we asked FRAs to return data on immediate 

events for the year 2020; the deadline was extended to 16 March in FPS Bulletin 29 

- February 2020. 

Unfortunately to date, only 28 of the 45 English FRAs have responded to this 
request, representing a 62% response rate.  
 
The total information gathered so far is shown in the table below, we are still 
gathering this data so please make your return as soon as possible. Completed 
spreadsheets should be returned to bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk.  
 
Table 2: Data on immediate FPS events 

 Claimants Non-Claimants Totals 

Ill-Health Retirements 

No ill-health in payment 
because FPS 2015 lower tier 
criteria not met. 

5 25 30 

Lower Tier in Payment only 
(Higher tier criteria not met) 

17 53 70 

Higher tier in payment 10 17 27 

Immediate retirement  
Those who meet 50+ with >25 years’s service between 1 January 2020 and 
31 December 2020 in all schemes 

 27 1665 1692 

Tapered  
Due to Taper between 01 January 2020 and 31 December 2020 

 9 484 493 

Totals 68 2244 2312 

 

Other News and Updates 

Spring Budget 2020 

The Chancellor Rishi Sunak delivered his first Budget on 11 March 2020 and 

announced the new Lifetime Allowance limit and changes to the tapered annual 

allowance that will take effect from 6 April 2020.  

Lifetime Allowance will increase to £1,073,100 from 6 April 2020.  

Annual allowance taper provisions to change from 6 April 2020. Threshold income 

and Adjusted income will both increase by £90,000, but the minimum tapered annual 

allowance will drop to £4,000. From 6 April 2020: 

Threshold income: £200,000 

Adjusted income: £240,000 

Minimum reduced annual allowance: £4,000. 

Page 58Page 22

http://fpsregs.org/images/Bulletins/Bulletin-28-January-2020/Bulletin-28.pdf
http://fpsregs.org/images/Bulletins/Bulletin-28-January-2020/Bulletin-28-Appendix-1.xlsx
http://fpsregs.org/images/Bulletins/Bulletin-28-January-2020/Bulletin-28-Appendix-1.xlsx
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Bulletins/Bulletin-29-February-2020/Bulletin-29.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Bulletins/Bulletin-29-February-2020/Bulletin-29.pdf
mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk


 
 

9 

Click here to return to Contents 

A update from HMRC on these changes can be found in Pension schemes 
newsletter 118 – 26 March 2020. 
 
The Chancellor did not announce any changes to the operation of pension tax relief. 

An individual who earns less than the personal allowance benefits from tax relief if 

they pay into a relief at source arrangement, but they do not if they pay into a net pay 

arrangement. The Government will be publishing a call for evidence on pension tax 

relief shortly. 

You can find more detail in the Budget 2020 document online.  

 

HMRC 

HMRC newsletters/bulletins 
HMRC has published pension schemes newsletters 117 and 118 containing 
important updates and guidance on pension schemes. The following issues are 
covered: 
 
Pension schemes newsletter 117 – 28 February 2020:  

• Relief at source  
• Guidance from The Pensions Regulator on Pension Scams  

• Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) Equalisation Newsletter - February 
2020 

 
Pension schemes newsletter 118 – 26 March 2020 

• Spring Budget 2020  

• Temporary changes to pension processes as a result of coronavirus (COVID-
19) Annual allowance calculator  

• Relief at source  

• The Managing Pension Schemes service  

• GOV.UK updates  

• Pension scheme administration - moving pension recipients from one payroll 
to another 

• The Pension Schemes Online service 

 

Training and events 

LGA annual fire conference – 10-11 March 2020 Blackpool 
Prior to lockdown, the Bluelight team had opportunity to attend the LGA annual fire 

conference and exhibition in Blackpool.  The event is well attended by those 

responsible for managing Fire and Rescue Services and their budgets, along with 

elected members of Fire Authorities, and so provides an excellent opportunity for 

networking and improving our knowledge of the wider issues affecting Services 

across the country. We were also able to catch up with several of our SAB employer 

representative members, many of whom sit on the Fire Services Management 

Committee (FSMC). 
 

Page 59Page 23

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pension-schemes-newsletter-118-march-2020/pension-schemes-newsletter-118-march-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pension-schemes-newsletter-118-march-2020/pension-schemes-newsletter-118-march-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/budget-2020-documents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pension-schemes-newsletter-117-february-2020/pension-schemes-newsletter-117-february-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pension-schemes-newsletter-118-march-2020/pension-schemes-newsletter-118-march-2020


 
 

10 

Click here to return to Contents 

          
 

There were thought-provoking keynote sessions on the climate emergency; finance 

and funding; risk, standards, and protection; and building safety, as well as a varied 

selection of workshops. Clair Alcock delivered a lunchtime fringe session to update 

delegates on changes to the Firefighters’ Pension Schemes.  

 

 
 

The complete slide decks from the conference are now available on the LGA Events 

webpage: LGA annual fire conference 10-11 March 2020    

 

Legislation  

SI  Reference title 

2020/193 The Social Security Revaluation of Earnings Factors Order 2020 

 

2020/230 The Public Service Pensions Revaluation Order 2020 

 

2020/235 The Guaranteed Minimum Pensions Increase Order 2020 

 

2020/290 The Pensions Increase (Review) Order 2020 

 

2020/299 The Social Security (Contributions) (Rates, Limits and Thresholds 

Amendments and National Insurance Funds Payments) Regulations 

2020 

Page 60Page 24

https://www.local.gov.uk/annual-fire-conference-10-11-march-2020
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/193/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/230/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/235/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/290/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/299/contents/made


 
 

11 

Click here to return to Contents 

 

2020/342 The Finance Act 2004 (Standard Lifetime Allowance) Regulations 2020 

 

2020/354 The Parental Bereavement Leave and Pay (Consequential 

Amendments to Subordinate Legislation) Regulations 2020 

 

The above legislation amends the regulations of the Firefighters’ Pension Schemes 

from 6 April 2020 to allow any period of parental bereavement leave to be counted 

as reckonable pensionable service and pay. 

 

FPS 1992 amendments 

FPS 2006 amendments 

FPS 2015 amendments 

 

Useful links 

• The Firefighters’ Pensions (England) Scheme Advisory Board   
• FPS Regulations and Guidance  
• Khub Firefighters Pensions Discussion Forum  
• FPS1992 guidance and commentary  
• The Pensions Regulator Public Service Schemes   
• The Pensions Ombudsman  
• HMRC Pensions Tax Manual  
• LGA pensions website 

 
 

Contact details  

Clair Alcock (Senior Pension Adviser) 
Telephone: 020 7664 3189 
Email: clair.alcock@local.gov.uk   
 
Kevin Courtney (NPCC Pensions Adviser) 
Telephone: 020 7664 3202 
Email: kevin.courtney@local.gov.uk  
 
Claire Hey (Firefighters’ Pension Adviser) 
Telephone: 020 7664 3205 
Email: claire.hey@local.gov.uk  
 

Copyright 

Copyright remains with Local Government Association (LGA). This bulletin may be 

reproduced without the prior permission of LGA provided it is not used for commercial 

gain, the source is acknowledged and, if regulations are reproduced, the Crown 

Copyright Policy Guidance issued by HMSO is adhered to. 

Page 61Page 25

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/342/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/354/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/354/regulation/6/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/354/regulation/16/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/354/regulation/35/made
http://www.fpsboard.org/
http://www.fpsregs.org/
https://khub.net/group/thefirefighterspensionsdiscussionforum
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120919152859tf_/http:/www.communities.gov.uk/fire/firerescueservice/firefighterpensions/firefighterspensionscheme/
http://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/public-service-schemes.aspx
https://www.pensions-ombudsman.org.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/hmrc-internal-manuals/pensions-tax-manual
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/workforce-and-hr-support/local-government-pensions
mailto:clair.alcock@local.gov.uk
mailto:kevin.courtney@local.gov.uk
mailto:claire.hey@local.gov.uk


 
 

12 

Click here to return to Contents 

Disclaimer 

The information contained in this bulletin has been prepared by the Bluelight Pensions 

team, part of the Local Government Association (LGA). It represents the views of the 

team and should not be treated as a complete and authoritative statement of the law. 

Readers may wish, or will need, to take their own legal advice on the interpretation of 

legislation. No responsibility whatsoever will be assumed by the LGA for any direct or 

consequential loss, financial or otherwise, damage or inconvenience, or any other 

obligation or liability incurred by readers relying on information contained in this 

bulletin.  

While every attempt is made to ensure the accuracy of the bulletin, it would be helpful 

if readers could bring any perceived errors or omissions to the attention of the Bluelight 

team by emailing bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk. 

Page 62Page 26

mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk


FPS Bulletin 31 – April 2020 – interim bulletin 

Welcome to issue 31 of the Firefighters’ Pensions Schemes bulletin. 

We hope that readers remain safe and well. This short interim bulletin has been 

issued to address errors and omissions from previous publications.  

The Coronavirus pandemic continues to raise queries and concerns for scheme 

employers and members. Our dedicated COVID-19 webpage is being updated 

frequently, so please check in on a regular basis.   

All meetings, training and travelling remain suspended for the foreseeable future but 

the Bluelight team are available at home by mobile, email or video (MS Teams or 

Skype for Business). 

If you are looking for information on a certain topic, issue and content indexes are 

held on the main bulletin page of the website and are updated following each new 

issue. 

If you have any comments on this bulletin or suggested items for future issues, 

please email claire.hey@local.gov.uk  

Contents 

Calendar of events 

FPS 

• Top Up grant 2020: Collection of pensions accounting data
• FPS (England) - Factor Guidance Notes updated
• FPS annual update 2020

FPS England SAB updates 

• IDRP data collection: action needed

Page 63Page 27

Appendix 2

http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/covid-19-and-the-fps
http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/covid-19-and-the-fps
http://fpsregs.org/index.php/bulletins-and-circulars/bulletins
mailto:claire.hey@local.gov.uk


 
 

2 

Click here to return to Contents 

Useful links 

Contact details 

 

Calendar of events 

Please see below a calendar of upcoming events relevant to the Firefighters’ 

Pension Schemes.  Only those events which are hyperlinked are currently available 

to book. If you have any events you would like to be included in a future bulletin, 

please email claire.hey@local.gov.uk 

Table 1: Calendar of events 

Event  Date 

SAB Administration & Benchmarking 
committee 

6 May 2020 – TBC 

North East regional FPOG 20 May 2020 – TBC  

Eastern regional FPOG  21 May 2020 – TBC  

SAB 11 June 2020 

SAB 17 September 2020 

Firefighters’ Pensions AGM – save the 
date!  

22-23 September 2020 

SAB 10 December 2020 

 

FPS 

Top Up grant 2020: Collection of pensions accounting data 
On 23 March 2020, the Home Office sent an email to Claim Certifiers and Claim 

Administrators) to provide advance notification that in mid-April they will be formally 

commissioning FRAs to submit their audited 2018/19 and unaudited 2019/20 

pensions income and expenditure data.  

Please note that the DELTA online data collection system will be used to collect 

these returns. 

You will be aware that the Home Office now undertake additional  internal checks on 

any financial data submitted. The additional internal checks involve an in-depth and 

formal check on the audited and unaudited pension income/expenditure data 

submitted by FRAs. 

  

Page 64Page 28

mailto:claire.hey@local.gov.uk


 
 

3 

Click here to return to Contents 

As part of this additional check all FRAs will be asked to provide the following 

information: 

1) electronic copies of the trial balances from their audited accounts where the 

pensions income/expenditure data was extracted; 

2) any post balance sheet adjustment events (showing audit adjustments); and 

3) explicit confirmation from the Chief Finance Officer/Finance Director (as 

appropriate) of each FRA that they are content that their claim is correct and 

is in line with the relevant firefighter pension scheme regulations. 

The deadline for completing the returns will be Friday 15 May, which should allow 

enough time for the claims to be scrutinised and approved. 

It is important to note that the Department will only be able to make Top Up grant 

payments on any claims that it can validate as being correct and, as such, failure to 

provide the requested information, or the submission of incomplete information, will 

delay any grant payments due in July. As such, it is critical that the accounting data 

submitted on each FRA’s claim form reconciles with trial balances etc. that are 

submitted as supporting evidence. 

 

FPS (England) - Factor Guidance Notes updated 
GAD have provided an updated version of the FPS 1992 Tax charge debits 

guidance, dated 7 April 2020.  

Please note the following changes: 

• For the Adjusted pension debit = AAPD x PI x RTFret applies to retirements 
before age 60 
 

• Both the RTFret and RTFimp factors should use the factors in force at the 
relevant retirement date. The rationale is the numerator and denominator 
should be consistent and therefore the factors should be selected at a 
consistent date for both. It is best practice to use the factors currently in force.  
In addition, using factors at retirement date is preferable because holding the 
current table only will suffice, whereas using factors from the implementation 
date would require you to retain and use factors for various prior periods. 
 

All factor tables and guidance notes can be found on our dedicated GAD guidance 

webpage.  

In line with best practice and in order to make sure that factors are being used as 

intended and the instructions are fit for purpose, we suggest that some example 

calculations are sent to GAD for review. 

 

FPS annual update 2020 

FPS bulletin 30 – March 2020 included relevant thresholds and rate changes for 

2020 in the FPS annual update.  

Page 65Page 29

http://www.fpsregs.org/images/GAD/Tax/Fire-England-1992-tax-charge-guidance-070420.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/GAD/Tax/Fire-England-1992-tax-charge-guidance-070420.pdf
http://fpsregs.org/index.php/gad-guidance
http://fpsregs.org/index.php/gad-guidance
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Bulletins/Bulletin-30-March-2020/Bulletin-30.pdf


 
 

4 

Click here to return to Contents 

The Automatic Enrolment (Earnings Trigger and Qualifying Earnings Band) Order 

2020 [SI2020/372] has since been laid. We have updated the FPS annual update 

2020 to include details of this Order. 

 

All relevant legislation can be viewed on our website under annual update Statutory 

Instruments. 

 

FPS England SAB updates 

IDRP data collection: action needed 
Following the request for IDRP data in FPS Bulletin 30 – March 2020, we thought it 

would be useful to provide clarification on the requirements of the spreadsheet. 

Thank you to those who have already provided a response. 

 

FRAs should complete the number of Stage 1 and Stage 2 complaints received 

against the categories listed within the scheme year. Categories can be added to the 

list as required. 

The columns ask FRAs to differentiate between cases that are upheld and 

overturned. The complaint is always raised by the member, so if the complaint is 

upheld, it means that the decision maker agreed with the complainant.  If it is 

overturned it means that the decision maker did not agree. 

The final piece of information required is the decision maker(s) at each stage.  

We request that FRAs complete the spreadsheet at Appendix 1 and return this 

to bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk by 30 April 2020. 

  

Page 66Page 30

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/372/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/372/contents/made
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Legal/Annual-updates/FPS-annual-update-2020.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Legal/Annual-updates/FPS-annual-update-2020.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/legal-landscape/annual-update-sis
http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/legal-landscape/annual-update-sis
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Bulletins/Bulletin-30-March-2020/Bulletin-30.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Bulletins/Bulletin-31-April-2020-interim-bulletin/Bulletin-31-appendix-1-IDRP-data-collection-March-2020.xlsx
mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk


 
 

5 

Click here to return to Contents 

Useful links 

• COVID-19 and the FPS 
• The Firefighters’ Pensions (England) Scheme Advisory Board   
• FPS Regulations and Guidance  
• Khub Firefighters Pensions Discussion Forum  
• FPS1992 guidance and commentary  
• The Pensions Regulator Public Service Schemes   
• The Pensions Ombudsman  
• HMRC Pensions Tax Manual  
• LGA pensions website 

 
 

Contact details  

Clair Alcock (Senior Pension Adviser) 
Telephone: 020 7664 3189 
Email: clair.alcock@local.gov.uk   
 
Kevin Courtney (NPCC Pensions Adviser) 
Telephone: 020 7664 3202 
Email: kevin.courtney@local.gov.uk  
 
Claire Hey (Firefighters’ Pension Adviser) 
Telephone: 020 7664 3205 
Email: claire.hey@local.gov.uk  
 

Copyright 

Copyright remains with Local Government Association (LGA). This bulletin may be 

reproduced without the prior permission of LGA provided it is not used for commercial 

gain, the source is acknowledged and, if regulations are reproduced, the Crown 

Copyright Policy Guidance issued by HMSO is adhered to. 

Disclaimer 

The information contained in this bulletin has been prepared by the Bluelight Pensions 

team, part of the Local Government Association (LGA). It represents the views of the 

team and should not be treated as a complete and authoritative statement of the law. 

Readers may wish, or will need, to take their own legal advice on the interpretation of 

legislation. No responsibility whatsoever will be assumed by the LGA for any direct or 

consequential loss, financial or otherwise, damage or inconvenience, or any other 

obligation or liability incurred by readers relying on information contained in this 

bulletin.  

While every attempt is made to ensure the accuracy of the bulletin, it would be helpful 

if readers could bring any perceived errors or omissions to the attention of the Bluelight 

team by emailing bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk. 

Page 67Page 31

http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/covid-19-and-the-fps
http://www.fpsboard.org/
http://www.fpsregs.org/
https://khub.net/group/thefirefighterspensionsdiscussionforum
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120919152859tf_/http:/www.communities.gov.uk/fire/firerescueservice/firefighterpensions/firefighterspensionscheme/
http://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/public-service-schemes.aspx
https://www.pensions-ombudsman.org.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/hmrc-internal-manuals/pensions-tax-manual
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/workforce-and-hr-support/local-government-pensions
mailto:clair.alcock@local.gov.uk
mailto:kevin.courtney@local.gov.uk
mailto:claire.hey@local.gov.uk
mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



FPS Bulletin 32 – April 2020 

Welcome to issue 32 of the Firefighters’ Pensions Schemes bulletin. 

We hope that readers remain safe and well.  

The Coronavirus pandemic continues to raise queries and concerns for scheme 
employers and members. Our dedicated COVID-19 webpage is being updated 
frequently, so please check in on a regular basis.  

All meetings, training and travelling remain suspended for the foreseeable future but 
the Bluelight team are available at home by mobile, email or video (MS Teams or 
Skype for Business).  

If you are looking for information on a certain topic, issue and content indexes are 
held on the main bulletin page of the website and are updated following each new 
issue. 

If you have any comments on this bulletin or suggested items for future issues, 
please email claire.hey@local.gov.uk.  

Page 68Page 33

Appendix 3

http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/covid-19-and-the-fps
http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/covid-19-and-the-fps
http://fpsregs.org/index.php/bulletins-and-circulars/bulletins
mailto:claire.hey@local.gov.uk


 
 
 

2 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

Contents 

Contents 2 

Calendar of events 3 

FPS 3 

Annual Benefit Statements (ABS) 2020 3 

Annual Benefit Statement 2019 survey results 5 

31 March 2020 scheme valuation timeline 5 

Top Up grant 2020: Collection of pensions accounting data – action required 6 

Ill-health retirement applications 7 

It’s good to talk…about pensions! 7 

FPS 2015 Added Pension factsheet 8 

April query log 9 

Other News and Updates 9 

Letter from James Brokenshire MP 9 

The Pensions Ombudsman (TPO) newsletter 8 9 

Pension Dashboard Programme update 9 

HMRC 10 

HMRC newsletters/bulletins 10 

Contracting-out reconciliation update 10 

Legislation 11 

Useful links 11 

Contact details 11 

Copyright 11 

Disclaimer 12 

 

  

Page 69Page 34



 
 
 

3 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

Calendar of events 

Please see below a calendar of upcoming events relevant to the Firefighters’ 
Pension Schemes.  Only those events which are hyperlinked are currently available 
to book. If you have any events you would like to be included in a future bulletin, 
please email claire.hey@local.gov.uk 

Table 1: Calendar of events 

Event  Date 

SAB Administration & Benchmarking 
committee 

6 May 2020 – TBC 

North East regional FPOG 20 May 2020 – TBC  

Eastern regional FPOG  21 May 2020 – TBC  

SAB 11 June 2020 

SAB 17 September 2020 

Firefighters’ Pensions AGM – save the 
date!  

22-23 September 2020 

SAB 10 December 2020 

FPS 

Annual Benefit Statements (ABS) 2020 
Producing annual benefit statements to meet the statutory deadline of 31 August 
2020 will no doubt create additional challenges while working remotely.  TPR have 
confirmed that they “recognise that producing ABS this year could be challenging, 
and we’ll take a pragmatic view about schemes that don’t manage it by 31 August” 
and will be “proportionate and fair when assessing whether to take any 
action”.  However, the Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) were very encouraged by the 
survey results from the Annual Benefit Statement 2019 survey which shows that the 
production of ABS by administrators and scheme managers improves significantly 
year on year.  

This year we recognise that there will be additional challenge in meeting members 
expectations on being able to communicate the outcome of the Sargeant 
case.  While the Government have accepted the Courts’ findings in the Sargeant and 
McCloud legal cases and are committed to treating claimants and non-claimants in 
the same manner, it was never going to be possible to accurately reflect the outcome 
of either the legal case or the current HMT informal consultation. This is because: 

  

Page 70Page 35

mailto:claire.hey@local.gov.uk
http://www.fpsboard.org/images/PDF/Surveys/ABS-2019-survey-research-report.pdf


 
 
 

4 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

a) the ongoing discussions on remedy is still confidential, and 

b) the software companies have confirmed that it will take at least 12 months to 
programme the software.  

Nevertheless, we understand that that some members may expect the statements to 
reflect the legal position and may be disappointed to receive a statement that does 
not reflect the outcome of the legal decision.  

We understand that some administrators have therefore been considering whether it 
would be better to remove the projections to normal pension age as they will not 
reflect Sargeant.  While we understand the different reasons for making those 
decisions, it is important that members across the country receive consistent 
information and that a central decision is made to achieve consistency.  

The SAB was asked to consider this issue and agreed that ABS should continue to 
include projections to normal retirement age (based on the current scheme 
rules only)1. 

The ABS should contain the caveat below, which Home Office have agreed with 
HMT and issued for use across all Police and Fire statements, and we have updated 
the template statement with this caveat accordingly: 

Please note that this year’s Annual Benefit Statement provides an estimate of your 
pension benefits accrued in your current scheme membership to 31/03/2020.  Any 
projections on your pension entitlement are also based on the assumption that your 
current membership will continue until your normal pension age.  

Please also note that on the 20 December 2018, the Court of Appeal ruled in 
McCloud/Sargeant that the transitional arrangements introduced as part of the 2015 
reforms to the Firefighters’ and Judges’ pension scheme were discriminatory and, 
therefore, unlawful.  The Government subsequently accepted that this ruling applied 
to all the main public service pension schemes and is currently working on removing 
this discrimination to all affected scheme members.  This work is complex and will 
take time. For further information please see the Written Ministerial Statement from 
25 March 2020: https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-
answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2020-03-25/HCWS187/   

At this stage there is still uncertainty around the final approach to removing this 
discrimination.  This means that it has not been possible to reflect the impact of the 
Court of Appeal ruling in this year’s Annual Benefit Statements.   

  

                                                           
 

1 Paper1: Annual Benefit Statements - Meeting 17 March 2020 

Page 71Page 36

https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2020-03-25/HCWS187/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2020-03-25/HCWS187/
http://www.fpsboard.org/images/PDF/Meetings/17032020/Paper-1-Item-7-2020-Annual-Benefit-Statements.pdf


 
 
 

5 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

We understand this decision may be disappointing to those who have already 
considered this issue, however it is important that members are treated consistently 
and given access to the same information.  We would urge you to review that 
decision in light of this statement.  

The ABS templates and notes have now been published and we have taken the 
opportunity to hold the annexes for the statement notes separately as per the 
decision taken by the Fire Communications Working Group (FCWG). 

We will also look to convene a meeting of the FCWG as soon as possible to agree 
how we will distribute the message to members that this year’s statements will 
continue to project based on current scheme rules. 

Annual Benefit Statement 2019 survey results 
Between 29 November 2019 and 6 January 2020, FRAs and administrators were 
invited to complete separate web-based surveys to measure the success of the ABS 
process in 2019.  

During this time 33 FRA and 36 administrator responses were received in respect of 
the 45 FRAs in England, equating to an overall response rate of 73% and 80% 
respectively. The results of the survey have now been collated and analysed, and we 
are pleased to present the final research report. 

Individual FRA submissions have been exported and can be provided to the relevant 
organisation on request. 

The survey will continue to be run on an annual basis following the end of each ABS 
cycle. 

The LPB Effectiveness Committee would like to thank all that were able to submit a 
response for their participation in the survey, and for continuing to support the work 
of the SAB. The recommendations within the report will now be taken forward with 
the support of the Committee and the SAB. 

31 March 2020 scheme valuation timeline 
The Government Actuary's Department (GAD) have provided the following statement 
on their expectations on when the valuation data will be requested, confirming that 
the expected timeline will give administrators until 31 December 2020 to complete 
the data request. 

“In order to spread the work on processing and checking the valuation data GAD 
have divided the public sector pension schemes into clusters, each of which has a 
different date when we expect the data to be returned. Both Fire England and Police 
England & Wales fall into the second cluster which has a date of 31 December 2020 
for expected delivery of data. 

  

Page 72Page 37

http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/administration-resources/guides-and-sample-documents
http://www.fpsboard.org/images/PDF/Surveys/ABS-2019-survey-research-report.pdf
http://www.fpsboard.org/index.php/board-committees/local-pension-board-effectiveness


 
 
 

6 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

We will hopefully be sending out the data collection tool and user guides in May 
which will allow administrators to see the format we expect the data to be returned in 
(very similar to prior years) which should help them plan the collection exercise. If 
the tool is delivered in May that will give administrators 7 months to prepare and 
return the data. 

Note that the release of the data tool is not an indication to administrators that we 
need it completed and returned immediately and we will communicate the 
timeframes when we provide the tool. However, given current circumstances it may 
be reassuring for the Home Office to communicate to administrators the 31 
December deadline which may help to relieve some worries they currently have. 

We are continuing to monitor the situation surrounding COVID-19 and work required 
during and after the lockdown period and will update timelines if it becomes 
necessary.” 

Top Up grant 2020: Collection of pensions accounting data – action 
required 
On 8 April 2020, the Home Office sent an email to Claim Certifiers (and Claim 
Administrators) to advise that FRAs should now all be working towards submitting 
audited 2018/19 and unaudited 2019/20 pensions income/expenditure data as part 
of this year’s top up grant claim.  To reiterate, this year’s pension accounting data 
will need to be submitted on the DELTA online data collection system. Notification 
will be sent via DELTA when the forms go live. 

ACTION: In addition to the pensions income/expenditure data that you will be 
submitting on DELTA, the Home Office are also requesting that all FRAs provide by 
email, electronic copies of the trial balances from audited accounts where the 
pensions income/expenditure data was extracted for completion of the audited 
2018/19 DELTA return, to include any post balance sheet adjustment events. These 
should be sent to Anthony.Mooney@homeoffice.gov.uk.  

Please note that this information is needed by Friday 15 May to enable the relevant 
checks to be undertaken (and seek further clarification from FRAs where necessary) 
in time to make the next batch of grant payments in July. The Home Office 
appreciate that FRAs may be under workforce pressures at present dealing with the 
response to COVID-19 and can consider extending the deadline, where 
needed.  However, they do want to avoid any delays in paying the grant. 

The Home Office will only be able to make Top Up grant payments on any claims 
that they can validate as being correct and, as such, failure to provide the requested 
information, or the submission of incomplete information, will delay any grant 
payments due in July. 

Please also note that a number of automatic comparison checks have been 
incorporated on the data that you submit on DELTA with the data that you previously 
submitted. The automatic checks include: 

Page 73Page 38

mailto:Anthony.Mooney@homeoffice.gov.uk


 
 
 

7 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

• a cross-reference check on the audited 2018/19 pension income/expenditure 
data with the unaudited 2018/19 pension income/expenditure data submitted 
last year by each FRA. This level of check will be necessary as it will be the 
last chance to identify errors before the period falls outside the Top Up grant’s 
3 year financial cycle; and 
 

• a cross-reference check on the unaudited 2019/20 pension 
income/expenditure data with the updated forecast 2019/20 pensions 
income/expenditure data (submitted by each FRA in September 2019). 
 

• If the variances breach certain tolerance levels, then the DELTA form will 
request a short explanation to explain the difference before the form can 
submitted. 
 

Please contact Anthony.Mooney@homeoffice.gov.uk if you have any questions.  

Ill-health retirement applications 
Our colleagues on the pensions team recently contacted the Association of Local 
Authority Medical Advisers (ALAMA) regarding inconsistency in the approaches 
taken by IQMP providers during the COVID-19 crisis.  

ALAMA confirmed that the following instruction has been posted to their website:  

“During the current COVID-19 crisis, it is important to continue to progress ill health 
retirement applications. It is also particularly important that assessments remain fair 
and reasonable, and that should include requesting GP and specialist reports as 
required. There has never been a requirement for these assessments to be face to 
face, therefore paperwork reviews, with telephone clarification if needed, is the most 
appropriate way to progress these.  

If it is not possible to get reports, an assessment should be based on whether 
reports are likely to influence your decision further, and whether you have enough 
objective evidence to make an opinion. Opinions should always be ‘on balance of 
probability’. There will be times when you simply don’t have sufficient objective 
evidence to support ill health retirement, and you have been unable to get clinical 
reports. You should suggest that the applicant request copies of clinical reports 
direct from their GP.” 

It’s good to talk…about pensions!   
We hope everyone is well and continuing to stay safe at this time. As social 
distancing measures are likely to stay in place for some time and it is likely we won’t 
see each other in person for a while we are going to start running an online coffee 
morning every second Tuesday at 11am to allow a catch up between colleagues and 
ourselves. 

The session will last an hour and be facilitated by Zoom in the first instance, if you 
would like to join please email bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk and we will forward 
the Zoom link and password.  Please note sessions should not be recorded.  

Page 74Page 39

mailto:Anthony.Mooney@homeoffice.gov.uk
mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk


 
 
 

8 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

These sessions are informal and should not be construed as legal advice. 

No responsibility whatsoever will be assumed by LGA or their partners for any 

direct or consequential loss, financial or otherwise, damage or inconvenience, 

or any other obligation or liability incurred by readers relying on information 

shared in these sessions. 

 

 

 

FPS 2015 Added Pension factsheet  
A new factsheet on FPS 2015 Added Pension has been published on the factsheets 
tab of the FPS Regulations and Guidance website.  

This factsheet has been prepared by the FCWG to provide information and 
examples to members who may be interested in buying added pension. The 
factsheet includes an application form for a quote request.  

GAD have recently issued revised factors and guidance for administrators to process 
the purchase of additional pension.  

  

Page 75Page 40

http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Factsheets/FPS-2015-added-pension-factsheet.docx
http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/administration-resources/factsheets
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/GAD/APBs/Fire-England-2015-added-pension-guidance-130220.pdf


 
 
 

9 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

April query log 
The current log of queries and responses is available on the FPS Regulations and 
Guidance website. The queries have been anonymised and divided into topics. The 
log will be updated on a monthly basis in line with the bulletin release dates.  

Queries from earlier months have been grey-shaded to differentiate from new items 
added in April. 

Other News and Updates 

Letter from James Brokenshire MP 
On 23 April James Brokenshire, the minister for State of Security, issued a letter by 
email to the National Fire Chiefs Council (NFCC) and the Fire Services Management 
Committee (FSMC) on reducing burdens and supporting the fire sector through the 
current COVID-19 emergency.  

This letter supports the work that is being done nationally to deal with coronavirus 
(COVID-19). It outlines a number of ways in which the government is seeking to 
further support local services in this challenging period. 

The Pensions Ombudsman (TPO) newsletter 8  
TPO have published Issue 8 – April 2020 of their stakeholder newsletter. 

The newsletter includes an introductory message from Anthony Arter on how TPO 
are meeting the challenges presented by COVID-19, an update on appeals, and 
information on the redevelopment of the TPO website. 

Earlier communications from TPO and a full history of determinations in relation to 

FPS are held on our TPO webpage. 

Pension Dashboard Programme update 
The Pension Dashboard Programme (PDP) was established by the Money and 

Pensions Service (MaPS) in July 2019. The aim of the PDP is to establish a pension 

dashboard service to allow the 52m in-scope adults within the UK to view information 

about all of their pension benefits, in a secure online environment.  

This month the PDP have issued the first of their planned six-monthly progress 

reports setting out their broad approach to delivering the Programme and outlining 

priorities for the next six months.  

PDP progress update report – April 2020 

A key element of the Programme is the development of data standards. The 

following working papers have been issued alongside the progress report to describe 

the PDP’s current thinking on data requirements for dashboards.  

Page 76Page 41

http://www.fpsregs.org/images/admin/Technical-query-log-290420.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/880903/NFCC_JB_letter.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/880903/NFCC_JB_letter.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Legal/TPO/TPO-stakeholder-newsletter-April-2020.pdf
http://fpsregs.org/index.php/legal-landscape/the-pensions-ombudsman
https://maps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/pdp-progress-update-report.pdf


 
 
 

10 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

Data scope: setting out options for achieving early coverage across all pension 

sectors. 

Data definitions: listing the set of data items that could be included in the dashboards 

data standards. 

Industry consultation is expected to take place later in the year.  

HMRC 

HMRC newsletters/bulletins 
HMRC have published pension schemes newsletter 119 containing important 
updates and guidance on pension schemes. The following issues are covered: 
 
Pension schemes newsletter 119 – 30 April 2020 

• temporary changes to pension processes as a result of coronavirus (COVID-
19) 

• re-employment in response to the coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak 

• pension scheme returns for 2019 to 2020 

• benefits crystallisation event 1 and valuing sums and assets held within a 
registered pension scheme 

• other pension scheme valuations 

• pension flexibility statistics 

• registration statistics 

• annual allowance calculator 

• managing pension schemes service – timeline update 

• unauthorised payments – operating the mandating procedure 

• Gibraltar and the overseas transfer charge 
 

Also published this month: 

Managing Pensions Schemes service newsletter – 1 April 2020 

HMRC have launched the Accounting for Tax (AFT) return on the Managing Pension 

Schemes service from 1 April 2020. Any pension scheme registered through the 

Managing Pension Schemes service can now start to compile AFT returns on the 

service for the quarter 1 April – 30 June 2020 

Contracting-out reconciliation update  
On 1 April 2020 HMRC published Countdown bulletin 52 to inform administrators 

that the deadline for the issue of final data cuts must be extended while work is 

reprioritised in response to the Coronavirus outbreak. 

HMRC are aiming to publish a final timeline by the end of April 2020 

Page 77Page 42

https://maps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/pdp-data-scope-working-paper.pdf
https://maps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/pdp-data-definitions-working-paper.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pension-schemes-newsletter-119-april-2020/pension-schemes-newsletter-119-april-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/managing-pension-schemes-service-newsletter-april-2020/managing-pension-schemes-service-newsletter-april-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/countdown-bulletin-52-april-2020/countdown-bulletin-52-april-2020


 
 
 

11 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

Legislation  

SI  Reference title 

2020/372 The Automatic Enrolment (Earnings Trigger and Qualifying Earnings 

Band) Order 2020 

Useful links 

• The Firefighters’ Pensions (England) Scheme Advisory Board   
• FPS Regulations and Guidance  
• Khub Firefighters Pensions Discussion Forum  
• FPS1992 guidance and commentary  
• The Pensions Regulator Public Service Schemes   
• The Pensions Ombudsman  
• HMRC Pensions Tax Manual  
• LGA pensions website 

Contact details  

Clair Alcock (Senior Pension Adviser) 
Telephone: 020 7664 3189 
Email: clair.alcock@local.gov.uk   
 
Kevin Courtney (NPCC Pensions Adviser) 
Telephone: 020 7664 3202 
Email: kevin.courtney@local.gov.uk  
 
Claire Hey (Firefighters’ Pension Adviser) 
Telephone: 020 7664 3205 
Email: claire.hey@local.gov.uk  

Copyright 

Copyright remains with Local Government Association (LGA). This bulletin may be 

reproduced without the prior permission of LGA provided it is not used for commercial 

gain, the source is acknowledged and, if regulations are reproduced, the Crown 

Copyright Policy Guidance issued by HMSO is adhered to. 

  

Page 78Page 43

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/372/contents/made
http://www.fpsboard.org/
http://www.fpsregs.org/
https://khub.net/group/thefirefighterspensionsdiscussionforum
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120919152859tf_/http:/www.communities.gov.uk/fire/firerescueservice/firefighterpensions/firefighterspensionscheme/
http://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/public-service-schemes.aspx
https://www.pensions-ombudsman.org.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/hmrc-internal-manuals/pensions-tax-manual
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/workforce-and-hr-support/local-government-pensions
mailto:clair.alcock@local.gov.uk
mailto:kevin.courtney@local.gov.uk
mailto:claire.hey@local.gov.uk


 
 
 

12 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

Disclaimer 

The information contained in this bulletin has been prepared by the Bluelight Pensions 

team, part of the Local Government Association (LGA). It represents the views of the 

team and should not be treated as a complete and authoritative statement of the law. 

Readers may wish, or will need, to take their own legal advice on the interpretation of 

legislation. No responsibility whatsoever will be assumed by the LGA for any direct or 

consequential loss, financial or otherwise, damage or inconvenience, or any other 

obligation or liability incurred by readers relying on information contained in this 

bulletin.  

While every attempt is made to ensure the accuracy of the bulletin, it would be helpful 

if readers could bring any perceived errors or omissions to the attention of the Bluelight 

team by emailing bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk. 

Page 79Page 44

mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk


FPS Bulletin 33 – May 2020 

Welcome to issue 33 of the Firefighters’ Pensions Schemes bulletin. 

We hope that readers remain safe and well.  

The Coronavirus pandemic continues to raise queries and concerns for scheme 
employers and members. Our dedicated COVID-19 webpage is being updated 
frequently, so please check in on a regular basis.  

All meetings, training and travelling remain suspended for the foreseeable future but 
the Bluelight team are available at home by mobile, email or video (MS Teams or 
Skype for Business).  

If you are looking for information on a certain topic, issue and content indexes are 
held on the main bulletin page of the website and are updated following each new 
issue. 

If you have any comments on this bulletin or suggested items for future issues, 
please email claire.hey@local.gov.uk.  

Page 80Page 45

Appendix 4

http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/covid-19-and-the-fps
http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/covid-19-and-the-fps
http://fpsregs.org/index.php/bulletins-and-circulars/bulletins
mailto:claire.hey@local.gov.uk


 
 
 

2 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

Contents 

Calendar of events 3 

Actions arising 3 

FPS 3 

Age discrimination update 3 

Protected Pension Age - HMT extension 5 

Claims for refunds of NICs - FPS 2006 special members - reminder 5 

Website and resources update 5 

IDRP guidance 6 

May query log 6 

FPS England SAB updates 6 

COVID-19 FPS governance survey 6 

Local Pension Board Knowledge Hub forum 7 

SAB policies 7 

Other News and Updates 7 

LGA LGPS pensions team 7 

Events 8 

FPS coffee mornings 8 

Annual Local Pension Board wrap-up training 2020 9 

HMRC 9 

HMRC newsletters/bulletins 9 

Contracting-out reconciliation update 9 

Useful links 10 

Contact details 10 

Copyright 10 

Disclaimer 11 

 

  

Page 81Page 46



 
 
 

3 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

Calendar of events 

Please see below a calendar of upcoming events relevant to the Firefighters’ 
Pension Schemes.  Only those events which are hyperlinked are currently available 
to book. If you have any events you would like to be included in a future bulletin, 
please email claire.hey@local.gov.uk 

Table 1: Calendar of events 

Event  Date 

FPS coffee and catch up  Every second Tuesday – next event 2 
June 2020 

Local Pension Board wrap-up training 10 June 2020 

Virtual SAB 11 June 2020 

Virtual South West & Wales FPOG 17 June 2020 

Local Pension Board wrap-up training 8 July 2020 

South East regional FPOG 27 July 2020 (TBC) 

SAB 17 September 2020 

SAB 10 December 2020 

Actions arising 

Readers are asked to note the following actions arising from the bulletin: 

NIC refunds for FPS 2006 special members – scheme manager to ensure that form 
APSS155b has been completed and returned to HMRC. 

COVID-19 governance survey – scheme manager and/ or Local Pension Board chair 
to complete online survey by 30 June 2020. 

LPB wrap-up training 2020 – book places for pension board members wishing to 
attend. 

FPS 

Age discrimination update 
We are conscious that it has now been six months since the tribunal determination in 
the Sargeant case for age discrimination and as yet we have been unable to provide 
further information on what to expect. 

  

Page 82Page 47

mailto:claire.hey@local.gov.uk
mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk
mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk?subject=Please%20can%20I%20request%20a%20place%20on%20the%2010%20June%20pension%20board%20wrap%20up%20session
mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk?subject=Please%20can%20I%20request%20a%20place%20on%20the%208%20July%20pension%20board%20wrap%20up%20session


 
 
 

4 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

The position at the moment remains as per FPS Bulletin 28 - January 2020 that all 
entitlements including immediate ones should remain under the existing rules for the 
time being.  

We understand that this position will no doubt be disappointing and frustrating to 
members.  In order to reassure them it may help to confirm that the Government 
accepted the Courts’ findings in the Sargeant and McCloud legal cases and are 
committed to treating claimants and non-claimants in the same manner. However, 
the discussions on remedy are ongoing and the guidance required for processing 
immediate cases is still not available.  The need for this information to be made 
available as soon as possible is frequently highlighted to the Home Office and HM 
Treasury. 

We understand from written statement HCWS187 that initial proposals are to return 
members to their former final salary scheme for the ‘remedy period’, but to offer a 
choice to the member, including those who were deemed protected in the final salary 
scheme, to receive benefits based on the current Career Average Revalued 
Earnings (CARE) scheme if it is better to do so.  At this stage it is not clear when the 
end of the ‘remedy period’ will be, however, it is not expected to be before 2022, as 
the current working assumption is that it will take three years to bring in these 
proposals. 

As yet we do not know when the member might make the choice. We understand 
that this could be either: 

1. At the end of the remedy period, this will be the same time right across public 
sector, or, 

2. At the members retirement age. 

We appreciate that those who are retiring in the more immediate future may want 
more certainty over their benefits. The Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) requested 
data on immediate events from each Fire and Rescue Authority (FRA) in order to 
highlight the number of immediate cases that cannot be progressed because of a 
lack of guidance. Unfortunately, only 28 of the 45 English FRAs responded to this 
request, despite an extension to 16 March 2020.  

The information we did receive was used in a paper to the SAB and subsequently 
supplied to government to highlight the number of immediate cases faced and the 
necessity for guidance to be supplied. We are continuing to actively push for that 
guidance as soon as possible.  

Our understanding is that if firefighters retire before remedy has been applied to the 
schemes, they will remain eligible for their position to be remedied retrospectively 
and benefits recalculated if necessary. The Sargeant factsheet released by the 
Home Office stated that individuals will keep benefits they have accrued regardless 
of changes needed to remove discrimination. 

  

Page 83Page 48

http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Bulletins/Bulletin-28-January-2020/Bulletin-28.pdf
https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2020-03-25/HCWS187/
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Bulletins/Bulletin-28-January-2020/Bulletin-28-Appendix-1.xlsx
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Bulletins/Bulletin-28-January-2020/Bulletin-28-Appendix-1.xlsx
http://www.fpsboard.org/images/PDF/Meetings/17032020/Paper-2-Item-9-Immediate-event-data-request-update-final.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Bulletins/Bulletin-27-December-2019/Bulletin-27-Appendix-1.pdf


 
 
 

5 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

In the meantime, it is important that FRAs ensure they are ready to remedy the 
benefits once this guidance is available and we want to take the opportunity to 
remind you of our guidance on ill-health cases in FPS Bulletin 28 - January 2020 to 
ensure that you have an IQMP decision under both schemes if necessary. 

Protected Pension Age - HMT extension 
As previously confirmed in the written statement HCWS196, the protected pension 
age tax rules were temporarily relaxed for the period 1 March to 1 June 2020 for 
those returning to work as a result of COVID-19.  We understand that a further 
extension on this relaxation has been sought, but there has been no further update 
on this at present.  We will provide an update as soon as it is available. 

Claims for refunds of NICs - FPS 2006 special members - reminder 
In FPS Bulletin 29 – February 2020 we advised that HMRC had recently written to all 
FRAs to request completion of form APSS155b in order to backdate their FPS 2006 
scheme contracting-out certificate to 6 April 2000.  

This was to allow HMRC to correct contracted-out status and process the refund of 
National Insurance Contributions (NICs) for individuals who elected to become 
special members of the scheme. Additionally, in some cases, HMRC informed FRAs 
that they did not currently have a valid contracting out certificate for FPS 2006 and 
this would first need to be applied for and then backdated.  

HMRC have since advised that they have only received a small proportion of 
completed forms from Authorities. Therefore, if you are aware that your FRA has not 
returned form APSS155b, please arrange for this to be done at the earliest 
opportunity.  

Any queries regarding the form can be sent to 
ipdtechnicalteam.nationalinsurance@hmrc.gov.uk 

Website and resources update 
As we are all getting used to a new way of working, more virtually and with less time 
spent “on the road”, we have taken the opportunity to develop some additional web-
based resources and update some of our existing material.  

New additions to the Firefighters’ Pension Schemes Regulations and Guidance 
website include:  

Related legislation. This page collates legislation that has general or consequential 
impact on the FPS, such as relevant Acts and Automatic Enrolment legislation.  

GAD factor table and guidance note cover sheet. This PDF document provides a 
summary of the most recent factors and guidance notes provided by the Government 
Actuary’s Department (GAD). 

  

Page 84Page 49

http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Bulletins/Bulletin-28-January-2020/Bulletin-28.pdf
https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2020-04-22/HCWS196/
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Bulletins/Bulletin-29-February-2020/Bulletin-29.pdf
mailto:ipdtechnicalteam.nationalinsurance@hmrc.gov.uk
http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/
http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/legal-landscape/related-legislation
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/GAD/GAD-factor-table-cover-sheet.pdf


 
 
 

6 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

HM Treasury reduced the SCAPE discount rate from 2.8% to 2.4%pa above CPI 
from 29 October 2018. As a result of the change, GAD undertook a factor review for 
the Firefighters’ Pension Schemes. The revised factors were provided by email to 
FRAs, during 2018-19, with a consolidated workbook of factors in October 2019. 

Events. Details of events facilitated by the LGA Bluelight pensions team can be 
found in this section, which has been moved from the SAB website. It includes 
booking for any forthcoming events and presentations of past events. 

The following pages have been added to the member-restricted section of the 
Regulations and Guidance site. If you require log-in details for this area, please 
email bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk.  

Firefighter pay scales. This page contains firefighter pay scales dating back to 
1977. These documents have been provided to assist practitioners who may need to 
access historic pay settlement information. 

Videos and webinar recordings. This page has been created to host training and 
informational videos created by the LGA Bluelight team, as well as webinar 
recordings. A further password may be required to view the videos. 

IDRP guidance 
Following on from our article in FPS Bulletin 30 – March 2020, we are pleased to let 
you know that the SAB have approved the updated informal IDRP guidance which 
has now been published to our factsheets page.  

Readers may also be interested in the outcomes of the recent IDRP data collection, 
which were presented to the Board in May. 

May query log 
The current log of queries and responses is available on the FPS Regulations and 
Guidance website. The queries have been anonymised and divided into topics. The 
log will be updated on a monthly basis in line with the bulletin release dates.  

Queries from earlier months have been grey-shaded to differentiate from new items 
added in May.  

FPS England SAB updates 

COVID-19 FPS governance survey 
Thank you to those that took the time to complete our COVID-19 and the FPS 
administration resilience survey – we had a great response and your input has 
helped us raise the important issues with the Government and the Pensions 
Regulator, and tailor the support and guidance we provide.  

  

Page 85Page 50

http://www.fpsboard.org/images/PDF/Bulletin13/Appendix1.pdf
http://www.fpsboard.org/images/PDF/Bulletin25/FPS25-Appendix-2.xlsm
http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/events
http://www.fpsboard.org/index.php
mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk
http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/member-area/firefighter-pay-scales
http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/member-area/videos-and-webinar-recordings
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Bulletins/Bulletin-30-March-2020/Bulletin-30.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Factsheets/IDRP-factsheet.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/administration-resources/factsheets
http://www.fpsboard.org/images/PDF/Board-papers-by-email/IDRP-SAB-Paper-1-May-2020.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/admin/Technical-query-log-280520.pdf


 
 
 

7 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

We would now like to hear from you on how the current situation is impacting the 
governance of the Firefighters’ pension schemes. Please complete the COVID-19 
FPS governance survey – it should take around 10 minutes. We are happy to accept 
multiple responses per FRA; ideally we would like to hear from the scheme manager 
and/ or Local Pension Board chair.  

As our distribution lists do not yet extend to delegated scheme managers, please 
forward this request as appropriate. 

The survey will remain open until 30 June 2020. 

Local Pension Board Knowledge Hub forum 
We would like to let readers know that all resources held in the above forum have 
been moved to either www.fpsboard.org - the dedicated website of the Firefighters' 
Pensions (England) Scheme Advisory Board, or www.fpsregs.org - the FPS 
regulations and guidance site. 

This forum has now been closed and all group members have been informed by 
email.  

Our other KHub group The Firefighters Pensions Discussion Forum will remain open 
as an archive resource. 

Please contact bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk if you have any questions.  

SAB policies 
The following policies have recently been uploaded to the SAB website: 

• Code of conduct 

• Conflict of interest  

• Knowledge and understanding 

Other News and Updates 

LGA LGPS pensions team 
We are very pleased to welcome a new pensions adviser to the LGPS pensions 
team. Steven Moseley joined the team from LPP on 27 April 2020. Steven will be the 
lead contact for LGPS Scotland but will also be working on LGPS England and 
Wales.  

  

Page 86Page 51

https://www.surveymonkey.co.uk/r/2H3YB8C
https://www.surveymonkey.co.uk/r/2H3YB8C
http://www.fpsboard.org/
http://www.fpsregs.org/
https://khub.net/group/thefirefighterspensionsdiscussionforum
mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk
http://www.fpsboard.org/images/PDF/Board-policies/Code-of-conduct-policy-January-2020.pdf
http://www.fpsboard.org/images/PDF/Board-policies/Conflict-of-interest-policy-January-2020.pdf
http://www.fpsboard.org/images/PDF/Board-policies/Knowledge-and-understanding-policy-January-2020.pdf


 
 
 

8 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

Events 

FPS coffee mornings 
We hope everyone is well and continuing to stay safe at this time. As social 
distancing measures are likely to stay in place for some time and it is likely we won’t 
see each other in person for a while we have started running an online coffee 
morning every second Tuesday at 11am to allow a catch up between colleagues and 
the LGA Bluelight team. 

We have held two successful sessions to date, with the next event scheduled to take 
place on 2 June 2020. 

The sessions last up to an hour and have so far been facilitated by Zoom. As some 
organisations do not allow access to Zoom, the next session will be available in 
Microsoft Teams.  

If you would like to join us, please email bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk and we will 
forward the meeting link and any password needed.   

Please note that sessions should not be recorded. These sessions are informal and 
should not be construed as legal advice. 

 

No responsibility whatsoever will be assumed by LGA or their partners for any 

direct or consequential loss, financial or otherwise, damage or inconvenience, 

or any other obligation or liability incurred by readers relying on information 

shared in these sessions. 

  

Page 87Page 52

mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk


 
 
 

9 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

Annual Local Pension Board wrap-up training 2020 
We are once again running our popular annual Local Pension Board (LPB) wrap-up 
session, for board members who are either new to the board or those wanting an 
opportunity to refresh themselves on the principles of governance for the Firefighters' 
Pension Schemes. Details of our previous wrap-up sessions can be found here. 

We are delighted to welcome Nick Gannon from TPR who will be joining us for a 
session on last year's TPR governance and administration survey results; you may 
wish to read the six key processes factsheet to refresh yourselves on the processes 
that TPR monitors. 

We are running this session via Zoom across two dates: 10 June and 8 July, from 
11:00 until 13:30, please click to view the full agenda. 

If you would like to participate please click the relevant link below: 

Request a place on the LPB wrap-up training 10 June 2020 

Request a place on the LPB wrap-up training 8 July 2020 

HMRC 

HMRC newsletters/bulletins 
HMRC have published pension schemes newsletter 120 containing important 
updates and guidance on pension schemes. The following issues are covered: 
 
Pension schemes newsletter 120 – 27 May 2020 

• temporary changes to pension processes as a result of coronavirus (COVID-
19) 

• relief at source and the suspension of the process for applying for a National 
Insurance number 

• submitting the APSS107 – Registered pension schemes annual statistical 
return without a signature 

• contacting HMRC’s Pension Schemes Services 

• relief at source - annual return of information for 2019 to 2020 

• relief at source - small changes to the APSS107 – Registered pension 
schemes annual statistical return 

Contracting-out reconciliation update  
On 28 May 2020 HMRC published Countdown bulletin 53 to inform administrators 

that they plan to issue all final data cuts by the end of July 2020. 

Administrators are advised to check the GMP amounts provided against their 

records and use the online GMP checker where the amounts cannot be reconciled.  

Page 88Page 53

http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/events/local-pension-board-wrap-up-training
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/admin/TPR-6-key-processes.v1.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Events/LPB-wrap-up-2020/LBP-wrap-up-training-agenda-2020.pdf
mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk?subject=Please%20can%20I%20request%20a%20place%20on%20the%2010%20June%20pension%20board%20wrap%20up%20session
mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk?subject=Please%20can%20I%20request%20a%20place%20on%20the%208%20July%20pension%20board%20wrap%20up%20session
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pension-schemes-newsletter-120-may-2020/pension-schemes-newsletter-120-may-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/countdown-bulletin-53-may-2020/countdown-bulletin-53-may-2020


 
 
 

10 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

Useful links 

• The Firefighters’ Pensions (England) Scheme Advisory Board   
• FPS Regulations and Guidance  
• Khub Firefighters Pensions Discussion Forum  
• FPS1992 guidance and commentary  
• The Pensions Regulator Public Service Schemes   
• The Pensions Ombudsman  
• HMRC Pensions Tax Manual  
• LGA pensions website 

Contact details  

Clair Alcock (Senior Pension Adviser) 
Telephone: 020 7664 3189 
Email: clair.alcock@local.gov.uk   
 
Kevin Courtney (NPCC Pensions Adviser) 
Telephone: 020 7664 3202 
Email: kevin.courtney@local.gov.uk  
 
Claire Hey (Firefighters’ Pension Adviser) 
Telephone: 020 7664 3205 
Email: claire.hey@local.gov.uk  

Copyright 

Copyright remains with Local Government Association (LGA). This bulletin may be 

reproduced without the prior permission of LGA provided it is not used for commercial 

gain, the source is acknowledged and, if regulations are reproduced, the Crown 

Copyright Policy Guidance issued by HMSO is adhered to. 

  

Page 89Page 54

http://www.fpsboard.org/
http://www.fpsregs.org/
https://khub.net/group/thefirefighterspensionsdiscussionforum
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120919152859tf_/http:/www.communities.gov.uk/fire/firerescueservice/firefighterpensions/firefighterspensionscheme/
http://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/public-service-schemes.aspx
https://www.pensions-ombudsman.org.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/hmrc-internal-manuals/pensions-tax-manual
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/workforce-and-hr-support/local-government-pensions
mailto:clair.alcock@local.gov.uk
mailto:kevin.courtney@local.gov.uk
mailto:claire.hey@local.gov.uk


 
 
 

11 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

Disclaimer 

The information contained in this bulletin has been prepared by the Bluelight Pensions 

team, part of the Local Government Association (LGA). It represents the views of the 

team and should not be treated as a complete and authoritative statement of the law. 

Readers may wish, or will need, to take their own legal advice on the interpretation of 

legislation. No responsibility whatsoever will be assumed by the LGA for any direct or 

consequential loss, financial or otherwise, damage or inconvenience, or any other 

obligation or liability incurred by readers relying on information contained in this 

bulletin.  

While every attempt is made to ensure the accuracy of the bulletin, it would be helpful 

if readers could bring any perceived errors or omissions to the attention of the Bluelight 

team by emailing bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk. 

Page 90Page 55

mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



FPS Bulletin 34 – June 2020 

Welcome to issue 34 of the Firefighters’ Pensions Schemes bulletin. 

We hope that readers remain safe and well.  

While travel and social restrictions are gradually easing, the Coronavirus pandemic 
continues to raise queries and concerns for scheme employers and members. Our 
COVID-19 webpage is being updated accordingly, so please check in on a regular 
basis. 

All meetings, training and travelling remain suspended for the foreseeable future but 
the Bluelight team are available at home by mobile, email or video (MS Teams or 
Skype for Business).  

If you are looking for information on a certain topic, issue and content indexes are 
held on the main bulletin page of the website and are updated following each new 
issue. 

If you have any comments on this bulletin or suggested items for future issues, 
please email claire.hey@local.gov.uk.  

Page 15Page 57

Appendix 5

http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/covid-19-and-the-fps
http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/covid-19-and-the-fps
http://fpsregs.org/index.php/bulletins-and-circulars/bulletins
mailto:claire.hey@local.gov.uk


 
 
 

2 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

Contents 

 

Calendar of events 3 

Actions arising 3 

FPS 4 

FPS England – 2020 valuation final data specifications 4 

Protected Pension Age - HMT extension 4 

ABS 2020 – member communications 5 

Raising tax awareness through job advertisements 6 

Guide to linking benefits in the FPS 6 

IQMP patient confidentiality and the pension scheme rules 7 

Website and resources update 8 

June query log 8 

FPS England SAB updates 9 

COVID-19 FPS governance survey 9 

Template administration strategy consultation 9 

SAB minutes index 10 

Other News and Updates 10 

TPO determine on data 10 

Pension dashboard update 10 

Transfer arrangements for CARE additional pension (FPS 2015) 11 

Events 11 

FPS coffee mornings 11 

Annual Local Pension Board wrap-up training 2020 12 

HMRC 12 

HMRC newsletters/bulletins 12 

Legislation 13 

Useful links 13 

Contact details 13 

Copyright 14 

Disclaimer 14 

 

Page 16Page 58



 
 
 

3 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

Calendar of events 

Please see below a calendar of upcoming events relevant to the Firefighters’ 
Pension Schemes.  Only those events which are hyperlinked are currently available 
to book. If you have any events you would like to be included in a future bulletin, 
please email claire.hey@local.gov.uk 

Table 1: Calendar of events 

Event  Date 

Local Pension Board wrap-up training 8 July 2020 

FPS coffee and catch up  Every second Tuesday – next event 14 
July 2020 

Virtual South East regional FPOG 27 July 2020  

Virtual Fire Communications Working 
Group 

7 September 2020 

Virtual SAB 17 September 2020 

SAB 10 December 2020 

Actions arising 

Readers are asked to note the following actions arising from the bulletin: 

ABS 2020 - member communications: scheme managers to ensure members are 
kept informed of position relating to ABS 2020 and remedy. 

Raising tax awareness: FRAs to include relevant wording on job adverts. 

COVID-19 governance survey: scheme manager and/ or Local Pension Board chair 
to complete online survey by 31 July 2020. 

Template administration strategy consultation: all interested parties to respond to 
consultation by 31 August 2020. 

Transfer arrangements for CARE additional pension: administrators to review Club 
transfer in/out processes to ensure that CARE added pension is calculated using the 
non-Club methodology and factors. 

LPB wrap-up training 2020 – book places for pension board members wishing to 
attend. 

  

Page 17Page 59

mailto:claire.hey@local.gov.uk
mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk?subject=Please%20can%20I%20request%20a%20place%20on%20the%208%20July%20pension%20board%20wrap%20up%20session
mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk?subject=Please%20add%20me%20to%20the%20coffee%20morning%20invite%20list


 
 
 

4 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

FPS 

FPS England – 2020 valuation final data specifications 
The Government Actuary’s Department’s (GAD) final 2020 valuation data 
specifications for the Fire England schemes were issued by email to administrators 
and software suppliers on 3 June 2020. The document has also been uploaded to 
the dedicated valuations webpage in the password-protected area of the FPS 
Regulations and Guidance website. 

The specifications are largely identical to the draft issued at the end of 2019. The 
one change is to clarify which members require the additional Sargeant data. 

GAD are still working on the data collection spreadsheet and instructions which 
should be issued in the near future. 

The deadline for submission of data remains 31 December 2020 as confirmed in 
FPS Bulletin 32 – April 2020. 

Protected Pension Age - HMT extension 
As previously confirmed in written statement HCWS196, the Protected Pension Age 
(PPA) tax rules were temporarily relaxed for the period 1 March to 1 June 2020 for 
those returning to work as a result of COVID-19.   

On 2 June 2020 HM Treasury/ HMRC announced an extension to the easement of 
the tax rules relating to PPA. The deadline has been extended to 1 November 2020 
for retired firefighters re-employed in relation to FRAs' response to the coronavirus 
pandemic.  

Please see the announcement in the amended HMRC pension schemes newsletter 
119 - April 2020, under heading 1.a. 

HMT have confirmed that the effect of the statement is that anyone re-employed 
between 1 March and the deadline would be deemed as having satisfied the re-
employment conditions, regardless of how long the employment lasted. 

New Clause 20: Protected pension age of members employed as a result of 
coronavirus has been inserted at Report Stage of the Finance Bill 2020 and 
introduces a new re-employment condition to paragraph 22(7F) of Schedule 36 to 
the Finance Act 2004. 

HMRC have published a tax information and impact note which explains more about 
these changes.  

We recommend that the reasons for re-employment being COVID-19 related are 
clearly documented and shared with your Local Pension Board. 

  

Page 18Page 60

http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/member-area/scheme-valuations-restricted
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Bulletins/Bulletin-32-April-2020/Bulletin-32.pdf
https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2020-04-22/HCWS196/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pension-schemes-newsletter-119-april-2020/pension-schemes-newsletter-119-april-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pension-schemes-newsletter-119-april-2020/pension-schemes-newsletter-119-april-2020
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/895345/New_Clause_Protected_pension_age_of_members_employed_as_a_result_of_coronavirus_EN.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/895345/New_Clause_Protected_pension_age_of_members_employed_as_a_result_of_coronavirus_EN.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/12/schedule/36/paragraph/22
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/895354/Protected_Pension_Age_COVID_19_response_.pdf


 
 
 

5 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

Readers may have recently noted the ombudsman decisions PO-15170 and PO-
15168 & PO-15171 regarding PPA and the responsibility of the employer.  We have 
taken the opportunity to create a new page for PPA within the password protected 
member area of the Regulations and Guidance website to collate information and 
resources about PPA as it relates to members of the FPS 1992. 

ABS 2020 – member communications 
As detailed in FPS Bulletin 32 – April 2020, it will not be possible to include 
projections on the Annual Benefit Statements (ABS) this year which reflect the 
outcome of the Sargeant legal judgment.  

This is because: 

a) the ongoing discussions on remedy are still confidential pending release of the 
consultation, and  

b) the software companies have confirmed that it will take at least 12 months to 
programme the software. 

We have recommended that members are provided with a projection based on 
current regulations up to their normal pension age and that the caveat provided by 
HMT is included on the statement. 

With both the remedy consultation and final Employment Tribunal hearing expected 
in July, member expectations may understandably be heightened. We appreciate the 
need to manage those expectations ahead of the ABS being released, so there is a 
clear understanding of why the statements do not reflect the outcome of the legal 
decision.  

We suggest that wording adapted from the HMT caveat can be provided to members 
in advance of the ABS deadline, as follows:  

On 20 December 2018, the Court of Appeal ruled that the transitional arrangements 
introduced as part of the 2015 reforms to the Firefighters’ Pension Scheme were 
discriminatory and, therefore, unlawful.  

Following this ruling, the Government accepted that all public service pension 
schemes were similarly affected and is currently working on removing discrimination 
from the schemes for all affected members. This work is complex and is going to 
take some time. More information can be found in written statement HWS187, which 
was released on 25 March 2020.  

As yet, there is still uncertainty around the final approach to removing discrimination 
and for this reason is has not been possible to reflect the impact of the ruling in your 
ABS this year.  

  

Page 19Page 61

http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Legal/TPO/PO-15170.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Legal/TPO/PO-15168-and-PO-15171.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Legal/TPO/PO-15168-and-PO-15171.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/member-area/protected-pension-age-ppa
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Bulletins/Bulletin-32-April-2020/Bulletin-32.pdf
https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2020-03-25/HCWS187/


 
 
 

6 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

You will therefore receive an estimate of the benefits built up in your current scheme 
membership to 31/03/2020 and a projection of benefits based on current scheme 
regulations to the normal pension age for the current scheme you are a member of.  

Members can also be referred to Bulletin 32, which gives a clear direction from the 
Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) that projections can and should be based on the 
current scheme rules only.  

Raising tax awareness through job advertisements 
As thresholds for the annual and lifetime allowances have decreased, there is an 
increasing likelihood of members breaching tax limits by accepting a promotion or 
change of position which attracts pensionable allowances.  

The importance of communicating potential tax issues to members has been a topic 
of regular discussion for the SAB and is supported by recent Pension Ombudsman 
determinations. Following a recent meeting of the Fire Communications Working 
Group (FCWG) we are pleased to provide the following standard wording to be 
included within job adverts.  

Our thanks go to colleagues at West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service for 
supplying the suggested wording: 

Pension Considerations 

Annual Allowance 

Please note that it is your personal responsibility to check whether by 
applying/accepting this position it would result in any Annual Allowance implications. 
A breach in the Annual Allowance threshold could result in a Tax charge. Further 
information on Annual Allowance can be obtained from our Pensions team. 

Lifetime Allowance 

Please note that it is your personal responsibility to check whether by 
applying/accepting this position it would result in any Lifetime Allowance implications. 
A breach in the Lifetime Allowance threshold will result in a Tax charge. Further 
information on Lifetime Allowance can be obtained from our Pensions team. 

Temporary Promotions/Positions 

Please note that any period of ‘temporary’, whether that is by way of promotion or 
allowances associated with a temporary position, will be treated as non-pensionable.  

Guide to linking benefits in the FPS 
We are pleased to release the long-awaited guide to combining pension scheme 
service in the Firefighters’ Pension Schemes, developed by the FCWG. 

The guidance set out in the booklet applies to all kinds of leaving and re-joining the 
FPS regardless of employment status.  

Page 20Page 62

http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Bulletins/Bulletin-32-April-2020/Bulletin-32.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Guides/FPS-aggregation-guide-version-1-June-2020.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Guides/FPS-aggregation-guide-version-1-June-2020.pdf


 
 
 

7 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

It has been designed to assist administrators in determining the actions to be taken 
when members have periods of pensionable service which can be linked.  

This is an informal guide only, developed with the help of the communications group 
and the technical group and should not be treated as a complete and authoritative 
statement of the law. Please also note that the guide is based on our current 
understanding of the scheme rules.  

Although the guidance is likely to be revoked or significantly altered when the 
remedy provisions are implemented, we felt it was important to the release the guide 
in the meantime, to allow FRAs and administrators to reach a consistent position to 
apply remedy from. 

We would be grateful to receive any comments on the guide to 
bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk. We would like to thank West Yorkshire Pension 
Fund for their considerable input to the guide.  

IQMP patient confidentiality and the pension scheme rules 
We have previously been asked for guidance with regard to IQMPs providing the 
medical report directly to the member to request consent for the information to be 
shared with the FRA.   

We have been provided with a copy of this clarification from GMC on the sharing of 
confidential reports. While the report specifically refers to the Police Pension 
Scheme, we can advise that this would also cover the FPS.  In brief the message is 
that:  

• An IQMP is not required to provide a copy of their report to the applicant, this 
should be submitted to the FRA who must supply a copy of the opinion to the 
member within 14 days of the determination 

• The applicant is not able to prevent the report’s release to the FRA if they 
disagree with its contents or the IQMP’s opinion. Once the examination has 
taken place, the IQMP is required by law to report their opinion to the FRA, 
and if the subject is dissatisfied with the report, they have the opportunity to 
appeal.  
 

This is supported by the following rules in the Firefighters’ Pension Schemes: 

Table 2: FPS regulations on IQMP examinations and reports 

 FPS 1992 [H1] FPS 2006 [Part 8, 
Para 2] 

FPS 2015 [Part 12, 
Reg 152] 

Person must 
submit to an 
examination by an 
IQMP in order to 
determine 
eligibility, 
otherwise the fire 

Sub Para 3 
If the authority is 
unable to obtain 
an IQMP opinion 
by reason of a 
person’s refusal or 
wilful or negligent 

Sub Para 6a 
If the person 
concerned wilfully or 
negligently submits to 
medical examination 
the authority may 

Sub para 7a 
If the person 
concerned wilfully or 
negligently submits to 
medical examination 
the authority may 

Page 21Page 63

mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Illhealth/GMC-clarification-on-confidentiality-and-reports-by-selected-medical-practitioners.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Illhealth/GMC-clarification-on-confidentiality-and-reports-by-selected-medical-practitioners.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1992/129/schedule/2/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/3432/schedule/1/part/8/paragraph/2/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/3432/schedule/1/part/8/paragraph/2/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/2848/regulation/152/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/2848/regulation/152/made


 
 
 

8 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

authority have 
discretion to make 
a decision. 

failure, they may 
give such a 
decision on the 
issue as they may 
choose. 

make a decision on 
the issue. 

make a decision on 
the issue. 

IQMP must report 
to FRA on their 
opinion 

Sub Para 2 
The IQMP must 
report and their 
opinion will be 
binding. 

Sub Para 4 
The IQMP must 
report and their 
opinion will be 
binding. 

Sub Para 5 
The IQMP must 
report and their 
opinion will be 
binding. 

It is for the scheme 
manager not the 
IQMP to supply a 
copy on the 
opinion to the 
individual.  

 Sub Para 7 
The scheme manager 
must supply a copy 
on the opinion within 
14 days of making a 
determination 

Sub Para 8 
The scheme manager 
must supply a copy 
on the opinion within 
14 days of making a 
determination 

Website and resources update 
The following pages have been added to the member-restricted section of the 
Firefighters’ Pension Schemes Regulations and Guidance website this month. If you 
require log-in details for this area, please email bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk.  

Ill-health review group 2008. This page contains papers relating to meetings held 
by the Firefighters' Pension Scheme ill-health review group (FPS IHRG) in 2008.  

The Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government established the 
group to look into the operation of the regulations governing ill-health pensions and 
related workforce arrangements. 

Protected pension age. This page has been developed to hold information and 
resources about protected pension age as it relates to members of the Firefighters' 
Pension Scheme 1992. 

Unauthorised payments. This page has been created to collate information, 
legislation, and resources relating to unauthorised payments in the Firefighters' 
Pension Schemes. 

A new factsheet entitled pensionable pay resources has been added to the 
Factsheets tab of the website. This document reinforces the basic principles that 
should be taken into account when pensionable pay decisions are being made and 
highlights the guidance and resources available to assist decision makers. 

June query log 
The current log of queries and responses is available on the FPS Regulations and 
Guidance website. The queries have been anonymised and divided into topics. The 
log will be updated on a monthly basis in line with the bulletin release dates.  

Queries from earlier months have been grey-shaded to differentiate from new items 
added in June.  

Page 22Page 64

http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/
mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk
http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/member-area/ill-health-review-group-2008
http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/member-area/protected-pension-age-ppa
http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/member-area/unauthorised-payments
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Factsheets/Pensionable-pay-resource-factsheet.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/administration-resources/factsheets
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/admin/Technical-query-log-300620.pdf


 
 
 

9 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

FPS England SAB updates 

COVID-19 FPS governance survey 
At the time of writing, we have received 15 responses to the COVID-19 FPS 
governance survey which we are running to establish whether the current situation is 
impacting on scheme governance. 

The survey should take around 10 minutes to complete and we would welcome 
responses from the scheme manager and/ or Local Pension Board chair.  

As our distribution lists do not yet extend to delegated scheme managers, please 
forward this request as appropriate. 

The survey deadline is extended to 31 July 2020. Please ensure that a response is 
provided for your FRA. 

Template administration strategy consultation 
One of the recommendations arising from the SAB-commissioned FPS 
administration and management review, as undertaken by Aon, was the 
development and implementation of a pension administration strategy.  

One of the key proposals was that the strategy should include “expected timescales 
or key performance indicators which could be aligned with the provision of an 
effective and efficient administration service”1. 

Pension administration strategies are not commonly held for the FPS, as each FRA 
is the single employer and scheme manager, and administration is generally 
contracted out. In addition, there is no legislative requirement for a strategy to be in 
place.  

However, Aon identified that implementation of an administration strategy, to 
complement any formal service level agreement in place by clearly setting out the 
roles and expectations of scheme managers and administrators, would help to 
formalise standards between both parties, as well as improving communication and 
engagement. A clear preference emerged from the SAB administration and 
benchmarking committee (“the Committee”) that this should incorporate 
administration, management, and governance of the schemes. 

A template strategy has been drafted in collaboration with the FCWG and the 
Committee. We are now seeking stakeholders’ views on the document.  

Please find the consultation document (Appendix 1) and draft template 
administration strategy (Appendix 2). The consultation will run until 31 August 2020 
and responses should be sent to bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk. 

  

 
1 Firefighters' Pension Scheme - Administration and Benchmarking Review [Page 69] 

Page 23Page 65

https://www.surveymonkey.co.uk/r/2H3YB8C
https://www.surveymonkey.co.uk/r/2H3YB8C
http://www.fpsboard.org/index.php/board-publications/administration-and-benchmarking-review
http://www.fpsboard.org/index.php/board-publications/administration-and-benchmarking-review
http://www.fpsboard.org/index.php/board-committees/administration-and-benchmarking
http://www.fpsboard.org/index.php/board-committees/administration-and-benchmarking
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Bulletins/Bulletin-34-June-2020/Bulletin-34-Appendix-1-PAS-con-doc.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Bulletins/Bulletin-34-June-2020/Bulletin-34-Appendix-2-Draft-FPS-admin-strategy-June-2020.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Bulletins/Bulletin-34-June-2020/Bulletin-34-Appendix-2-Draft-FPS-admin-strategy-June-2020.pdf
mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk
http://www.fpsboard.org/images/PDF/Surveys/Aonreportfinal.pdf


 
 
 

10 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

SAB minutes index 
We have updated the index of SAB meeting minutes to allow readers to easily find 
discussion on certain topics.  

The index is held on the main Board meetings webpage and will be updated 
following agreement of each new set of minutes.  

Other News and Updates 

TPO determine on data 
The pensions’ press have recently reported on a pension ombudsman decision on 
Yorkshire & Clydesdale Bank Final Salary Scheme and Bradford and Bingley Staff 
Pension Scheme 1991 and the importance of good scheme data.  The case centred 
on whether there was enough proof of a deferred benefit for a member, and the 
ombudsman ruled that the deferred pension should be reconstructed, and benefits 
paid to the individual.   

A further case was upheld against the Royal Mail Statutory Pension Scheme 
(RMSPS) where the scheme’s records did not correspond with the National 
Insurance Contribution Office’s (NICO) records during GMP reconciliation, and the 
scheme could not evidence that the member’s full pension benefits had been 
transferred to another arrangement. The ombudsman ordered that the member’s full 
revalued deferred benefit should be paid, along with an award for distress and 
inconvenience. 

Such data errors are not confined to private sector schemes. Examples of common 
data errors we see in the FPS are knowledge of eligibility for APB’s and the two 
pension rule, loss of protected pension age and lack of payroll records to calculate 
retained firefighter benefits. 

In order to help Local Pension Boards and scheme managers ensure there is good 
data management in the scheme LGA run an annual data event, provide advice on 
TPR data scoring and accuracy weighting, provided training on GDPR at the data 
event on 29 March 2018, commissioned a template privacy note for use by FRAs as 
data controllers, provide advice on one of the top six key processes that TPR 
measure performance on, which is a process to monitor records for accuracy / 
completeness, in the TPR six key processes factsheet, and ensure that all 
references to good data management can be easily found in the bulletin subject 
index found on the bulletin page under the topic heading ‘Data and Statistics’ 

Pension dashboard update 
We reported in FPS Bulletin 32 – April 2020 that the Pension Dashboard Programme 
(PDP) had released two working papers outlining the Programme’s current thinking 
on data requirements for dashboards: 

Data scope: setting out options for achieving early coverage across all pension 

sectors. 

Page 24Page 66

http://www.fpsboard.org/index.php/about-the-board/board-meetings
https://www.pensions-ombudsman.org.uk/decision/2020/po-25899/yorkshire-clydesdale-bank-final-salary-scheme-and-bradford-bingley-staff
https://www.pensions-ombudsman.org.uk/decision/2020/po-25899/yorkshire-clydesdale-bank-final-salary-scheme-and-bradford-bingley-staff
https://www.pensions-ombudsman.org.uk/decision/2020/po-27002/royal-mail-statutory-pension-scheme-po-27002
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/admin/APBv1.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/admin/Twopensionsv1.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/admin/Twopensionsv1.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/admin/PPAv1.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/events/data
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/admin/TPR-data-scoring-2019-clean.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/admin/Data-score-weighting.xlsx
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Meeting%20GDPR%20and%20TPR%20data%20requirements%20%20-%2029%20March.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Legal/GDPR/GDPRFirePN.docx
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/admin/TPR-6-key-processes.v1.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/bulletins-and-circulars/bulletins
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Bulletins/Bulletin-32-April-2020/Bulletin-32.pdf
https://maps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/pdp-data-scope-working-paper.pdf


 
 
 

11 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

Data definitions: listing the set of data items that could be included in the dashboards 

data standards. 

Following a delay in consultation due to the outbreak of coronavirus, the call for input 
on the papers will open on 6 July 2020.  

More information on the status of the project can be found in the Money and Pension 
Service (MaPS) press release of 22 June 2020 and the newly launched PDP 
website.   

Transfer arrangements for CARE additional pension (FPS 2015) 
The Cabinet Office (who is responsible for the Club transfer rules) has confirmed that 
additional pension attached to CARE benefits (“CARE added pension”) cannot be 
transferred under Club arrangements. CARE added pension is extra pension the 
member has bought by paying additional pension contributions. 

The Club Memorandum sets out that added pension attached to final salary benefits 
should not be transferred under Club arrangements (under the “outer Club” rules). 
When a member with added pension takes an outer-Club transfer, the transfer value 
must be calculated in two parts: the final salary element, calculated on Outer-Club 
terms; and the added pension element calculated on non-Club terms. Our LGPS 
colleagues queried with the Cabinet Office whether this also applies when a member 
with CARE added pension takes an inner-Club transfer, as it did not appear to be 
covered in the Memorandum. 

After consulting with GAD, the Cabinet Office has informed the LGA that the Club 
arrangements should also not apply to CARE added pension. This is because “the 
value of accrued Added Pension is not affected by an active service link, so it has no 
need of the Club.”  

The Cabinet Office will update the Memorandum accordingly at its next review. In the 
meantime, they will send an update to all relevant public service pension schemes. 

Events 

FPS coffee mornings 
We are continuing to run our online coffee mornings every second Tuesday while 
social distancing measures remain in place. These informal sessions lasting up to an 
hour allow practitioners to catch up with colleagues and hear a brief update on FPS 
issues from the LGA Bluelight team. 

The next event is scheduled to take place on 14 July 2020. 

Future sessions will be held using Microsoft Teams, as not all organisations allow 
access to Zoom.  

  

Page 25Page 67

https://maps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/pdp-data-definitions-working-paper.pdf
https://moneyandpensionsservice.org.uk/2020/06/22/pensions-dashboards-programme-starts-market-engagement/
https://moneyandpensionsservice.org.uk/2020/06/22/pensions-dashboards-programme-starts-market-engagement/
https://www.pensionsdashboardsprogramme.org.uk/
https://www.pensionsdashboardsprogramme.org.uk/
https://www.civilservicepensionscheme.org.uk/media/474506/club-memorandum-april-2019.pdf


 
 
 

12 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

If you would like to join us, please email bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk and we will 
forward the meeting link and any password needed.   

Please note that sessions should not be recorded. These sessions are informal and 
should not be construed as legal advice. 

 

No responsibility whatsoever will be assumed by LGA or their partners for any 
direct or consequential loss, financial or otherwise, damage or inconvenience, 
or any other obligation or liability incurred by readers relying on information 
shared in these sessions. 

Annual Local Pension Board wrap-up training 2020 
We are once again running our popular annual Local Pension Board (LPB) wrap-up 
session, for board members who are either new to the board or those wanting an 
opportunity to refresh themselves on the principles of governance for the Firefighters' 
Pension Schemes. Details of our previous wrap-up sessions can be found here. 

We are delighted to welcome Nick Gannon from TPR who will be joining us for a 
session on last year's TPR governance and administration survey results; you may 
wish to read the six key processes factsheet to refresh yourselves on the processes 
that TPR monitors. 

The second and final session is running via Zoom on 8 July, from 11:00 until 13:30, 
please click to view the full agenda. 

If you would like to participate click the link to request a place on the LPB wrap-up 
training 8 July 2020. 

HMRC 

HMRC newsletters/bulletins 
HMRC have published pension schemes newsletter 121 containing important 
updates and guidance on pension schemes. The following issues are covered: 
 

Page 26Page 68

mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk
http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/events/local-pension-board-wrap-up-training
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/admin/TPR-6-key-processes.v1.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Events/LPB-wrap-up-2020/LBP-wrap-up-training-agenda-2020.pdf
mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk?subject=Please%20can%20I%20request%20a%20place%20on%20the%208%20July%20pension%20board%20wrap%20up%20session
mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk?subject=Please%20can%20I%20request%20a%20place%20on%20the%208%20July%20pension%20board%20wrap%20up%20session


 
 
 

13 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

Pension schemes newsletter 121 – 25 June 2020 

• temporary changes to pension processes as a result of coronavirus (COVID-
19) 

• managing pension schemes service 

• real time information - cessation of earlier year updates and use of full 
payment submissions 

Legislation 

SI  Reference title 

2020/630 The Occupational and Personal Pension Schemes (Automatic 
Enrolment) (Amendment) Regulations 2020 

Useful links 

• The Firefighters’ Pensions (England) Scheme Advisory Board   
• FPS Regulations and Guidance  
• Khub Firefighters Pensions Discussion Forum  
• FPS1992 guidance and commentary  
• The Pensions Regulator Public Service Schemes   
• The Pensions Ombudsman  
• HMRC Pensions Tax Manual  
• LGA pensions website 

Contact details  

Clair Alcock (Senior Pension Adviser) 
Telephone: 020 7664 3189 
Email: clair.alcock@local.gov.uk   
 
Kevin Courtney (NPCC Pensions Adviser) 
Telephone: 020 7664 3202 
Email: kevin.courtney@local.gov.uk  
 
Claire Hey (Firefighters’ Pension Adviser) 
Telephone: 020 7664 3205 
Email: claire.hey@local.gov.uk  

  

Page 27Page 69

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pension-schemes-newsletter-121-june-2020/pension-schemes-newsletter-121-june-2020
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/630/contents/made
http://www.fpsboard.org/
http://www.fpsregs.org/
https://khub.net/group/thefirefighterspensionsdiscussionforum
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120919152859tf_/http:/www.communities.gov.uk/fire/firerescueservice/firefighterpensions/firefighterspensionscheme/
http://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/public-service-schemes.aspx
https://www.pensions-ombudsman.org.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/hmrc-internal-manuals/pensions-tax-manual
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/workforce-and-hr-support/local-government-pensions
mailto:clair.alcock@local.gov.uk
mailto:kevin.courtney@local.gov.uk
mailto:claire.hey@local.gov.uk


 
 
 

14 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

Copyright 

Copyright remains with Local Government Association (LGA). This bulletin may be 

reproduced without the prior permission of LGA provided it is not used for commercial 

gain, the source is acknowledged and, if regulations are reproduced, the Crown 

Copyright Policy Guidance issued by HMSO is adhered to. 

Disclaimer 

The information contained in this bulletin has been prepared by the Bluelight Pensions 

team, part of the Local Government Association (LGA). It represents the views of the 

team and should not be treated as a complete and authoritative statement of the law. 

Readers may wish, or will need, to take their own legal advice on the interpretation of 

legislation. No responsibility whatsoever will be assumed by the LGA for any direct or 

consequential loss, financial or otherwise, damage or inconvenience, or any other 

obligation or liability incurred by readers relying on information contained in this 

bulletin.  

While every attempt is made to ensure the accuracy of the bulletin, it would be helpful 

if readers could bring any perceived errors or omissions to the attention of the Bluelight 

team by emailing bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk. 

Page 28Page 70

mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk


FPS Bulletin 35 – July 2020 

Welcome to issue 35 of the Firefighters’ Pensions Schemes bulletin. 

We hope that readers remain safe and well.  

Although restrictions on travel and social distancing are gradually easing, face-to-
face meetings and training remain suspended for the time being. However, the 
Bluelight team are available at home by mobile, email or video (MS Teams, Skype, 
or Zoom).  

If you are looking for information on a certain topic, issue and content indexes are 
held on the main bulletin page of the website and are updated following each new 
issue. 

If you have any comments on this bulletin or suggested items for future issues, 
please email claire.hey@local.gov.uk.  

Page 29Page 71

Appendix 6

http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/covid-19-and-the-fps
http://fpsregs.org/index.php/bulletins-and-circulars/bulletins
mailto:claire.hey@local.gov.uk


 
 
 

2 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

Contents 

Contents 2 

Calendar of events 3 

Actions arising 3 

FPS 4 

Sargeant remedy consultation published 4 

Raising tax awareness through job advertisements – update 5 

FPS England – 2020 valuation update 5 

Website and resources update 5 

July query log 6 

FPS England SAB updates 6 

Template administration strategy consultation – reminder 6 

SAB levy 2020-21 6 

Other News and Updates 7 

Equalisation of male survivor benefits in public service pension schemes 7 

Government response to the consultation on restriction of exit payments in the 

public sector 7 

Government launch call for evidence on pensions tax relief 8 

TPO publish corporate plan 2020–2023 8 

TPR publish corporate plan 2020-2021 8 

PASA launches G M P equalisation guidance 8 

Events 9 

FPS AGM – save the date(s): 22 and 23 September 2020 9 

FPS coffee mornings 9 

Local Pension Board wrap-up training 2020 – event summary 9 

HMRC 10 

HMRC newsletters/bulletins 10 

Useful links 10 

Contact details 10 

Copyright 11 

Disclaimer 11 

 

Page 30Page 72



 
 
 

3 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

Calendar of events 

Please see below a calendar of upcoming events relevant to the Firefighters’ 
Pension Schemes.  Only those events which are hyperlinked are currently available 
to book. If you have any events you would like to be included in a future bulletin, 
please email claire.hey@local.gov.uk 

Table 1: Calendar of events 

Event  Date 

Virtual Eastern regional FPOG 20 August 2020  

FPS coffee and catch up  Every second Tuesday from 1 
September 2020 

Virtual Fire Communications Working 
Group 

7 September 2020 

Virtual special SAB 3 September 2020 

North East regional FPOG – TBC 16 September 2020 

Virtual SAB 17 September 2020 

Virtual Firefighter Pensions Technical 
Community 

22 September 2020 

Virtual FPS AGM 22-23 September 2020 

Fire Finance Network conference  7-8 October 2020 

SAB 10 December 2020 

Actions arising 

Readers are asked to note the following actions arising from the bulletin: 

Raising tax awareness: FRAs to include relevant wording on job adverts. 

Template administration strategy consultation: all interested parties to respond to 
consultation by 31 August 2020. 

  

Page 31Page 73

mailto:claire.hey@local.gov.uk
mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk?subject=Please%20add%20me%20to%20the%20coffee%20morning%20invite%20list
https://sclapham9.wixsite.com/website-3


 
 
 

4 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

FPS 

Sargeant remedy consultation published 
On 16 July 2020, HM Treasury (HMT) published their consultation on proposals to 
remove age discrimination from the unfunded public service pension schemes in line 
with the result of the McCloud/Sargeant case, together with an update on the 
employer cost cap process. These were accompanied by a statement from the Chief 
Secretary to the Treasury. 

The consultation relates to members of the unfunded public service schemes 
including Fire, Teachers and Police. A separate consultation on remedying age 
discrimination within the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) (amending the 
statutory underpin) was issued on the same date by the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities & Local Government (MHCLG). 

We will be issuing further commentary on the consultation once we have had an 
opportunity to review, however the major proposals by HMT are that: 

• Protections will be extended to cover all unfunded scheme members who 
were in active scheme membership on 31 March 2012 and have membership 
in the reformed schemes (without a 5-year break) regardless of whether they 
have made a claim to a tribunal on this matter 

• Protection will take the form of the right to membership of the relevant 
unfunded final salary scheme during the protected period which runs from 1 
April 2015 to 31 March 2022 

• Protection will be backdated for qualifying members even if they have left the 
scheme since the start of the protected period 

• Accrual in all unfunded final salary schemes for existing and new protected 
members will cease at the end of the protected period 31 March 2022 

• Protected members will be given the opportunity to elect for benefits accrued 
during the protected period to be calculated on a CARE basis as an 
alternative to protected final salary benefits 

• There are two proposals for when the election is to be made – immediate 
(soon after the proposals are in force) or deferred (when the member takes 
their benefits) 

For ease, we have collated the consultation questions into a separate document. A 
more detailed review of the proposals contained within the consultation will follow 
soon and all information can be found on our new webpage Age Discrimination 
Remedy (Sargeant).  

  

Page 32Page 74

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/900766/Public_Service_Pensions_Consultation.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/900766/Public_Service_Pensions_Consultation.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/900856/Update_on_the_Cost_Control_Element_of_the_2016_Valuations.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/900856/Update_on_the_Cost_Control_Element_of_the_2016_Valuations.pdf
https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2020-07-16/HCWS380/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2020-07-16/HCWS380/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/901173/Condoc_-_amendments_to_LGPS_underpin_-_FOR_PUBLICATION.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/901173/Condoc_-_amendments_to_LGPS_underpin_-_FOR_PUBLICATION.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Age-discrimination/Public-Service-Pensions-Consultation-questions.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/legal-landscape/age-discrimination-remedy-sargeant
http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/legal-landscape/age-discrimination-remedy-sargeant


 
 
 

5 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

The employer cost cap process, applicable to all public service pension schemes 
including the FPS is currently paused and will now be restarted. We understand that 
HMT’s objective would be to complete the process by next year, taking into account 
the cost of the proposals to remedy age discrimination as set out in the consultation. 

Raising tax awareness through job advertisements – update 
Following our article in FPS Bulletin 34 – June 2020 on raising tax awareness, it has 
been pointed out that the wording was written to exclude temporary promotions from 
pensionable pay, whereas an FRA may exercise their discretion to treat this pay as 
pensionable by way of an Additional Pension Benefit (APB). 

We therefore suggest the following optional paragraphs: 

Temporary Promotions/Positions 

Non-pensionable  

Please note that any period of ‘temporary’, whether that is by way of promotion or 
allowances associated with a temporary position, will be treated as non-pensionable.  

Pensionable as an APB  

Please note that any period of ‘temporary’, whether that is by way of promotion or 
allowances associated with a temporary position, will be treated as pensionable by 
way of an Additional Pension Benefit (APB).  

FPS England – 2020 valuation update 
The Government Actuary’s Department (GAD) have advised that they are close to 
being able to provide FPS administrators with the 2020 valuation data collection 
spreadsheet. Due to the size of the spreadsheet, GAD will be providing this to 
administrators via a secure transfer area instead of an open link. 

Contact details for each administrator have been provided to GAD, who will send an 
email setting out the process for receiving, completing and sending the data sheet  

Contacts will then receive a further email giving them access to a secure data area in 
which the data collection spreadsheets will be stored, along with an email address to 
use for any queries. 

Website and resources update 
As previously detailed, we have created a separate page on age discrimination 
remedy (Sargeant) which holds a timeline of the 2015 scheme reforms and 
subsequent legal challenges. You can also find the documents relating to the HMT 
consultation. We will continue to update this page as the consultation period 
progresses, so please check back for new information.  

The related legislation page has been updated to include HMT Directions which have 
an impact on the FPS.   

Page 33Page 75

http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Bulletins/Bulletin-34-June-2020/Bulletin-34.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/admin/APBv1.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/admin/APBv1.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/legal-landscape/age-discrimination-remedy-sargeant
http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/legal-landscape/age-discrimination-remedy-sargeant
http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/legal-landscape/related-legislation


 
 
 

6 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

The following pages have been added to the member-restricted section of the 
Firefighters’ Pension Schemes Regulations and Guidance website this month. If you 
require log-in details for this area, please email bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk.  

Contributions holiday. This page has been created to hold legislation and 
resources relating to the employee contributions holiday for FPS 1992 members who 
accrued or could accrue the maximum 30 years’ pensionable service prior to age 50 

July query log 
The current log of queries and responses is available on the FPS Regulations and 
Guidance website. The queries have been anonymised and divided into topics. The 
log will be updated on a monthly basis in line with the bulletin release dates.  

Queries from earlier months have been grey-shaded to differentiate from new items 
added in July.  

FPS England SAB updates 

Template administration strategy consultation – reminder 
A reminder that we have a separate consultation running until the end of August on 
the draft template administration strategy.  

The document has been developed with the Fire Communications Working Group 
(FCWG) and SAB administration and benchmarking committee to set out the roles 
and expectations of scheme managers and administrators, and improve 
communication and engagement between both parties. More information on the 
background to this work is available in FPS Bulletin 34 – June 2020.   

While stakeholder groups have been involved in the development of the draft, it is 
essential for us to hear the views of the wider FPS community to deliver a strategy 
that is fit for purpose and fully incorporates all aspects of administration, 
management, and governance of the schemes. Please take the opportunity to have 
your say by answering the questions in the consultation document.  

The consultation will run until 31 August 2020 and responses should be sent to 
bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk. 

SAB levy 2020-21 
Under arrangements for the Firefighters’ Pension Scheme 2014 regulations 4H(1), 

the Scheme Advisory Board are required to set an annual budget for approval by the 

Secretary of State.  

We are currently awaiting approval of the 2020-21 budget by the minister and expect 
that we will start the collection process in August/ September. A letter will be sent to 
Chief Fire Officers to request a purchase order number. 

  

Page 34Page 76

http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/
mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk
http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/member-area/contributions-holiday
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/admin/Technical-query-log-300720.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Bulletins/Bulletin-34-June-2020/Bulletin-34-Appendix-2-Draft-FPS-admin-strategy-June-2020.pdf
http://www.fpsboard.org/index.php/board-committees/administration-and-benchmarking
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Bulletins/Bulletin-34-June-2020/Bulletin-34.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Bulletins/Bulletin-34-June-2020/Bulletin-34-Appendix-1-PAS-con-doc.pdf
mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/465/regulation/4/made


 
 
 

7 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

Included in the final levy is the employers’ voluntary subscription that FRAs entered 
into a shared agreement in 2014 in order to fund support with FRAs understanding 
and management of the FPS.  

Other News and Updates 

Equalisation of male survivor benefits in public service pension 
schemes 
The Chief Secretary to the Treasury has made written statement HCWS397 on 
public service pensions: survivor benefits for opposite–sex widowers and surviving 
male civil partners.  

The statement was in relation to a Teachers' Pension Scheme Employment Tribunal 
case where "male survivors of female scheme members remain entitled to a lower 
survivor benefit than a comparable same-sex survivor" and confirmed that 
"government believes that this difference in treatment will also need to be remedied 
in those other public service pension schemes, where the husband or male civil 
partner of a female scheme member is in similar circumstances". 

Part C of the FPS 1992 regulations, Awards on Death – Spouses, does not 
differentiate between a male or female survivor. The definition of a surviving spouse 
is given as a widow or widower. Therefore, the benefits from the scheme are already 
equalised and we do not consider that any amendments to Part C are needed. 

However, Rule J1(2)(c) in relation to Guaranteed Minimum Pensions (GMP) states: 

(c)in the case of a woman who dies at any time and leaves a widower, the widower 
is entitled to a pension at a weekly rate equal to half of that part of the deceased’s 
guaranteed minimum which is attributable to earnings factors for the tax year 1988—
89 and subsequent tax years. 

This rule is inserted further to section 17(4) of Pension Schemes Act 1993. We await 
to see whether the primary legislation is amended.  

Government response to the consultation on restriction of exit 
payments in the public sector  
The government has now published its response to the consultation on restricting 
exit payments in the public sector, often referred to as the £95k cap. A reminder of 
what the cap means for the Firefighters' Pension Schemes (FPS) is available in 
our technical note. 

The SAB response to the consultation welcomed the exemptions applied for the 
Firefighters' schemes but noted that in some limited circumstances of authority 
initiated early retirement, the cap would still apply and that changes to the FPS and 
related statutory GAD guidance would be necessary in order to comply with the cap. 
We will take this forward with the Home Office. 

Page 35Page 77

https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2020-07-20/HCWS397/
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1992/129/schedule/2/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1993/48/section/17/enacted
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/restricting-exit-payments-in-the-public-sector
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/restricting-exit-payments-in-the-public-sector
http://www.fpsboard.org/images/PDF/Consultations/Technote5.0519.pdf
http://www.fpsboard.org/images/PDF/Consultations/Exitcap020719.pdf


 
 
 

8 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

Government launch call for evidence on pensions tax relief 
On 21 July 2020, HMT launched a call for evidence on pensions tax relief 
administration for members who receive tax relief at a different rate to their highest 
marginal rate.  

This has the scope to affect an individual’s take-home pay, particularly those earning 
below the tax threshold, depending on whether their employer operates a net-pay or 
relief at source arrangement.   

The government wish to explore feasible and deliverable options for change to the 
system which would produce fairer outcomes and are easily understandable. The 
call for evidence closes on 13 October 2020. 

TPO publish corporate plan 2020–2023 
The Pensions Ombudsman (TPO) published its corporate plan on 14 July 2020, 
outlining its strategic aims for the next three years and providing updated key 
performance indicators for 2020-21. The plan also includes information on the 
potential impact of COVID-19 on the Ombudsman’s activities.  

TPO’s focus remains on improving the customer experience by resolving disputes at 
an early stage, making the process quicker and easier for all parties. 

TPO corporate plan 2020-2023 

TPO also published its annual report and accounts for 2019-20 on 16 July 2020.  

TPR publish corporate plan 2020-2021 
On 29 June 2020 the Pensions Regulator (TPR) published its Corporate Plan 2020-
21, setting out its priorities for the coming year. Publication was delayed as TPR 
revised its plans to respond to the challenges presented by the COVID-19 pandemic.  

All of TPR’s resources relating to COVID-19 can be accessed here: COVID-19 
(coronavirus): what you need to consider. 

PASA launches G M P equalisation guidance 
On 14 July 2020, the cross-industry G M P Working Group, chaired by the Pensions 
Administration Standards Association (PASA), published guidance on the data 
required for G M P Equalisation.  

The aim of the guidance is to help pension schemes understand the steps they can 
take now to get their data ready for equalisation. You can find the G M P Equalisation 
Data Guidance on the PASA website.  

  

Page 36Page 78

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/902338/Pensions_tax_relief_administration_CfE_docx.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/902338/Pensions_tax_relief_administration_CfE_docx.pdf
https://www.pensions-ombudsman.org.uk/sites/default/files/publication/files/Corporate%20plan%2014%20July%202020.pdf
https://www.pensions-ombudsman.org.uk/sites/default/files/publication/files/TPO-AnnualReport-WEB.pdf
https://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/en/document-library/corporate-information/corporate-plans/corporate-plan-2020-21?utm_source=eNews_July_2020&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=eNews&utm_content=17905
https://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/en/document-library/corporate-information/corporate-plans/corporate-plan-2020-21?utm_source=eNews_July_2020&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=eNews&utm_content=17905
https://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/en/covid-19-coronavirus-what-you-need-to-consider
https://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/en/covid-19-coronavirus-what-you-need-to-consider
https://www.pasa-uk.com/guidance/gmp-equalisation/gmp-equalisation-data-guidance/
https://www.pasa-uk.com/guidance/gmp-equalisation/gmp-equalisation-data-guidance/


 
 
 

9 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

Events 

FPS AGM – save the date(s): 22 and 23 September 2020 
We are considering what our offer for a virtual AGM run across two days as usual 
could look like and hope to finalise this shortly.  Please hold the dates in your diary 
and we will issue invitations and an agenda in the next few weeks.  

FPS coffee mornings 
We are continuing to run our MS Teams coffee mornings every second Tuesday 
while social distancing measures remain in place. These informal sessions lasting up 
to an hour allow practitioners to catch up with colleagues and hear a brief update on 
FPS issues from the LGA Bluelight team.  

We are taking a break over August due to the traditional holiday period, although this 
may look a little different for many this year. The next event is scheduled to take 
place on 1 September 2020. 

If you would like to join us, please email bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk and we will 
add you to the invite list for the sessions.   

Local Pension Board wrap-up training 2020 – event summary 
We were pleased to deliver our first Zoom training events to Local Pension Board 
(LPB) members and advisors on 10 June and 8 July 2020.  

First up was a slightly challenging virtual group “discussion” on the role of and 
challenges to the board using Slido! Following this, Clair Alcock gave a pre-
consultation update on age discrimination remedy.  

Nick Gannon from TPR then joined us to give an update on the outcomes from the 
Regulator’s 2019 governance and administration survey.  

Attendees heard a brief update on the different stakeholders involved in the 
administration and management of the FPS, and the interdependencies between 
them. This was followed by an in-depth look at the six key principles or processes of 
good governance from our resident expert, Clair.  

The full slides from the 8 July session are available to view and we intend to upload 
recordings of the main sessions to our password-protected videos and webinar 
recordings page in due course. 

  

Page 37Page 79

mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/admin/Management-Governancev1.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/admin/Management-Governancev1.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/admin/TPR-6-key-processes.v1.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Events/LPB-wrap-up-2020/LPB-wrap-up-training-2020-presentation.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/member-area/videos-and-webinar-recordings
http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/member-area/videos-and-webinar-recordings


 
 
 

10 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

HMRC 

HMRC newsletters/bulletins 
HMRC have published the following newsletters in July:  

• GMP equalisation newsletter – 16 July 2020   

• Managing Pension Schemes Service newsletter – 21 July 2020 

Useful links 

• The Firefighters’ Pensions (England) Scheme Advisory Board   
• FPS Regulations and Guidance  

• Khub Firefighters Pensions Discussion Forum  

• FPS1992 guidance and commentary  

• The Pensions Regulator Public Service Schemes   

• The Pensions Ombudsman  

• HMRC Pensions Tax Manual  

• LGA pensions website 

• LGPS Regulations and Guidance 

• LGPS member site 

Contact details  

Clair Alcock (Senior Pension Adviser) 
Telephone: 020 7664 3189 
Email: clair.alcock@local.gov.uk   
 
Kevin Courtney (NPCC Pensions Adviser) 
Telephone: 020 7664 3202 
Email: kevin.courtney@local.gov.uk  
 
Claire Hey (Firefighters’ Pension Adviser) 
Telephone: 020 7664 3205 
Email: claire.hey@local.gov.uk  

  

Page 38Page 80

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guaranteed-minimum-pension-gmp-equalisation-newsletter-july-2020/guaranteed-minimum-pension-gmp-equalisation-newsletter-july-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/managing-pension-schemes-service-newsletter-july-2020/managing-pension-schemes-service-newsletter-july-2020
http://www.fpsboard.org/
http://www.fpsregs.org/
https://khub.net/group/thefirefighterspensionsdiscussionforum
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120919152859tf_/http:/www.communities.gov.uk/fire/firerescueservice/firefighterpensions/firefighterspensionscheme/
http://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/public-service-schemes.aspx
https://www.pensions-ombudsman.org.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/hmrc-internal-manuals/pensions-tax-manual
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/workforce-and-hr-support/local-government-pensions
https://www.lgpsregs.org/
https://www.lgpsmember.org/
mailto:clair.alcock@local.gov.uk
mailto:kevin.courtney@local.gov.uk
mailto:claire.hey@local.gov.uk


 
 
 

11 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

Copyright 

Copyright remains with Local Government Association (LGA). This bulletin may be 

reproduced without the prior permission of LGA provided it is not used for commercial 

gain, the source is acknowledged and, if regulations are reproduced, the Crown 

Copyright Policy Guidance issued by HMSO is adhered to. 

Disclaimer 

The information contained in this bulletin has been prepared by the Bluelight Pensions 

team, part of the Local Government Association (LGA). It represents the views of the 

team and should not be treated as a complete and authoritative statement of the law. 

Readers may wish, or will need, to take their own legal advice on the interpretation of 

legislation. No responsibility whatsoever will be assumed by the LGA for any direct or 

consequential loss, financial or otherwise, damage or inconvenience, or any other 

obligation or liability incurred by readers relying on information contained in this 

bulletin.  

While every attempt is made to ensure the accuracy of the bulletin, it would be helpful 

if readers could bring any perceived errors or omissions to the attention of the Bluelight 

team by emailing bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk. 

Page 39Page 81

mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



FPS Bulletin 36 – August 2020 

Welcome to issue 36 of the Firefighters’ Pensions Schemes bulletin. 

We hope that readers remain safe and well.  

Although restrictions on travel and social distancing are gradually easing, face-to-
face meetings and training remain suspended for the time being. However, the 
Bluelight team are available at home by mobile, email or video (MS Teams, Skype, 
or Zoom).  

If you are looking for information on a certain topic, issue and content indexes are 
held on the main bulletin page of the website and are updated following each new 
issue. 

If you have any comments on this bulletin or suggested items for future issues, 
please email claire.hey@local.gov.uk.  

Page 40Page 83

Appendix 7

http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/covid-19-and-the-fps
http://fpsregs.org/index.php/bulletins-and-circulars/bulletins
mailto:claire.hey@local.gov.uk


 
 
 

2 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

Contents 

Calendar of events 3 

Actions arising 3 

FPS 4 

Home Office collection of FPS forecasts for 2019-20 to 2025-26 4 

Home Office immediate detriment note published 4 

Medical Appeal Boards - service update 5 

FPS England – 2020 valuation data collection 5 

Consultation on FPS Wales 6 

Website and resources update 6 

August query log 6 

FPS England SAB updates 7 

New Chair of the FPS (England) Scheme Advisory Board 7 

SAB informal response to initial HMT remedy thinking 7 

COVID-19 FPS governance survey update 8 

Other News and Updates 8 

The Pensions Regulator (TPR) scheme return 2019-20 8 

PSPS survey – modernisation of GAD’s actuarial factors 9 

The Pensions Ombudsman (TPO) stakeholder newsletter 9 

Events 9 

Virtual FPS AGM 22 and 23 September 2020 9 

FPS coffee mornings 10 

HMRC 10 

HMRC newsletters/bulletins 10 

Legislation 11 

Useful links 11 

Contact details 12 

Copyright 12 

Disclaimer 12 

 

Page 41Page 84



 
 
 

3 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

Calendar of events 

Please see below a calendar of upcoming events relevant to the Firefighters’ 
Pension Schemes.  Only those events which are hyperlinked are currently available 
to book. If you have any events you would like to be included in a future bulletin, 
please email claire.hey@local.gov.uk 

Table 1: Calendar of events 

Event  Date 

FPS coffee and catch up  Every second Tuesday from 1 
September 2020 

Virtual Fire Communications Working 
Group 

7 September 2020 

Virtual special SAB 3 September 2020 

North East regional FPOG – TBC 16 September 2020 

Virtual SAB 17 September 2020 

Virtual Firefighter Pensions Technical 
Community 

22 September 2020 

Virtual FPS AGM 
FPS AGM - Day 1 - Tues 22 Sept 2020 
FPS AGM - Day 2 - Weds 23 Sept 2020 
 

22-23 September 2020 

Fire Finance Network conference  7-8 October 2020 

SAB 10 December 2020 

Actions arising 

Readers are asked to note the following actions arising from the bulletin: 

Home Office collection of FPS forecasts: FRAs in England to submit details of their 
pension income/expenditure forecasts for the period 2019-20 to 2025-26, by 9 
September 2020. 

FPS England - 2020 valuation: Administrators to check that information from GAD 
concerning the data collection spreadsheet has been received. 

PSPS survey – GAD factors: Users of GAD factors and guidance notes to complete 
survey to inform new website design.  

FPS AGM 2020: Book your place now! 

  

Page 42Page 85

mailto:claire.hey@local.gov.uk
mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk?subject=Please%20add%20me%20to%20the%20coffee%20morning%20invite%20list
mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk?subject=Please%20book%20my%20place%20on%20day%201%20of%20the%20FPS%20AGM%202020
mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk?subject=Please%20book%20my%20place%20on%20day%202%20of%20the%20FPS%20AGM%202020
https://sclapham9.wixsite.com/website-3


 
 
 

4 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

FPS 

Home Office collection of FPS forecasts for 2019-20 to 2025-26 
On 3 August 2020 the Home Office emailed all FRAs in England to request 
submission of their pension income/expenditure forecasts for the period 2019-20 to 
2025-26. 

The formal commissioning letter at Appendix 1 sets out the centrally prescribed 
assumptions that must be applied when calculating pension income and expenditure 
forecasts. The forms can be accessed on DELTA. The deadline for submissions is 
Wednesday 9 September 2020.  

FRAs are also required to complete the Excel table at Appendix 2 in order to declare 
the local assumptions that they have applied to calculate their pension estimates. 
The prescribed assumptions that FRAs should use for CPI percentage increases, 
pay increases and employer contribution rates for the forecasting period have 
already been pre-populated on the table. Please note that payment of the 2021 Top 
Up grant will be conditional on its completion and incomplete tables will be returned 
to FRAs.  

For the avoidance of any confusion, there are two returns required by 9 
September 2020: 

1. The online DELTA returns setting out the 6-year forecast of pension income and 
expenditure. 

2. Assumptions returns (email direct to anthony.mooney@homeoffice.gov.uk 
attaching the completed table above).  

FRAs are reminded that forecast pension accounting data is being subjected to an 
ever-increasing scrutiny and, as such, they should ensure that processes are in 
place to ensure that they have a robust methodology to calculate these. Best 
practice forecasting guidance was published by the Pension Forecasting Working 
Group in July 2019. 

Home Office immediate detriment note published 
Readers may be aware that the Home Office issued a note direct to finance directors 
at FRAs on 21 August 2020 regarding the treatment of immediate detriment cases in 
the age discrimination proceedings.  

While we welcome progress towards arriving at a position for employers to fulfil the 
terms of the employment tribunal’s interim remedy order, unfortunately, the prior 
commitment to share this note with the LGA before issuing to FRAs was not met by 
the Home Office so we are now in the position of retrospectively reviewing the note 
and its implications.   

  

Page 43Page 86

http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Bulletins/Bulletin-36-August-2020/Bulletin-36-Appendix-1-FPF1-DELTA-notification-letter-Sept-2020.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Bulletins/Bulletin-36-August-2020/Bulletin-36-Appendix-2-FRA-assumptions-Sept-2020.xlsx
mailto:anthony.mooney@homeoffice.gov.uk
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/admin/Forecasting0719.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/admin/Forecasting0719.pdf


 
 
 

5 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

We have received a number of queries from FRAs and stakeholders on the effect of 
the guidance and have raised a number of points with the Home Office both of a 
technical nature and confirmation that due consideration has been given to other 
implications.   

At present, given the note is labelled as informal guidance we believe this means 
that FRAs would still need to make their own interpretations and possibly take legal 
advice, and therefore does not constitute the detailed guidance that administrators 
and FRAs would need in order to ensure consistency.   

The Home Office have confirmed that they are discussing our questions with 

colleagues in HM Treasury in order to provide a reply as soon as possible; we have 

asked them to separately urgently confirm via written reply what they consider the 

legal status of this document to be and their expectations of FRAs to comply 

While we await a response from the Home Office you will need to consider, no doubt 

along with your legal advisers, whether you feel you have sufficient information and 

clarity to be able to act upon the guidance at this time. 

We will provide a further update, once we have heard further from the Home Office 

and HMT. 

Medical Appeal Boards - service update 
You may have been aware that Duradiamond, the current contracted provider of 
medical appeals, temporarily suspended appeal hearings for three months from the 
end of March. 

We have recently been notified of an email sent from Duradiamond on 7 July 
2020 to confirm the following: 

"We are pleased to advise that Duradiamond Healthcare is recommencing the 
organisation and holding of Police and Fire Medical Appeal Board Hearings from this 
week onwards. 

The service will be running in a slightly amended format to begin with to reduce 
infection risk to board members and the participating parties. Therefore, initial 
hearings will be held in London in a COVID-19 safe manner. However, we will be in 
touch with all Authorities who have cases lodged with us to discuss arrangements 
and attendance in further detail. 

In the meantime, please do send any pending cases in to Duradiamond Healthcare 
and we will acknowledge and process accordingly." 

FPS England – 2020 valuation data collection  
On 21 August 2020 the Government Actuary’s Department (GAD) emailed FPS 
administrators to confirm the process for accessing the data collection spreadsheet 
for the 2020 valuation. Due to its size it cannot be delivered by email and instead will 
be accessible using GAD’s secure transfer system. 

Page 44Page 87



 
 
 

6 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

A further email should now have been sent from workspace@egresscloud.com (or 
similar address, please check your spam filters as GAD find some firewalls can catch 
the email). Following the link in this email will take you to the secure data area where 
you will find a copy of the spreadsheet and a user guide. The spreadsheet is to be 
used conjunction with the data specification supplied in June. Note the deadline for 
the return of the completed spreadsheet is 31 December 2020. If you have any 
issues with the secure transfer area please send an email to 
Fire.2020Valuation@gad.gov.uk. 

Contact details for each administrator were provided to GAD by the LGA, so if you 
are not aware that either email has been received or you want to check who they 
were sent to, please email bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk.  

Consultation on FPS Wales 
On 10 July 2020, the Welsh Government published a consultation on various 
amendments to the various firefighter pension schemes and the 2007 Compensation 
Scheme in Wales. 

The proposed amendments address the Supreme Court rulings of: 

• Walker v Innospec, which has resulted in necessary changes to survivor 
benefits for civil partners and same sex spouses 

• McLaughlin, which has affected the pension entitlements of children of 
unmarried parents 

The consultation also covers proposed unrelated amendments to the 1992 Scheme, 
the New Firefighters’ Pension Scheme (Wales) (the 2007 Scheme), and the 
Firefighters’ Pension Scheme Wales) 2015 (the 2015 Scheme) in respect of the 
calculation of split pensions, pension sharing on divorce, special member 
commutation factors, and club transfer value payments. 

Website and resources update 
News archive pages for 2018 and 2019 have been created on the FPS Regulations 
and Guidance and Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) websites to hold stories from the 
homepages relating to earlier calendar years.  

• News archive 2018 – Regulations and Guidance  

• News archive 2019 – Regulations and Guidance  

• News archive 2018 – SAB 

• News archive 2019 – SAB 

August query log 
The current log of queries and responses is available on the FPS Regulations and 
Guidance website. The queries have been anonymised and divided into topics. The 
log will be updated on a monthly basis in line with the bulletin release dates.  

Page 45Page 88

mailto:Fire.2020Valuation@gad.gov.uk
mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk
https://gov.wales/amendments-firefighter-pension-schemes-wales-2020
https://gov.wales/amendments-firefighter-pension-schemes-wales-2020
https://www.bailii.org/uk/cases/UKSC/2017/47.html
https://www.bailii.org/uk/cases/UKSC/2018/48.html
http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/bulletins-and-circulars/news-archive-2018
http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/bulletins-and-circulars/news-archive-2019
http://www.fpsboard.org/index.php/board-publications/news-archive-2018
http://www.fpsboard.org/index.php/board-publications/news-archive-2019
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/admin/Technical-query-log-280820.pdf


 
 
 

7 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

Queries from earlier months have been grey shaded to differentiate from new items 
added in August. New queries have been added under the following categories: FPS 
2006 special members, ill-health retirement, salary sacrifice, and survivor’s pension. 

FPS England SAB updates 

New Chair of the FPS (England) Scheme Advisory Board 
We are delighted to confirm that the new Chair of the Firefighters’ Pension Scheme 
Advisory Board (SAB) of England has been appointed.  

Joanne Livingstone begins her four-year appointment as Chair on 
17 August 2020.  

Joanne has extensive experience relating to pensions across the 
public and private sectors. She is an Adviser to the Judicial 
Pensions Committee; she also serves as the Chair of Trustees for 
the Liberty Europe Pension Scheme and is a Practitioner member of 
the Actuarial Council among other roles. 

Please visit the SAB Board membership webpage for more information. 

SAB informal response to initial HMT remedy thinking 
The HMT consultation on age discrimination references at paragraph 1.21 the 
informal technical discussions held with scheme administrators and employer and 
member representatives earlier this year. The Firefighters' Pensions (England) 
Scheme Advisory Board has now published its informal response dated 2 April 2020 
to those technical discussions. 

Within the response the Board highlighted the following points: 

• The lack of information available to them in order to fully assess the impact of 
the proposals, including at that time no mention of post remedy plans 

• The considerable challenge administrating the remedy would present to 
locally administered unfunded schemes 

• Concern that a default to the final salary scheme, may not be appropriate for 
some members in the FPS 2006 

• An immediate need for guidance on processing immediate cases.  

The Board will submit a full response to the formal consultation by the deadline of 11 
October 2020. 

  

Page 46Page 89

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-chair-of-firefighters-pension-scheme-advisory-board-of-england-appointed
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-chair-of-firefighters-pension-scheme-advisory-board-of-england-appointed
http://www.fpsboard.org/index.php/about-the-board/board-membership
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/900766/Public_Service_Pensions_Consultation.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Age-discrimination/SAB-response-to-informal-HMT-remedy-propsals-2-April-2020.pdf


 
 
 

8 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

COVID-19 FPS governance survey update 
To measure the impact of the coronavirus pandemic on FPS governance, the 
Bluelight team surveyed FRAs during June and July. During that time responses 
were received from 26 of the 48 Fire and Rescue Authorities (FRAs) in England and 
Wales, equating to an overall response rate of approximately 54%. 

Almost all respondents confirmed that they have held or are planning to hold virtual 
Local Pension Board (LPB) meetings, with MS Teams being the preferred method. 
We were pleased to note that two-thirds said they had not experienced any issues 
with meeting online, although a quarter cited technical difficulties. 

In all cases, communication with scheme managers, administrators, and scheme 
members had not been affected, with just one reported instance of the current 
situation impacting on communication with the LPB.  

Eight in ten respondents did not expect costs in relation to pensions to increase due 
to COVID-19, and two authorities noted that costs had decreased due to savings on 
travel expenses for LPB members. 

There did not appear to be a high level of concern about any of the following due to 
changes in working practices: third-party providers e.g. administration, systems, 
consultants, advisers; potential increase of breaches of law; increased risk of cyber 
security issues or scams.  

Almost 90% of FRAs responding confirmed that their pensions risk register had been 
amended or there were plans to do so. New risks identified related to business 
continuity arrangements for administration, potential difficulty in recruitment, and lack 
of occupational health provision including the suspension of medical appeal boards. 

Based on the responses that were received, it is clear that FRAs have taken steps to 
mitigate any challenges arising from the current situation and are embracing online 
technology to fulfil their governance responsibilities. 

The full report will be issued to the SAB to note at their meeting on 17 September. 

Other News and Updates 

The Pensions Regulator (TPR) scheme return 2019-20 
The statutory TPR scheme return is scheduled to be released in Autumn in line with 
their usual timescales. A warm- up email will be issued to scheme manager contacts 
in the coming weeks.  

Information about completing and submitting a public service scheme return can be 
found on the TPR website. Schemes are advised to make sure that their contact 
details are up to date on the Exchange system.  

  

Page 47Page 90

https://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/en/public-service-pension-schemes/scheme-management/scheme-return-for-public-service-pension-schemes


 
 
 

9 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

For the first time in 2018, TPR asked schemes to measure the data they hold about 
their members and report this on the annual scheme return. In 2019 the LGA 
Bluelight team issued updated guidance on data scoring and a data score weighting 
template to allow schemes to assess the likely accuracy of their data and adjust the 
score accordingly. 

PSPS survey – modernisation of GAD’s actuarial factors 
GAD is in the process of creating a website that will hold actuarial factors and 
guidance notes for the FPS and is aiming for this to be accessible next year. The 
website will bring many benefits including having access to all the latest guidance 
notes and factors in one location. GAD envisages that moving the process of regular 
factor updates online will allow the process to be more consistent and streamlined, 
enabling them to provide you with a more efficient service in the future. 

GAD need your help 

They are in the initial design stages of the website and want to get a better 
understanding from schemes about how they use GAD’s factors and guidance notes 
so that this feedback can be incorporated into the design of the website. To do this 
they have created a survey to be completed by administrators and other users of the 
factor tables and notes. 

The GAD factors guidance feedback survey is to be completed by 20 September 
2020. 

If you have any technical difficulties in accessing the surveys, please contact GAD 
immediately on enquiries@gad.gov.uk. 

Your views are very important to GAD, and they thank you in advance for your 
participation in the survey. 

The Pensions Ombudsman (TPO) stakeholder newsletter  
TPO have published the latest issue of their stakeholder newsletter: Issue 9 – 
August 2020. The newsletter includes details of TPO’s new Chief Operating Officer, 
a new structure for casework, and an update on the website project. 

Earlier communications from TPO and a full history of determinations in relation to 
the FPS are held on our TPO webpage. 

Events 

Virtual FPS AGM 22 and 23 September 2020 
We are delighted to offer our fire pensions annual conference – this year in a virtual 
format. 

  

Page 48Page 91

http://www.fpsregs.org/images/admin/TPR-data-scoring-2019-clean.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/admin/Data-score-weighting.xlsx
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/admin/Data-score-weighting.xlsx
https://www.surveymonkey.co.uk/r/MPJWRCZ
mailto:enquiries@gad.gov.uk
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Legal/TPO/TPO-stakeholder-newsletter-August-2020.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Legal/TPO/TPO-stakeholder-newsletter-August-2020.pdf
http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/legal-landscape/the-pensions-ombudsman


 
 
 

10 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

The event will be held across two days, with a governance focus on day 1 followed 
by virtual networking, and the full technical/ administration AGM on day 2. The theme 
for this year’s sessions is remedy. 

Details of our previous annual conferences can be found here. 

Delegates on both days will have the opportunity to meet the new chair of the 
England Scheme Advisory Board, Joanne Livingstone. 

We are pleased to welcome Nick Gannon from TPR on day 1, and a number of 
guest speakers for the sessions on day 2. Please see the draft agenda for more 
details. 

The event will be held on Zoom across 22 and 23 September 2020. 

If you would like to participate on either or both dates, please click the relevant link/s 
below: 

FPS AGM - Day 1 - Tues 22 Sept 2020 

FPS AGM - Day 2 - Weds 23 Sept 2020 

FPS coffee mornings 
We are continuing to run our MS Teams coffee mornings every second Tuesday 
while social distancing measures remain in place. These informal sessions lasting up 
to an hour allow practitioners to catch up with colleagues and hear a brief update on 
FPS issues from the LGA Bluelight team.  

We have taken a break over August due to the traditional holiday period and the next 
event is scheduled to take place on 1 September 2020. 

If you would like to join us, please email bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk and we will 
add you to the invite list for the sessions.   

HMRC 

HMRC newsletters/bulletins 
HMRC have published the following newsletters containing important updates and 
guidance on pension schemes:  

Pension schemes newsletter 122 – 31 July 2020  

• Relief at source - Call for evidence: Pensions Tax Relief Administration 

• Relief at source - Reporting excess relief 

• Relief at source - Annual return of information for the tax year 2019 to 2020 

• Collective money purchase benefits (CMPs) 

• Managing Pension Schemes service – accounting for tax return 

Page 49Page 92

http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/legal-landscape/age-discrimination-remedy-sargeant
http://www.fpsregs.org/index.php/events/fire-pensions-annual-conference
http://www.fpsboard.org/index.php/about-the-board/board-membership
http://www.fpsboard.org/index.php/about-the-board/board-membership
http://www.fpsregs.org/images/Events/AGM-2020/AGM-2020-draft-agenda.pdf
mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk?subject=Please%20book%20my%20place%20on%20day%201%20of%20the%20FPS%20AGM%202020
mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk?subject=Please%20book%20my%20place%20on%20day%202%20of%20the%20FPS%20AGM%202020
mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pension-schemes-newsletter-122-july-2020/pension-schemes-newsletter-122-july-2020


 
 
 

11 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

• Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) Equalisation Newsletter – July 2020 

• Pension flexibility statistics 

• Annual allowance - Pension savings statements for tax year 2019 to 2020 

• Annual allowance - Declaring the annual allowance charge on the Self-
Assessment tax return 

• Qualifying Recognised Overseas Pension Schemes (QROPS) transfer 
statistics 

Pension schemes newsletter 123 – 28 August 2020 

• Relief at source – annual returns of information for 2019 to 2020 

• Annual return of information: 
o interim repayments 
o residency status reports 

• Migration of pension schemes to the Managing pension schemes service 

• Managing pension schemes service: 
o multiple scheme administrator IDs 
o multiple scheme practitioner IDs 
o pension scheme accounting 

• Annual allowance – pensions savings statements for 2019 to 2020 

A reminder to scheme administrators that you must issue annual allowance pension 
savings statements for tax year 2019 to 2020 to your scheme members who made 
pension savings of more than the annual allowance to your pension scheme, by 6 
October 2020. 

You can find more information about this requirement in the Pensions Tax Manual 
at PTM167100. 

Legislation 

SI  Reference title 

2020/893 The Local Government Pension Scheme (Amendment) (No. 2) 
Regulations 2020 

Useful links 

• The Firefighters’ Pensions (England) Scheme Advisory Board   
• FPS Regulations and Guidance  

• Khub Firefighters Pensions Discussion Forum  

• FPS1992 guidance and commentary  

• The Pensions Regulator Public Service Schemes   

• The Pensions Ombudsman  

• HMRC Pensions Tax Manual  

• LGA pensions website 

Page 50Page 93

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pension-schemes-newsletter-123-august-2020/pension-schemes-newsletter-123-august-2020
https://www.gov.uk/hmrc-internal-manuals/pensions-tax-manual/ptm167100
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/893/contents/made
http://www.fpsboard.org/
http://www.fpsregs.org/
https://khub.net/group/thefirefighterspensionsdiscussionforum
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120919152859tf_/http:/www.communities.gov.uk/fire/firerescueservice/firefighterpensions/firefighterspensionscheme/
http://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/public-service-schemes.aspx
https://www.pensions-ombudsman.org.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/hmrc-internal-manuals/pensions-tax-manual
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/workforce-and-hr-support/local-government-pensions


 
 
 

12 

Click here to return to Contents 
 

• LGPS Regulations and Guidance 

• LGPS member site 

Contact details  

Clair Alcock (Senior Pension Adviser) 
Telephone: 020 7664 3189 
Email: clair.alcock@local.gov.uk   
 
Kevin Courtney (NPCC Pensions Adviser) 
Telephone: 020 7664 3202 
Email: kevin.courtney@local.gov.uk  
 
Claire Hey (Firefighters’ Pension Adviser) 
Telephone: 020 7664 3205 
Email: claire.hey@local.gov.uk  

Copyright 

Copyright remains with Local Government Association (LGA). This bulletin may be 

reproduced without the prior permission of LGA provided it is not used for commercial 

gain, the source is acknowledged and, if regulations are reproduced, the Crown 

Copyright Policy Guidance issued by HMSO is adhered to. 

Disclaimer 

The information contained in this bulletin has been prepared by the Bluelight Pensions 

team, part of the Local Government Association (LGA). It represents the views of the 

team and should not be treated as a complete and authoritative statement of the law. 

Readers may wish, or will need, to take their own legal advice on the interpretation of 

legislation. No responsibility whatsoever will be assumed by the LGA for any direct or 

consequential loss, financial or otherwise, damage or inconvenience, or any other 

obligation or liability incurred by readers relying on information contained in this 

bulletin.  

While every attempt is made to ensure the accuracy of the bulletin, it would be helpful 

if readers could bring any perceived errors or omissions to the attention of the Bluelight 

team by emailing bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk. 

Page 51Page 94

https://www.lgpsregs.org/
https://www.lgpsmember.org/
mailto:clair.alcock@local.gov.uk
mailto:kevin.courtney@local.gov.uk
mailto:claire.hey@local.gov.uk
mailto:bluelight.pensions@local.gov.uk


Added Pension Contributions v1 April 2020                                                                                                                          1 

                                                         

 Information 

Added Pension Contributions – FPS 2015 
In order to increase your Firefighters’ Pension Scheme 2015 (FPS 2015) pension on retirement and any 
survivor benefits that may become payable, you can pay Added Pension Contributions to purchase 
added pension.  

How much Added Pension you can buy 
You can pay added contributions to buy up to £7,041 of added pension (2020-21 limits) in the FPS 2015. 
This is payable every year for life, on top of your normal FPS 2015 benefits. The limit will be increased 
each April in line with the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971. 

You may choose to pay monthly by periodical contributions.  

If you have been employed as a firefighter within the last 12 months  you could make a one off payment 
into the scheme by lump sum. 

Paying by periodical payments 
An election to pay added pension payments by periodical payments may only be made at least two years 
before your normal pension age (60). 

If you elect to pay by periodical payments, they will be deducted from your pensionable pay on the first 
appropriate pay period after the date on which the Fire & Rescue Authority (FRA) receives the notice of 
your election in addition to your normal pension contributions to the scheme.  

They will cease at the end of the scheme year (i.e. 31 March), or on the date specified in your election, 
whichever is the earlier. Your periodical payments must cease if you are no longer an active member of 
the scheme, or if it appears to the FRA that you will exceed the overall limit of added pension (£6,761 for 
2019/20). 

An amount of added pension will be credited to your added pension account for that scheme year. The 
amount credited is an amount calculated in accordance with guidance issued by the Government 
Actuary’s Department (GAD). If you wanted to continue your periodical payments into a further scheme 
year, the amounts would need to be re-calculated taking into account the factors that would apply for that 
scheme year. 

If you wished to cease the payment of your periodical payments, you will need to give written notice of 
your decision. The added pension contributions would stop from the next appropriate pay period after 
the date on which the authority receives the notice of your election to cease them. 

Paying by lump sum 
If you are eligible to make payment by lump sum you must specify the amount you wish to pay. This must 
not be less than any minimum amount determined by the FRA. You should ask your FRA for their policy 
on this matter. 

Once you have elected to buy the Added Pension by lump sum, you must pay the amount due within 3 
months after the date on which you elected to buy it. If you do not pay it within the 3 months, your election 
is void and you will need to ask for a new quotation. 

Following receipt of lump sum payment, an amount of added pension will be credited to your added 
pension account for the relevant scheme year. The amount credited is an amount is an amount calculated 
in accordance with guidance issued by GAD. 

APPENDIX G

Page 91Page 95

Appendix 8



Added Pension Contributions v1 April 2020                                                                                                                          2 

Example Added Pension calculations:- 

A 35-year-old Firefighter earning £30,533 per annum:-  

Option Payment Method Amount to be paid 
Amount of Pension 

Purchased per annum 

1. Buy £1,000 of annual 
pension 

Lump sum £12,767.00 £1,000.00 

Monthly £1,041.04 £1,000.00 

2. Pay £1,000 lump sum Lump sum £1,000.00 £78.33 

3. 5% per month Monthly £127.22 £122.00 

4. Pay £100 per month Monthly £100.00 £96.00 

A 45-year-old Firefighter earning £30,533 per annum:-  

Option Payment Method Amount to be paid 
Amount of Pension 

Purchased per annum 

1. Buy £1,000 of annual 
pension 

Lump sum £15,642.00 £1,000.00 

Monthly £1,275.44 £1,000.00 

2. Pay £1,000 lump sum Lump sum £1,000.00 £63.93 

3. 5% per month Monthly £127.22 £99.75 

4. Pay £100 per month Monthly £100.00 £78.40 

A 55-year-old Firefighter earning £30,533 per annum:-  

Option Payment Method Amount to be paid Amount of Pension 
Purchased per annum 

1. Buy £1,000 of annual 
pension 

Lump sum £18,986.40 £1,000.00 

Monthly £1,548.14 £1,000.00 

2. Pay £1,000 lump sum Lump sum £1,000.00 £52.67 

3. 5% per month Monthly £127.22 £82.18 

4. Pay £100 per month Monthly £100.00 £64.59 

• Calculations are based on monthly payments being paid each month for 12 months of the scheme year (April to March).  

• Contribution amounts shown are before tax relief is applied.  

• Amount of pension shown is assuming you retire at age 60 from active service. Actuarial reductions will apply to the amount 
of pension if you retire before age 60 or before your state pension age if you leave before being able to retire.  

Further information and how to apply 

If you are interested in purchasing Added Pension and would like a quotation, please complete the form on 
page 3 of this factsheet and return it to your pensions administrator at the address overleaf. 

More information on the pension scheme, is available from:-  

• www.insertyourwebsitehere.co.uk, or 

• By phone on insertyourphonenumberhere 

• By email at insertyouremail@addresshere.co.uk 
________________________________ 

The information provided in this leaflet is intended to provide helpful information but does not constitute financial advice. It 

should not be treated as a complete and authoritative statement of the law. Before deciding whether or not buy Added 

Pension to top up your FPS 2015 Pension it is worth considering consulting an independent financial adviser and/or the 

Pensions Advisory Service.  In the event of any dispute the appropriate legislation will prevail.  

Page 92Page 96

http://www.insertyourwebsitehere.co.uk/
https://www.moneyadviceservice.org.uk/en/articles/choosing-a-financial-adviser
http://www.pensionsadvisoryservice.org.uk/


Added Pension Contributions v1 April 2020                                                                                                                          3 

FPS 2015 Added Pension - Quote Request 
 

Surname:  First name: 

National Insurance number:  

Address: 

 

Post code: Date of birth (DD/MM/YY):  

Email address: 

I wish to pay an additional £_____________________ each month (remains the same each month)  

I wish to pay an additional ___________________% each month (fluctuates with pay) 

I wish to increase my annual pension by £____________________ at retirement (2019/20 limit is £6,924) 

I wish to pay a lump sum of £________________________ into my pension account. 

• I understand by returning this form I am requesting further information on the prospect of purchasing 
added pension benefits at retirement. I am not agreeing to a purchase contract at this time. 

• I understand that my contributions for Added Pension will cease at the Scheme Year end (31 March) and 
I will need to make a new election if I wish this to continue into the next Scheme Year, calculated under 
new factors applying at the beginning of the Scheme Year. 

• I understand that my request will be rejected if the amounts specified above are less than any minimum 
amount determined by my Fire & Rescue Authority. 

  

Signed: _________________________________________ 

Return to: 

Insert Pensions Administrator’s  

Address here 

Date: ___________________________________________ 

 

Page 93Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



Written questions, answers
and statements

Public service pensions, survivor benets for opposite–
sex widowers and surviving male civil partners.

Statement made on 20 July 2020

Statement UIN HCWS397

UK Parliament   Business   Written questions, answers and statements   Find written statements   HCWS397

Statement made by

The Chief Secretary to the Treasury

Conservative

North East Cambridgeshire

Steve Barclay 

Statement

The government is committed to providing public service pensions that are fair for public sector workers and for taxpayers. The

government’s position remains that benet entitlements should normally be determined based on the rules applicable at the time the

member served, to maintain fairness for active scheme members and the taxpayer.

Following the Walker v Innospec Supreme Court ruling, the government decided that in public service schemes, surviving male same-

sex and female same-sex spouses and civil partners of public service pension scheme members will, in certain cases, receive benets

equivalent to those received by widows of opposite sex marriages. The exception to this is in specic schemes where, in the past,

improvements in female members’ survivor benets have involved female members making employee contributions or increasing

them.

A case brought in the Employment Tribunal against the Secretary of State for Education earlier this year highlighted that these

changes may lead to direct sexual orientation discrimination within the Teachers’ Pension Scheme, where male survivors of female

scheme members remain entitled to a lower survivor benet than a comparable same-sex survivor.

The government has concluded that changes are required to the Teachers’ Pension Scheme to address the discrimination. The

government believes that this difference in treatment will also need to be remedied in those other public service pension schemes,

where the husband or male civil partner of a female scheme member is in similar circumstances.

Departments responsible for the administration of affected schemes will consult on and take forward changes as soon as possible.

Schemes will notify their members of changes and any actions they need to take.

Statement from

Treasury 

 Commons

Page 52Page 99

Appendix 9

https://www.parliament.uk/
https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/
https://www.parliament.uk/
https://www.parliament.uk/business
https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/
https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-statements
https://members.parliament.uk/member/4095/contact
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/hm-treasury


Linked statements

This statement has also been made in the House of Lords

Public service pensions, survivor benets for opposite–sex widowers and surviving male civil partners.

HLWS393

Statement made 20 July 2020

Treasury 

© UK Parliament 2020 Cookie settings  Accessibility statement

Lord Agnew of Oulton

Lords Spokesperson

Conservative, Life peer

 Lords

Page 53Page 100

https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-statements/detail/2020-07-20/HCWS397
https://www.parliament.uk/site-information/accessibility/
https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-statements/detail/2020-07-20/hlws393
https://members.parliament.uk/member/4689/contact


 

 

 
Purpose: For Information 

 
    

 

 
Committee 
 
Date 
  
Title 
 
Report of  
 

 
ISLE OF WIGHT FIRE AUTHORITY FIRE PENSION BOARD  
 
14 OCTOBER 2020 
 
McCLOUD / SARGEANT CASE UPDATE 
 
TECHNICAL FINANCE MANAGER 
 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1. Information contained in this report has been taken from the report to the Hampshire 

Fire and Rescue Authority (HFRA) Hampshire Firefighters' Pension Board for their 
meeting on 8 October 2020. 

 
2. The Sargeant case, also known as McCloud, relates to the age discrimination court 

case that was brought against the transitional protections for the 2015 Fire Pension 
Scheme. 

 
3. The board is asked to note the information contained in this report. 
 
SARGEANT CASE – CONSULTATION 
 
4. On 16 July 2020, HM Treasury published a consultation for all unfunded Public 

Service Pension Schemes, including Fire, Police, Teachers, NHS, Armed Forces, 
Civil Service and Judicial Schemes; the consultation closes on 11 October 2020. The 
Governments consultation webpage can be found in Appendix 1. 
 

5. The Home Office have issued an FAQ document, and this can be found in  Appendix 
2. 
 

6. As the consultation document is 70 pages long, which makes it a challenging and 
technical read, the Hampshire FRA’s Employer Pension Manager has compiled a 
short summary which lists the key points. The summary can be found in Appendix 3. 

 
7. There are many issues and concerns with the consultation, some of which are listed 

in the summary in Appendix 3. The LGA have raised several questions with the Home 
Office and have asked for urgent clarification. 
 

 

Page 101

Agenda Item 6



8. The consultation provides some ideas of timescales for the completion of remedy, 
The Government intends to bring forward new primary legislation to take effect from 
April 2022, however it is likely to be some time after this before all the relevant 
scheme legislation is in place to enable administrators to implement remedy. 
 

9. It is expected that the Government will respond to this consultation early next year, it 
is at this point that we will be a little clearer about the way forward and we hope it will 
also provide clarification on the likely timetable for implementation. The timescales 
will also need to include a further consultation period on proposed amendments to 
the Fire Pension Schemes legislation. 
 

10. In addition to the issues of implementing remedy, HFRA have identified an additional 
complication due to the CFA taking effect from 1 April 2021. Because of both the 
payroll arrangements and HMRC requirements to make all employees a new starter 
under the new employer; it means that there will not be access to historical payroll 
data prior to 1 April 2021. 
 

11. This means that we will not be able to use the SAP HR/Payroll system to 
automatically calculate the necessary member contributions and pay details that will 
be required for the remedy period for both the legacy and reformed schemes. 

 
12. There will be significant challenges to calculate the relevant information for all 

members of the CFA and members that have left HFRA or IWFRS within the remedy 
period, as all this work will need to be done manually. 
 

13. The Employer Pension Groups are agreeing the way forward as the work required 
for the McCloud / Sargeant remedy is substantial and will require a lot of resources. 
We are currently looking at this and starting to put some plans in place. It is 
anticipated that the additional resources required for this project will inevitably mean 
that there will be increased costs for all partners. 

 
14. Hampshire FRA have drafted a response to the consultation as set out in Appendix 

4, which was presented to their board meeting on 8 October 2020. The Technical 
Finance Manager will provide feedback from this meeting. 

 
SARGEANT CASE – IMMEDIATE DETRIMENT CASES 
 
15. The Home Office issued guidance on 21 August 2020 on the treatment of “immediate 

detriment” cases. This would apply to two groups of people, who were unprotected 
members or who had tapered protection: 
 
(a) who become eligible to retire at age 50 with at least 25 years’ service and want 

to have all their benefits paid from the legacy scheme; or 
 

(b) who don’t qualify for lower tier ill health pension under the single pot but would 
do so under the ill health arrangements in their legacy scheme. 

 
16. This six-page note, which can be found in Appendix 5, does not go into enough detail 

to provide any real clarity for administrators and raises yet more questions. 

Page 102



(a) This guidance means that it cannot be applied to anyone that has already 
retired, yet it does not clarify what date that it is effective from. 
 

(b) We do not know the legal status of this guidance and whether it can apply to 
all relevant members. The Home Office have said that it is legally underpinned 
and can be used. The LGA have said that in their opinion, this can only be 
applied to claimants and that there is no legal basis to be able to apply this to 
non-claimants as there is no tribunal order, or legislation to rely on. 
 

(c) There are a number of unresolved issues such as contributions, transfers into 
the 2015 scheme, scheme pays and annual allowance assessments etc. 

 
17. Should we use the “immediate detriment” guidance for any members, then they will 

be required to sign declarations / waivers, and after April 2022, we will be obliged to 
revisit these cases to finalise any unresolved issues, which may mean that that the 
member will have a further bill to pay. This would leave the member with some degree 
of uncertainty with an unknown amount that would need to be paid in the future. There 
may also be decisions in the outcome of the consultation which could impact any 
benefits in payment. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
18. The Board is asked to note the content of this report. 

 
APPENDICES ATTACHED 
 
19. Appendix 1 – Home Office consultation page 
20. Appendix 2 – Home Office consultation FAQ document 
21. Appendix 3 – HFRA summary of consultation 
22. Appendix 4 – HFRA Draft consultation response 
23. Appendix 5 – Immediate Detriment Guidance note 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
24. Hampshire HFRA Fire Pension Board meeting 8 October 2020 

https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=196&MId=6615  
 

 
Contact Point: Jo Thistlewood, Technical Finance Manager,  821000  
e-mail jo.thistlewood@iow.gov.uk 
 

 

Page 103

https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=196&MId=6615


This page is intentionally left blank



 GOV.UK 
1. Home (https://www.gov.uk/)
2. Public service pensions (https://www.gov.uk/topic/work-careers/public-service-pensions)

Open consultation

Public service pension schemes consultation:
changes to the transitional arrangements to the
2015 schemes
Published 16 July 2020

From:
HM Treasury (https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/hm-treasury)

Summary

This consultation seeks views on proposals relating to the 2015 public service pension scheme
reforms.

This consultation closes at
11:59pm on 11 October 2020

Consultation description

1.Consultation

Following the Court of Appeal judgment in December 2018, the government has been working
to fix the discrimination identified in the policy of transitional protection that was part of the 2015
reforms to public service pension schemes. This consultation sets out the government’s
proposals for addressing this discrimination along with the government’s plans for the future.
The government is committed to fixing the discrimination as quickly as possible and welcomes
your views on how best to do this.
The consultation document itself, an accompanying Equality Impact Assessment and a leaflet
which sets out a summary of the proposals can be found on this page. The scope of the
schemes covered by this consultation can also be found on page 3 of the document itself. The
consultation begins on 16 July 2020 and will close on 11 October 2020.

2.Update on the cost control element of the 2016 Valuations

Alongside the public consultation, the government is making a related announcement on the
cost control mechanism, which can also be found on this page. This provides an update on the
pause of cost control mechanism, and the next steps government will take.

Documents

Page 105

Appendix 1

https://www.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/topic/work-careers/public-service-pensions
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/hm-treasury


Public Service Pensions Consultation
(https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachmen
t_data/file/900766/Public_Service_Pensions_Consultation.pdf)

Ref: ISBN 978-1-913635-37-4, 2973, CP 253 PDF, 851KB, 74 pages

Order a copy (https://www.gov.uk/guidance/how-to-buy-printed-copies-of-official-documents)

Public Service Pensions leaflet
(https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachmen
t_data/file/900859/Public_Service_Pensions_Leaflet.pdf)

PDF, 63.1KB, 3 pages

Public Service Pensions EIA
(https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachmen
t_data/file/900999/Public_Service_Pensions_EIA_.pdf)

Ref: ISBN 978-1-913635-44-2, 2979 PDF, 378KB, 38 pages

Update on the Cost Control Element of the 2016 Valuations
(https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachmen
t_data/file/901141/Update_on_the_Cost_Control_Element_of_the_2016_Valuations.pdf)

PDF, 139KB, 2 pages

Published 16 July 2020

Related content

State Pension age review: final report (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/state-pension-age-
review-final-report)
A Plan for Jobs: documents (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/a-plan-for-jobs-documents)
Hong Kong BN(O) Visa: policy statement (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hong-kong-
bno-visa-policy-statement)
Our plan to rebuild: The UK Government’s COVID-19 recovery strategy
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/our-plan-to-rebuild-the-uk-governments-covid-19-recovery-
strategy)
UK points-based immigration system: further details statement
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-points-based-immigration-system-further-details-
statement)

Explore the topic

Public service pensions (https://www.gov.uk/topic/work-careers/public-service-pensions)
Page 106

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/900766/Public_Service_Pensions_Consultation.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/how-to-buy-printed-copies-of-official-documents
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/900859/Public_Service_Pensions_Leaflet.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/900999/Public_Service_Pensions_EIA_.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/901141/Update_on_the_Cost_Control_Element_of_the_2016_Valuations.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/state-pension-age-review-final-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/a-plan-for-jobs-documents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hong-kong-bno-visa-policy-statement
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/our-plan-to-rebuild-the-uk-governments-covid-19-recovery-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-points-based-immigration-system-further-details-statement
https://www.gov.uk/topic/work-careers/public-service-pensions


OFFICIAL 
 July 2020 

1 

McCloud/Sargeant – Public service pension schemes consultation

Frequently asked questions (FAQs) 

Page 107

Appendix 2



OFFICIAL 
 July 2020 

2 

Background 

In 2015 all main public service pensions, including the Firefighters’ Pension Scheme, were reformed. 
These reforms included ‘transitional protection’, for people closer to retirement. In December 2018, 
the Court of Appeal ruled that this directly discriminated against some younger pension scheme 
members. 

On 15 July 2019 the government made a written ministerial statement (HCWS1725) confirming 
that, as ‘transitional protection’ was offered to members of all the main public service pension 
schemes, the difference in treatment would be remedied across all those schemes. 

In addition, the government has confirmed that this will apply to all members with relevant service 
in affected public service schemes and not just those who have lodged legal claims.  

The consultation that the government has now published, sets out options for how the government 
will remove the discrimination. These options involve providing members with a choice of which set 
of pension scheme benefits, those under their old scheme or the new scheme, they would like to 
receive for the remedy period. 

Following the implementation of the pension changes to address the discrimination, all those who 
continue in service will do so as members of their respective 2015 schemes, regardless of their 
age. 

In January 2020 the Home Office held initial technical discussions with the Firefighters’ Pensions 
Scheme Advisory Board for England (SAB) to help with the policy development process. Feedback 
from these discussions provided the government with helpful comments which has been used to 
develop detailed proposals in the consultation. 

What is being announced today? 

HMT Public Consultation  

The government has today launched a consultation on proposals to remove the discrimination 
identified in the McCloud/Sargeant litigation. This is your opportunity to put forward your views. 
You can find details on how to respond to the consultation here:  

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/public-service-pension-schemes-consultation-
changes-to-the-transitional-arrangements-to-the-2015-schemes  

The consultation will run for 12 weeks and will close on Sunday 11 October. 

Cost Control mechanism  

Separate to the consultation, the government has announced that the pause of the cost control 
mechanism will be lifted, and the cost control element of the 2016 valuations process will be 
completed. The costs of addressing the discrimination identified in the McCloud judgment will be 
included in this process.  

The full announcement can be found here: 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/
901141/Update_on_the_Cost_Control_Element_of_the_2016_Valuations.pdf  

Page 108

https://www.judiciary.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/lord-chancellor-v-mcloud-and-ors-judgment.pdf
https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2019-07-15/HCWS1725/
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/public-service-pension-schemes-consultation-changes-to-the-transitional-arrangements-to-the-2015-schemes
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/public-service-pension-schemes-consultation-changes-to-the-transitional-arrangements-to-the-2015-schemes
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/901141/Update_on_the_Cost_Control_Element_of_the_2016_Valuations.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/901141/Update_on_the_Cost_Control_Element_of_the_2016_Valuations.pdf


OFFICIAL 
 July 2020 

3 

FAQs  

ABOUT THE CONSULTATION 

Q1: What is the purpose of this consultation? 

A: In 2015 all main public service pension schemes were reformed, including the Firefighters’ 
Pension Scheme. These reforms included ‘transitional protection’, for people closer to retirement. 
The Courts have ruled that this directly discriminated against some younger pension scheme 
members. 

The government’s proposals to remove the discrimination will apply to all pension scheme 
members who were in service on or before 31 March 2012 and in service on or after 1 April 2015, 
including those with a qualifying break in service of less than 5 years. 

The government will provide affected members with the option to choose between their old (mostly 
final salary) and new (career average) pension scheme benefits for service between 1 April 2015 
and 31 March 2022. 

The government is seeking views on how this choice might work. There are two different 
proposals: 

1. An Immediate Choice Exercise: The choice will be made as soon as practicable.
2. A Deferred Choice Underpin: Members would remain in, or be returned to, the old

schemes for service between 2015 and 2022. At the point of retirement (or when benefits
become payable) or as soon as practicable (for members who have already had a pension
award), members would be then able to choose to instead receive new scheme benefits for
that period.

Changes to the judicial and local government pension schemes are being consulted on separately. 

Q2: Who is affected/in scope of the consultation proposals? 

A: Scheme members who were serving on or before 31 March 2012 and still serving on or after 1 
April 2015 will be in scope of these proposals. 

This includes those members who are currently active, deferred or retired, and those with a 
qualifying break in service of less than 5 years. You do not need to put in a legal claim to be 
eligible for the changes proposed in the consultation. 

Members who originally received transitional protection will also be provided with a choice of which 
scheme benefits they would prefer to receive for the remedy period. 

Q3: Why are members who joined after 31 March 2012 not in scope? 

A: The Court of Appeal’s ruling identified unlawful discrimination between older and younger 
members in service on or before 31 March 2012. It is therefore these groups that the government 
are now equalising treatment between.  

Q4: Why is government asking members to make the choice between the different sets of 
pension benefits? 

The differences between the old and new pension schemes mean the set of benefits that is best 
for individuals depends on personal circumstances. We cannot simply extend transitional 
protection to all members and place them into the old schemes, because some members are 
better off in the new schemes.  

Page 109



OFFICIAL 
 July 2020 

4 

The government is unable to make this choice for members as it depends on personal 
circumstances and preferences, and so will instead provide members with information to allow 
them to make an informed choice whichever option is chosen as the government’s final policy. 

Q5: Does the consultation document address future pension provision? 

A: Yes. All public servants who are building up benefits in the main public service pension 
schemes, including firefighter scheme members, will be placed into the 2015 reformed pension 
schemes from 1 April 2022, regardless of when they joined, therefore providing equality of 
treatment. 

The 2015 reforms to public service pensions increased fairness and affordability. The government 
believes these schemes provide a good pension provision and continue to be more generous than 
most private sector pensions. 

Changes to the judicial and local government pension schemes are being consulted on separately. 

Q6:  How will this affect those who have retired or will retire before 2022? 

A:  All affected members will be given a choice between old and new scheme benefits for service 
between 2015 and their retirement date.  

Where possible the choice will be offered at retirement. Where this is not possible the choice will 
be offered as soon as practicable after legislative changes are implemented. Any change to 
benefits will be backdated. 

Q7: In March 2020, members were told to retain their tax paperwork for 2015/16, is this still 
the case? 

A: Yes. Depending on the eventual policy, the member may need the relevant paperwork to help 
them access appropriate compensation. Therefore, it would be helpful if members kept their 
paperwork related to tax from April 2015 onwards.  

This would include: 

• all self-assessment returns

• P60s

• Documents relating to any private pension schemes, and

• the annual statements from your pension scheme administrator and documents
relating to any other private pension schemes.

POST-CONSULTATION 

Q8: What are the next steps following the consultation? 

A: Following the end of the public consultation period, the government will publish its response and 
announce the final policy decision. HM Treasury will then lay legislation in Parliament to amend the 
Public Service Pensions Act to enable government to enact these changes. The Home Office will 
simultaneously begin drafting and consulting on amendments to scheme regulations.  

Q9: When will the changes to schemes be implemented from? 

A: Removing the discrimination will take time, but the government is committed to ensuring that all 
eligible members are treated equally and are able to choose to receive benefits under the terms of 
either their legacy scheme or the reformed scheme. This will not happen before 2022 but any 
payments will be backdated to 2015 where necessary.    

Page 110



OFFICIAL 
 July 2020 

5 

COST CONTROL MECHANISM 

Q10: How will the unpausing of the cost control mechanism affect the 2016 valuations? 

A: As the pause will be lifted, HM Treasury will set out in Directions the detail of how the cost 
control process element of the 2016 valuations will be completed. 

By taking into account this increased value of public service pensions that will result from members 
having a choice of scheme benefits for the ‘remedy period’, the cost control process will show 
greater costs than if they were not included. The government will consider how best to take forward 
the cost control mechanism outcomes for each scheme once the details of these are known. 

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank



Summary of Public Sector Pension Schemes consultation 

Proposals included within the consultation are summarised below: 

1. What is the remedy period?

The remedy period is 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2022 and will apply to anyone that was in service on 

or before 31 March 2012 and in service on or after 1 April 2015, including those with a qualifying 

break in service of less than 5 years, regardless of transitional protection status awarded. 

a. This means that remedy will apply to Protected members as well as Tapered and

Unprotected members

b. Remedy will apply to all relevant members, including those that have left/retired since 1

April 2015

2. What happens from 1 April 2022?

Accrual in all unfunded final salary schemes (legacy schemes1) for existing and new Protected 

members will cease on 31 March 2022 

a. All members will move to the reformed schemes2 from 1 April 2022, ending all

transitional protections and removing the age discrimination

3. What are the two main proposals?

This consultation is for all unfunded public sector pension schemes, including Fire, Police, Teachers, 

NHS, Armed Forces, Civil Service and judicial pension schemes, so all public sector will have the same 

options and the outcome will be the same for all schemes. The Local Government Pension Scheme 

has its own consultation and is not included in these proposals. 

The consultation provides two ways to achieve remedy, the member will have to make a choice in 

either scenario, but the issue is when that choice is made. 1) it is made as an “immediate choice” 

potentially within a couple of years of 2022. Or, 2) it is made as a “Deferred Choice” this would 

provide an underpin for the remedy period and means that the member will make the choice at the 

point when their benefits become payable. The choice the member makes will be irrevocable. 

Every member with relevant membership will have the option to choose either legacy or reformed 

benefits for remedy period. 

Administratively, both options are exceptionally challenging! Communication is going to be key. 

4. Immediate Choice

This option could leave the member disadvantaged later in their career as they won’t know what 

path their career will take or what the future schemes will look like or what provision they may 

provide. 

There will most likely be time limits (albeit long ones) for members to respond. So a default position 

would need to be agreed to be able to move members to the relevant scheme for the remedy period 

for those that do not respond. 

1 Legacy schemes are e.g. 1992 or 2006 Fire Pension Schemes 
2 Reformed schemes mean the 2015 CARE pension schemes 

Page 113

Appendix 3

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/public-service-pension-schemes-consultation-changes-to-the-transitional-arrangements-to-the-2015-schemes


2 

The immediate choice exercise would take a few years to fully implement and be completed. But 

does then provide clarity to members about their benefits and how they are accruing. 

Statements of information on 1) pension benefits, 2) member contributions owed or due as a 

refund, 3) tax details relating to Annual Allowance, 4) family benefits would need to be provided to 

the member as a minimum to enable the member to make their choice. 

Where member owes contributions, they will be given the option to pay upfront or over time. 

Where they have overpaid, a refund will be paid. Both scenarios are likely to have interest added. 

Members that have been in the reformed scheme for the whole period and choose their legacy 2006 

membership will have overpaid contributions and will be owed a refund.  

Deferred Choice underpin (DCU) 

All members will be deemed to have accrued benefits in the reformed schemes for the remedy 

period until such time as they make their choice. 

On 1 April 2022 all members will be placed back in their legacy schemes for the remedy period, this 

will trigger a number of immediate actions 

• Annual Allowance calculations will need to be revisited for all years from 2015/16 onwards.

If there are is any tax to be paid and this falls in the current year or the four preceding years,

– the member must pay it, if there is any tax due to be refunded, the Government will pay it

back even if the period is more than 4 years prior.

• Contributions will be approached in two stages. Stage one will be to levy a charge on all

members with reference to their legacy benefits. Stage two will be to then charge for the

contributions at retirement where the members chooses the reformed scheme for the

remedy period. E.g. 2006 legacy members will receive a refund at stage one and then have

to pay contributions at stage two. Where member owes contributions, they will be given the

option to pay upfront, or over time. Where they have overpaid, a refund will be paid. Both

scenarios will have interest added.

Annual Benefit Statements would need to show two sets of figures one for legacy benefits, and one 

for reformed benefits. This means that data will need to be held for the remedy period based on 

both legacy and reformed scheme rules. 

Pensions Savings statements would need to set out both legacy and reformed scheme details and 

provided to the member. 

At the point of retirement, statements of information on 1) pension benefits, 2) member 

contributions owed or due as a refund, 3) tax details relating to Annual Allowance, 4) family benefits 

would need to be provided to the member as a minimum to enable the member to make their 

choice. 

Where the member owes contributions for the remedy period as a result of their choice, they will be 

able to choose to have this deducted from their lump sum payment. Benefits will not be able to be 

paid until any arrears have been paid. 

Page 114



3 

Protected members 

• No change in legacy scheme benefits until 1 April 2022

• Will be put into reformed schemes from 1 April 2022

• If 30 years already achieved in legacy scheme (1992 Fire) then moving to reformed scheme

for remedy period could be advantageous as they will be able to accrue more pension

• Could be beneficial for members who have significant earnings growth to move to the

reformed scheme for the legacy period to reduce / avoid any Annual Allowance issues

Taper members 

• Will continue to be tapered until 31 March 2022

• Will be put back into legacy scheme for entire remedy period

• Will be put into reformed schemes from 1 April 2022

• Will have to choose either all legacy or all reformed benefits for remedy period, may be an

issue for some if 30 years achieved in this period

Unprotected members 

• Will be put back into legacy scheme for remedy period

• Will be put into reformed schemes from 1 April 2022

Page 115



4 

High Level summary of Immediate Choice and Deferred Choice Underpin (DCU) 

Immediate Choice Deferred Choice Underpin 

Remedy Period • 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2022 • 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2022

When would 
members make 
their choice 

• Irrevocable choice made as
soon as practicable after 31
March 2022

• Irrevocable choice made when a
pension award becomes payable
(usually when the member retires)

• Until then, members would be
deemed to have been in their legacy
scheme for the remedy period

What 
information 
would be 
provided 

• Decision based on
assumptions, for most

• Schemes would provide
information and online
calculators to assist members
in forecasting their pension
entitlement under both
schemes

• Decision based on known member
entitlements

• Schemes would provide direct
comparisons of actual entitlements
under both schemes

Benefits to 
members 

• Addresses the issue relatively
promptly, giving certainty to
members as to their pension
arrangements for the remedy
period

• Ensures members can make their
decision based on actual entitlement
to benefits rather than having to do
it based on assumptions

Potential 
downsides for 
members 

• Decision based on
assumptions, so some may
choose the scheme that does
not turn out to be most
beneficial for them

• Takes longer to resolve the issue so
relative uncertainty over pension
arrangements until members retire

• Some technical elements may be
more complex to explain and resolve

Tax treatment 
and 
compensation 
where relevant 

• A member’s tax position would
be corrected within the
statutory time limit to reflect
their choice of benefits.

• Where they owe tax, this
would be recouped for the 4
tax years before their decision
point. Where they have
overpaid tax, the government
will repay this without a time
limit

• Non-transitionally protected
members’ tax will be corrected,
within the statutory time limits, in
2022 when they are deemed to have
been in the legacy scheme

• Where tax is owed, this would be
recouped for the 4 tax years before
an individual’s scheme benefits
change. Where members have
overpaid tax, the government will
repay this without a time limit

• Where a member chooses reformed
scheme benefits at the point of
retirement, their tax position will be
reassessed again. Where an AA tax
charge arises from the choice, the
scheme will compensate members
for the charge

Page 116



5 

Some thoughts: What we don’t know / issues / concerns (this is not exhaustive at all) 

1. Fire 2006 members are going to be adversely affected with regard to their member
contributions

2. Consultation mentions final salary link, and we can probably assume that benefits up to 31
March 2022 in final salary would be calculated the same way as now, but we do not know for
sure if double accrual guarantee is in place

3. How any additional pension or transfers in whilst in the 2015 scheme and during the remedy
period would count in the legacy schemes

4. Unpausing of cost cap, may mean that there are accrual rate / member contribution rate
changes from 1 April 2019 and then a review every 4 years is likely, so we could have 2015,
2019, 2023 changes to contend with in the immediate future

5. Costs of removing discrimination will feed into future employer contribution rates once 2020
valuation completed. This is likely to mean an increase in employer contribution rates.

6. Will original commutation options still stand, or will these be able to be amended, or a different
decision made for the remedy period amendment

7. Annual Benefit Statements will need to show legacy and reformed benefits if DCU option taken
forwward

8. Annual Allowance calculations will need to be done for both legacy and reformed benefits. What
happens if under DCU a charge occurs post 2022, but would occur under legacy but not under
reformed? What happens if there is a tax charge before the member has made their choice?

9. Fire 1992 members, if 30 years achieved before age 50, then contribution holiday applies until
age 50. But will this apply as part of choice if this occurs during remedy period and member
chooses legacy benefits.

10. Whether any additional lump sums paid more than 12 months after retirement will be classed as
unauthorised payments and who will pay that tax.

11. Protected members that are still in employment from 1 April 2022, will be made to move to the
reformed scheme, if not communicated / handled carefully, this could potentially mean a
number of opt outs / leavers / retirements

12. For Fire will need to know about all temporary promotions in the 2015 scheme as will need to
take into account for pension contributions / Additional Pension Benefits / Annual Allowance
calculations

13. Those that have opted out of the reformed scheme appear to have the option of re-join,
backdate and then be part of remedy, what evidence / representations would we want to
consider on a case by case basis?

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



Public Service Pension Scheme Consultation 

Introduction 
Hampshire Fire and Rescue Authority (HFRA) welcomes the opportunity to respond 
to the consultation and this response has been approved by the Firefighter’s Pension 
Board. 

Technical queries 
There are a number of items which are either partially eluded to within the 
consultation or there is no mention of some items at all.  

The consultation makes reference to online tools being made available to members, 
to enable them to run projections and different scenarios, this would be welcomed, 
but it does not expand on what they would look like, who would provide them, who 
would be responsible for their accuracy and keeping them up to date and where 
would they be located. 

With regard to the Fire Pension Schemes there are a number of specific items which 
will need to be addressed and the position clarified. 

1. Continued Professional Development (CPD) payments are made to
firefighters and are pensionable across all schemes, but depending on which
scheme the member is in when it is paid, depends on how it is treated. For
members of the 1992 or 2006 Fire Pension Schemes, an Additional Pension
Benefit (APB) is awarded; for members of the 2015 Fire Pension Scheme, it is
added to their CARE pensionable pay. There is no mention in the consultation
if a member chooses different benefits about what will happen with the CPD
payments as APB’s are not permissible in the 2015 Scheme.

2. Contribution holidays for 1992 Fire Pension Scheme members were brought
in retrospectively to enable firefighters in this scheme to receive a contribution
holiday where they were under the age of 50 and had achieved 30 years
pensionable service. The consultation provides no mention about where
members are returned to the 1992 scheme and meet this criteria whether the
contribution holiday will be applied.

3. Temporary promotions for 1992 or 2006 Fire Pension Scheme members have
been made pensionable by HFRA and the member is awarded an Additional
Pension Benefit (ABP) in respect of the additional contributions paid on any
temporarily increased pay. The consultation makes no mention about a
member who in the 2015 Fire Pension Scheme has had a temporary
promotion (which is treated as non pensionable) and then chooses legacy
scheme benefits for the remedy period, whether the temporary promotion
should therefore be treated as pensionable and an APB awarded.

4. Transfers in whilst a member of the 2015 scheme are credited as additional
pension. If the member were to then choose legacy benefits specifically in the
1992 Fire Pension Scheme the consultation does not make it clear what
would happen, as the 1992 Fire Pension Scheme has been closed for
Transfers in since April 2006. In addition to this, if any transfer in is to be
calculated there are no current factors for this and if the period credited is to

Page 119

Appendix 4



Page 2 of 11 

be as years and days service, there is no mention about what would happen if 
the member were to exceed 30 years service. 

5. Additional pension is possible to be purchased in the 2015 scheme, but where
a member has elected for this and then chooses to move to the legacy 1992
Fire Pension Scheme, the consultation does not make it clear how this would
work. It is only possible for a Firefighter to purchase additional service within
the 1992 Fire Pension Scheme if they cannot achieve 30 years by the time
they are 55 and that they are under the age of 53. The consultation does not
mention what would happen if the member exceeds these conditions.

Draft responses to questions in consultation 

1. Do you have any views about the implications of the proposals set out in this
consultation for people with protected characteristics as defined in section 149 of
the Equality Act 2010? What evidence do you have on these matters? Is there
anything that could be done to mitigate any impacts identified?

No comment.

2. Is there anything else you would like to add regarding the equalities impacts of
the proposals set out in this consultation?

No comment.

Taper Protected Members (2.19)
3. Please set out any comments on our proposed treatment of members who

originally received tapered protection. In particular, please comment on any
potential adverse impacts. Is there anything that could be done to mitigate any
such impacts identified?

The treatment of members who originally received tapered protection seems
logical and fair and consistent with treatment of other members. It is only right
that all members are given the same option of either all legacy benefits or all
reformed benefits for the whole of the remedy period.

Default position for immediate choice – tapered (2.37)
4. Please set out any comments on our proposed treatment of anyone who did not

respond to an immediate choice exercise, including those who originally had
tapered protection.

Under Immediate choice, where a member does not reply to correspondence it
would seem fair to set a default position that appears to be most beneficial for the
member.

Members with full transitional protection should be deemed to be members of
their legacy scheme as this is what they have had anyway.

Page 120



Page 3 of 11 

For members with no transitional protection the default position is less clear and 
may be more dependent on which legacy scheme the member was part of. For 
1992 Fire Pension Scheme members this is most likely to be their legacy 
scheme, but for 2006 Fire Pension Scheme members the member may be better 
off in the 2015 Fire Pension Scheme.  

For tapered members the position may well be mixed for all legacy schemes and 
choosing a default position based on the most beneficial for the member is 
relying on either the Pension Administrator or the FRA to make a decision about 
the members benefits. The decision maker will not know what is important to the 
member or what their personal situation is and there is potential for the wrong 
decision to be made.  

There could be some potential issues if as a result of moving the member to the 
default position there are member contribution arrears and or tax charges that 
arise. The member would need to agree to these before this could be actioned. In 
these cases, surely to ensure the status quo, the member should be left in the 
scheme that they are in, this would work for members that have no transitional 
protection, but a default position would still need to be reached for members with 
taper protection. This may well depend on what the member’s legacy scheme is 
and how much transitional protection they were granted. 

It is a sensible approach to have a standard default position as inevitably there 
will be some members that do not respond. However, the default position should 
depend on the legacy Fire Pension Scheme; a different default position should 
apply to each legacy scheme.  

Immediate Choice (2.37) 
5. Please set out any comments on the proposals set out above for an immediate

choice exercise

In an immediate choice option, the member is going to have to make a choice 
based on partial information, i.e. where they are still many years from retirement, 
they will not know what path their career will take, or indeed what their personal, 
financial or family situation will be. What is important to a member at the 
immediate choice decision point, could very well be different at the point of 
retirement.  

The proposals that have been laid out with regard to how the exercise would be 
carried out mean that it will be very labour intensive and will require a lot of 
resources, not only in actually dealing with the remedy calculations, but also in 
the communication of this to members. There will be a lot of complex information 
which will need to be carefully and thoroughly explained to members to enable 
them to make the right choice; and all in a relatively short space of time. 

Some members may need access to an independent financial adviser to help 
advise them on the best option. This could prove problematic as there are very 
few financial advisers that have in depth knowledge of the Fire Pension 
Schemes. 

Page 121



Page 4 of 11 

Even with an immediate choice option, the timescales for implementing and 
completing the remedy will still be a period of years and it will be an exceptionally 
challenging time for members, FRAs and administrators to ensure that all 
members are contacted and remedied correctly, but it would also mean that after 
this, everyone would be remedied and everyone would know the exact position 
for the remedy period. 

With an immediate choice option, the member will at least have made a decision 
and know exactly what his current pension entitlement is. It would mean that 
everything will be dealt with and the final position will be known. 

Deferred Choice Underpin (DCU) (2.45) 
6. Please set out any comments on the proposals set out above for a deferred

choice underpin

In a deferred choice option, the member will be able to make their decision at the 
end of their career when benefit entitlements are known. This does mean that 
members would know be able to determine their precise pension benefits until 
they are near to retirement, this could cause some uncertainty.  

There would be a considerable amount of work required in April 2022 to move 
everyone back to the legacy scheme for the duration of the remedy period. This 
would involve the recalculating of both employee and employer contributions, 
which for Fire schemes is not that easy as there are a number of issues around 
pensionable pay and allowances that differ not only between the schemes, but 
also will need to take into account items such as temporary promotions, 
Continued Professional Development payments and contribution holidays that 
may apply specifically to the 1992 Fire Pension Scheme.  

There will be a requirement for the employer contributions to be corrected back to 
legacy schemes which is going to have a big impact on the required budget for 
the 2022/23 year.  

The calculation of revised pension input amounts and annual allowance tax 
issues will be required for each of the seven years so that the position for each 
year can be understood. The member will be required to pay the difference in 
member contributions and any tax that occurred in the previous 4 years (since 6 
April 2017). 

The work required would then be ongoing until the member is entitled to receive 
the payment of their benefits and at this point, the member can choose whether 
they want legacy or reformed benefits. If the member chooses reformed benefits, 
then there will be additional work required to undo the position of them being put 
into the legacy scheme for the remedy period.  

The DCU option leaves the member in an unknown position until retirement. 
Depending on their choice, there may well be items to be paid which could then 
impact the amount that they are expecting to receive.  

Page 122



Page 5 of 11 

Administration (2.53) 
7. Please set out any comments on the administrative impacts of both options

Under immediate choice, there will be an enormous amount of resources 
required, specialists from payroll, pensions and finance will be required. 
Resources will be required in the form of additional staff, online tools, 
communication packs. Not to mention the need for adequate pensions software 
to be able to deal with the changes. There is the potential for members to make 
the incorrect choice or indeed not understand what the choice means. There will 
be members that cannot be reached for whatever reason, or those that simply do 
not respond to the need to make an election. In these cases, it will be necessary 
to have default positions and while for some it will be clear, for others that will not 
be the case. Therefore, we risk making the wrong decision for a member. Whilst 
members that make a choice do so with an irrevocable choice, where a default 
choice is made for a member, will they have the right to recourse later on? 

Under the DCU option, there will be an enormous amount of resources required, 
but not only upfront to move all members back to their legacy schemes, but also 
ongoing for the next approx. 20 to 30 years. The challenges that will be required 
to restore all the records from 1 April 2015 should not be underestimated. Every 
year from end of remedy until the member retires, details of both sets of benefits 
will need to be presented on annual benefit statements; which means that every 
year, this will need to be explained in addition to what is already a very complex 
scheme. 

The challenge required for adequate software to be developed and maintained to 
have the ability for it to record two sets of data and know what applies to each 
type should not be underestimated. 

In either choice, the member will need to be provided with a lot of information in a 
clear way and communication will be key. Regardless of how well each option is 
explained, members are still going to have difficulty comprehending all of the 
factors that will need to be taken into account. A number of members may require 
independent financial advice to enable them to make a decision, but while the 
Fire Authority and the pension administrator can provide information to the 
member and answer some questions, they will not be able to provide advice. It is 
also unlikely that IFAs more generally are going to have the detailed knowledge 
and experience of Fire Pension Schemes to provide accurate and comprehensive 
advice. 

8. Which option, immediate choice or DCU, is preferable for removing the
discrimination identified by the Courts, and why?

Both options have issues and both options will involve a great deal of work. But 
overall, taking into account as much as possible, it would seem that immediate 
choice would be preferable. It means that cases would only have to be looked at 
once, rather than each year and then again at retirement under the DCU option. It 
would mean that the member and the administrator would be clear about what 
option and benefits the member has for the remedy period. There would be no 
need to provide and maintain complex software solutions for the next approx. 20 

Page 123



Page 6 of 11 

to 30 years that would be able to calculate remedy accurately. It would mean for 
any events (divorce, estimates, transfers etc) that occur after the member has 
made their choice would be able to be dealt with in a straightforward manner as 
the benefits for the remedy period would be known.  

Firefighter’s have been having this fight for a long time and many of them just 
want to get it resolved. For many, it will be a very clear choice and they just want 
to make it and move on.  

If immediate choice is taken forward, then although there will be a lot of work to 
actually remedy all members, the final cost of the resources and the cost to the 
scheme will be known. Members and administrators will be able to understand 
the final position and pension estimates and annual benefit statements can 
accurately reflect the entitlements with no added complexity. 

Closing the legacy schemes for all members and equalising future 
treatment (3.7) 

9. Does the proposal to close legacy schemes and move all active members who
are not already in the reformed schemes into their respective reformed scheme
from 1 April 2022 ensure equal treatment from that date onwards?

Yes 

Revisiting past cases (A.1) 
10. Please set out any comments on our proposed method of revisiting past cases.

Where members have previously retired and are subject to remedy, then it would 
be only be fair to allow them to change their original commutation decision. 
Although this would be more work administratively, it would seem the fair option 
for the member. It’s possible, but not probable, that they would have made a 
different commutation decision and therefore allowing them to revisit that decision 
would seem logical.  

One point which is not made clear is with regard to any Pension Commencement 
Lump Sum (PCLS) that is paid where the member retired more than 12 months 
prior to date of payment and that any additional payment of a PCLS would 
therefore be classed as an unauthorised payment and be subject to tax. This is 
an important point to clarify as this may largely affect any retrospective decisions 
that the member makes.  

Where contributions are owed, these could be deducted from any additional lump 
sum that is paid to a member, but if the member choose to pay over time, what 
time period will be permitted for this? How will the member be granted tax relief 
on the member contributions? 

Member Contributions (A.7) 
11. Please provide any comments on the proposals set out above to ensure that

correct member contributions are paid, in schemes where they differ between
legacy and reformed schemes.

Page 124



Page 7 of 11 

Under immediate choice, the member will know the position with regard to 
employee contributions and be able to factor it into any decision, but where 
contributions are owed they are almost definitely going to be in a position to pay 
over time rather than up front. If over time, then if deductions are made from pay 
then tax relief can be awarded at source, but the member could have the option 
of paying by DD outside of payroll. This would mean that tax relief would need to 
be claimed from HMRC on an annual basis. The balance of any outstanding 
contributions should be paid, either from the lump sum commutation or up front 
before any pension entitlement can be put into payment. 

Under DCU, the member will be moved back to the legacy scheme and 
contributions owed can be paid up front or by instalments, so as above, either 
from pay or DD. There are similar questions around tax relief and how this will be 
obtained. 

Legacy 2006 Fire Pension Scheme members are going to be adversely affected 
as initially they will receive a refund of contributions and then at retirement, if they 
choose reformed scheme benefits then they will have to pay the contributions 
back. This seems counter intuitive to refund monies and to then ask for them 
back many years later. Therefore under DCU, it would seem more sensible to 
enable members with legacy 2006 Fire Pension Scheme benefits to remain in the 
2015 scheme for the remedy period.  

Voluntary member contributions (A.14) 
12. Please provide any comments on the proposed treatment of voluntary member

contributions that individuals have already made

The proposed treatment of either additional years purchased in the legacy Fire 
Pension Schemes being converted to additional pension in the reformed scheme, 
or additional pension being purchased in the reformed scheme being converted 
to additional pension in the legacy schemes seems a fair way to treat any 
voluntary contributions.  

What isn’t clear from the consultation is whether this would be a one off amount 
to be calculated, or whether the relevant amounts would need to be calculated for 
each of the remedy scheme years; or how and when this amount would be 
increased.  

Annual Benefit Statements (A.21) 
13. Please set out any comments on our proposed treatment of annual benefit

statements

Whilst it is important to ensure that members have the correct information with 
regard to remedy, providing two sets of figures and therefore making ABS’ even 
more complicated does not seem like the sensible option. ABS’ are widely 
misunderstood or not read and the Fire Pension Schemes are already very 
complex.  

This is only going to be possible if accurate software can be implemented. This is 
going to be exceptionally complex to do as not only will the software need to be 

Page 125



Page 8 of 11 

able to hold all the relevant different bits of information but also to then use the 
relevant part for either the legacy or reformed calculations. The potential for 
errors and wrong information is high. 

Under DCU all members are going to be moved to their legacy scheme and they 
will be deemed to be in the legacy scheme until their benefits are paid and then 
they will have the choice of legacy or reformed. Would it not make more sense to 
allow ABS to show only the legacy benefits, to keep them as straightforward as 
possible and then present the options only at the point of retirement? The ABS 
are just an illustration and are not guaranteed and if the member wanted more 
specific information then they would be able to contact the pension administrator 
to request a reformed scheme estimate. 

Ill Health retirement (IHR) (A.25) 
14. Please set out any comments on our proposed treatment of cases involving ill-

health retirement.

The treatment of IH retirements seems fair.

Cases where members have died since 1 April 2015 (A.31)
15. Please set out any comments on our proposed treatment of cases where

members have died since 1 April 2015

The administrator is clearly going to need to assess all death cases carefully
before any potential contact is made with survivors or persons dealing with the
estate. There will need to be a number of items looked at under both legacy and
reformed schemes, any death grant payable, any benefits payable to survivors or
children. The current position will also need to be understood as well as any
potential impact of changes. Similar situations may also differ depending on
whether the member was active deferred or a pensioner at the point of death.

It would seem right that the administrator would need to establish if there is any
benefit to the survivors and if not, then the case should be closed and no contact
made with the survivors.

In cases where a member has died in the legacy scheme and no survivors
pension were paid as the member was not married, but did have a partner and
the scheme did not permit the payment to unmarried partners. The consultation
does not make it clear about what to do with cases where it’s not possible to
make contact with the partner e.g. they have moved from any last known
address.

Contingent decisions (A.43)
16. Please set out any comments on our proposed treatment of individuals who

would have acted differently had it not been for the discrimination identified by the
Court.

There are many members who have opted out as they did not wish to be a
member in the reformed scheme and as more information about how benefits
were linked, a number of them have regretted that decision.

Page 126



Page 9 of 11 

To avoid any discrimination it would seem right that these members are all given 
the opportunity to have their opt out decision removed if they so wish, but in 
doing so, they will obviously need to pay the relevant amount of member 
contributions. If they are prepared to pay this, then they should have continuous 
membership of the scheme and therefore the option to have remedy applied. 
They should also be given the option to pay these contributions over a period of 
time.   

Voluntary pension transfers (public sector transfer club and non-club) 
(A.48) 

17. If the DCU is taken forward, should the deferred choice be brought forward to the
date of transfer for Club transfers?

No, this would not seem fair. As you would be asking the member to make an
immediate choice, which would go against the DCU option.

This is exactly one of the many reasons why remedy should be dealt with as an
immediate choice and not DCU.

18. Where the receiving Club scheme is one of those schemes in scope, should
members then receive a choice in each scheme or a single choice that covers
both schemes?

Where the member transfers to a different scheme within the Club arrangement,
there the member should have a choice for each scheme. Although public sector
schemes are broadly the same, there are differences, even the various Fire
Pension Schemes differ. There will be different points that the member will want
to consider in respect of each scheme and each transfer.

It would be exceptionally difficult to get two or more schemes to work together to
provide one set of information to the member to enable them to make a choice.
There could be issues around Data Protection and GDPR.

Divorce cases (A.58)
19. Please set out any comments on our proposed treatment of divorce cases.

Where a divorce has occurred within the remedy period, then clearly this may be
impacted by any remedy option. Administrators will need to check Pension
Sharing Orders to confirm whether the split was by amount or percentage. Where
any split is by percentage then it could result in an increase in benefits awarded
to the Pension Credit member, based on the option chosen by the scheme
member. This would seem fair, and the Pension Credit member will not be
penalised if the scheme member chooses a different option which would lower
the value of the pension credit.

If DCU is taken forward the consultation does not make it clear whether such
cases would be recalculated at this point, or whether it would only be reviewed at
the point of retirement, and if so, then any CETV would need to be calculated 20
to 30 years in the future for a date 20 to 30 years in the past. The consultation

Page 127



Page 10 of 11 

also does not make it clear about what would happen for cases where a divorce 
happens after 1 April 2022. What set of benefits will be used, how will the courts 
determine any Pension Sharing Order, how will the administrators deal with any 
potential pension debit or pension credit? 

Divorce cases and the surrounding issues are another reason why immediate 
choice should be taken forward. It would mean that all calculations can be 
completed at the same time and all benefits rectified at the same time.  

Interest of under or over payments and refunds (A.63) 
20. Should interest be charged on amounts owed to schemes (such as member

contributions) by members? If so, what rate would be appropriate?

Yes, interest should be charged on amounts owed to the scheme, there is 
already precedent for this in the Fire Pension Schemes.  The recent 2006 
Modified Fire Pension exercise allowed for the calculation of interest on the 
arrears of contributions, as did the 1992 Fire Pension Scheme contribution 
holidays refunds for those under 50 with 30 years’ service and the Additional 
payments in respect of past commutations in the GAD v Milne case. 

Interest should be set at the Bank of England base rate, but as this has changed 
a few times since 1 April 2015, it might make sense to fix it for the entire 7 years 
period, rather than change it each time it is amended. The average would be 
around 0.4%. If interest is charged at a rate for a specific period, then it will 
create even more complexity with regard to calculating the exact amount upon 
which interest is to be charged for any period. Having a fixed rate as either the 
median or average, would mean that everyone is going to be paying the same. It 
will also make it slightly easier to explain to members 

21. Should interest be paid on amounts owed to members by schemes? If so, what
rate would be appropriate?

Yes, interest should be applied to payments to the member from the scheme. 

Interest should be set at the Bank of England base rate, but as this has changed 
a few times since 1 April 2015, it might make sense to fix it for the entire 7 years 
period, rather than change it each time it is amended. The average would be 
around 0.4%. If interest is charged at a rate for a specific period, then it will 
create even more complexity with regard to calculating the exact amount upon 
which interest is to be charged for any period. Having a fixed rate as either the 
median or average, would mean that everyone is going to be paying the same. It 
will also make it slightly easier to explain to members 

22. If interest is applied, should existing scheme interest rates be used (where they
exist), or would a single, consistent rate across schemes be more appropriate?

There should be a single consistent rate across all schemes at a fixed rate for the 
7 year period.  

Page 128



Page 11 of 11 

Abatement (A.66) 
23. Please set out any comments on our proposed treatment of abatement

The proposed treatment of abatement would seem to be advantageous to the 
member. It also confirms that FRA’s and administrators will not need to assess all 
cases for abatement and only look at those where a member who has an abated 
pension chooses the reformed scheme in their choice.  

Understanding the likely AA impacts on members (B.40) 
24. Please set out any comments on the interaction of the proposals in this

consultation with the tax system

Tax relief on contributions 

Where a member is owed a refund of tax for member contributions, surely it 

would just be easier to deduct a straight 20% tax from the total amount. Rather 

than try and calculate what is due for the last 4 years and what is due prior to 

that. The date of the 4 years is surely going to depend on when the member 

makes their choice and this is going to make it different for members and more 

complex to administer.  

Where members need to pay member contributions, tax relief is only going to be 

applied at source if the additional payments are deducted from pay, but this may 

not be possible in all cases. In these cases, it may be necessary to have a DD 

system in place and in which case contributions will need to be paid gross of tax 

and tax relief will need to be claimed back directly from HMRC. Will this also 

apply to members that are no longer active current members of the Fire Pension 

Schemes? 

Annual Allowance 

The Pension Input Amount and the Carry Forward for each year of the remedy 

period will need to be calculated under both legacy and reformed schemes to be 

able to establish whether there are any tax charges due. But then only those that 

have occurred within the last 4 years will be required to be paid by the member 

and only their Carry Forward will be able to be amended if it has differed in the 

last 4 years. As stated, this could mean that if under immediate choice a decision 

is made in June 2023, then only tax issues from 6 April 2019 onwards would be 

payable by the member. This will obviously be advantageous to some members 

who may have tax issues arise in earlier years.  

However it is going to make it complicated in the fact that it depends on when the 

member makes their choice as to what 4 year period is included, and it also 

depends on whether the member is going to utilise Scheme Pays as to what their 

benefits are going to look like.  

The relevant 4 year period would be different under the DCU option as all 

members would be moved back to their legacy scheme on 1 April 2022 and 

therefore any tax owed would be due from 6 April 2017. The DCU at least 

provides a clear 4 year period that will be the same for all members. 

Page 129



This page is intentionally left blank



OFFICIAL Issue date: 21 August 2020 

1 

Firefighters’/Police Pension Schemes 

McCloud/Sargeant ruling – Guidance on treatment of ‘Immediate Detriment’ 
cases 

1.0 Purpose of guidance 

1.1 The purpose of this note is to provide informal guidance to Fire and Rescue 
Authorities (in England) and Police Forces (in England and Wales) on processing 
‘immediate detriment’ cases (see definition in section 3 of this guidance) in advance 
of a decision on the Government’s final approach to removing the age discrimination 
as found in the McCloud/Sargeant Employment Tribunal litigation. 

1.2 The guidance is provided at the request of the Fire Brigades Union and for the 
purpose of assisting employers with “immediate detriment” cases.  For that reason, 
it is only relevant to members of the Police and Fire Pension Schemes.  

1.3 Further, it must be noted that the issues raised in this document are the subject of 
both ongoing litigation and the Government’s consultation.  As such this guidance 
will be kept under review to ensure that it is consistent with any judgment or 
outcome from the consultation and will be amended to give effect to any such 
judgement or outcome. 

1.4 In this guidance a reference to the “2015 scheme” is to the applicable reformed 
Police or Fire CARE Pension Scheme, and a reference to the “legacy scheme” is to the 
applicable Police or Fire Pension Scheme that applied to a member before 1 April 
2015. 

1.5 The term ‘pension authority’ refers to the appropriate Fire and Rescue Authority or 
Police Force. 

2.0  Background to McCloud/Sargeant ruling 

2.1 In 2015 most public service pension schemes, including the Firefighters’ Pension 
Scheme and Police Pension Scheme, were reformed. These reforms included 
‘transitional protection’ for people closest to retirement.    

2.2 In 2018, the Court of Appeal ruled that the transitional protection element of the 
2015 public service pension reforms constituted unlawful age discrimination in the 
Firefighters’ and Judges’ Pension Schemes. The Government respects the Court’s 
decision and has confirmed that it will remove the difference in treatment across all 
main public service pension schemes, including the Police Pension Scheme.   

Page 131

Appendix 5



OFFICIAL Issue date: 21 August 2020 

2 

2.3 The Government is currently consulting on proposals to remove this discrimination. 
Detail on the current proposals can be accessed here: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/public-service-pension-schemes-
consultation-changes-to-the-transitional-arrangements-to-the-2015-schemes.  The 
changes proposed in the consultation to remove the discrimination will apply across 
all the main public service pension schemes and provide members with a choice of 
which scheme they would like to be in for the remedy period. The remedy period is 
defined as between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2022 in the consultation paper.  

2.4 The remedy only applies to members who were in service on or before 31 March 
2012 and on or after 1 April 2015, including those with a qualifying break in service 
of less than 5 years.  

3.0  What are ‘Immediate Detriment’ cases 

3.1 For the purposes of this guidance, immediate detriment includes those scheme 
members who were in service on or before 31 March 2012 and on or after 1 April 
2015, including those with a qualifying break in service of less than 5 years, and who 
did not benefit from full protection and were moved into the 2015 Scheme on or 
after 1 April 2015: 

I. who become eligible to retire with an ordinary pension and want to have all
their benefits paid from their legacy scheme (i.e. do not accept deferred 2015
scheme benefits); OR

II. who don’t qualify for lower-tier (and therefore higher-tier) ill-health pension
under the single pot Ill-Health Retirement (IHR) arrangement BUT would do
so under the IHR arrangements in their legacy scheme.

3.2 Any scheme members that fall within either of the two categories above can have 
their pensions calculated and put into payment according the guidance set out in 
section 5 below.  

3.3  This guidance should not be applied to scheme members who have already retired 
and are in receipt of their pension payments.  These cases are more complex to 
address, especially due to complexities in rectifying the member’s tax position.   

3.4. It is important to note that ALL cases processed using this guidance will need to be 
revisited once the Government’s approach to removing the discrimination has been 
finalised, due to relevant matters that are currently subject to consultation, to 
include interest on contributions etc. This is likely to be after April 2022.  

4.0 Guidance on treating immediate detriment cases 

4.1 There are some transitional scheme members who have already been dismissed 
from work without a pension as they did not qualify for an ill-health pension under 
the 2015 Scheme.  In addition, there are transitional members who are now 

Page 132



OFFICIAL Issue date: 21 August 2020 

3 

approaching retirement and want to take their full pension benefits under their 
legacy pension scheme.  This guidance provides employers with advice on how these 
cases can now be processed in advance of final remedy implementation. 

Transitional members who are already in receipt of a pension 

4.2 There are cases (in respect of both ill-health/ordinary retirements) where 
transitional members have already retired and are currently receiving an ill-
health/ordinary pension.  It is recognised that many of these members’ pensions are 
lower than they would be if they were paid under the member’s legacy pension 
scheme.  For example, where a transitional member has retired on ordinary grounds 
below age 55, their benefits accrued under the 2015 Scheme will currently be 
deferred until their State Pension Age. 

4.3 These cases involve complex tax implications, employee/employer contribution 
adjustments etc. which still need to be resolved – these points are currently being 
consulted on and a final approach has yet to be confirmed.  We will look to process 
these cases as a priority as soon as these outstanding points have been resolved. 

5.0 Giving scheme members a choice 

5.1 Scheme members falling under the scope of this guidance will effectively be given 
the opportunity to take all their pension benefits accrued between 1 April 2015 and 
31 March 2022 under their legacy pension scheme, rather than take some benefits 
under the 2015 Scheme.   

5.2 Pension authorities can now offer this choice to all those scheme members who: 

 have transitioned into the 2015 Scheme who are approaching retirement; and
 have retired due to poor health but who didn’t qualify for an ill-health pension

under the 2015 Scheme regulations but would qualify under their legacy scheme
regulations.

5.3 In order to provide this choice, pension authorities will need to present two sets of 
pension entitlement quotes to each qualifying scheme member.  Whilst not an 
exhaustive list, each quote should set out the main pension benefits that they would 
receive under each choice, to include: recurring annual pension (before and after 
commutation), commutation retirement lump sum entitlement, employee 
contributions owed/refunds due etc.  Each scheme member should be required to 
provide written confirmation of their election.  

5.4  There remain a number of outstanding issues that will not be resolved until such 
time that the Government finalises its approach to removing the discrimination 
identified by the McCloud/Sargeant ruling (see unresolved pensions issues section 
below). Each scheme member will need to agree to accept the Government’s final 
approach and any future adjustments that this requires. 

Page 133



OFFICIAL Issue date: 21 August 2020 

4 

5.5  Once written confirmation has been received from each member, the pension 
authority can put the pension chosen into payment. 

Unresolved pension issues: 

5.6  As explained above, there remain outstanding issues that will not be resolved until 
the Government finalises its approach to removing the discrimination.  The 
Government is currently consulting on its proposed approach and will finalise its 
proposals following careful consideration of stakeholder responses.   

Recovery of outstanding employee contributions 

5.7 Any scheme members who choose to take their full pension benefits under their 
legacy scheme will owe employee contributions or be entitled to a refund.  Any 
employee contributions owed will need to be paid before the member’s legacy 
scheme pension can be put into payment. 

5.8 Any contributions owed will need to be based on the pay that is considered to be 
pensionable under the legacy scheme, which may vary from that pay which is 
considered pensionable under the 2015 Scheme.  It will be for employing pension 
authorities to make an assessment for each member and seek payment.  The 
member has a choice to pay any outstanding employee contributions from their 
retirement lump sum or from any other personal source. Any refunded employee 
contributions can be repaid to the member from the employer’s local pension fund 
account. 

5.9 A final decision has yet to be made in respect of whether, and at what rate, interest 
should be applied to contributions owed by employees should they elect to receive 
benefits from their legacy scheme during the remedy period (2015 to 2022).  As the 
Government’s approach to this issue has yet to be confirmed, this guidance proposes 
that interest is not applied to employee contributions owed at this time. 

5.10 Notwithstanding this, any immediate detriment cases where the pension is put into 
payment now may need to be revisited if the Government’s final approach includes 
the application of interest on owed employee contributions.  Pension authorities 
should ensure that any members making a decision under this guidance are aware 
of, and accept, this condition. 

Tax relief on employee contributions 

5.11 Where possible, pension authorities should ensure that the employee contributions 
owed are repaid by the member before they leave service to ensure that any tax 
relief entitlement can be applied.  Where this is not possible, for example where an 
individual has retired previously on ill-health grounds and did not qualify for a 
pension under the 2015 Scheme but would qualify under their legacy scheme, the 

Page 134



OFFICIAL Issue date: 21 August 2020 

5 

scheme member will have to wait until the Government’s final approach to removing 
the discrimination has been implemented to receive any appropriate 
reimbursement.  This is likely to be after April 2022. 

Recovery of outstanding employer contributions (Firefighters’ Pension Schemes only) 

5.12 The Firefighters’ Pension Schemes are in a unique position compared to other public 
sector pension schemes in that they do not have a uniform employer contribution 
rate across all schemes.  As such, any scheme member who elects under this 
guidance to take their full pension benefits under their legacy scheme will impact on 
the corresponding employer contributions owed in respect of that member during 
the period that they were in the 2015 Scheme. 

5.13 It will be for each employing Fire and Rescue Authority (FRA) to recalculate the 
contributions that they, as the employer, should have paid under the legacy scheme 
for each member and pay any shortfall into their pension fund account.  Where this 
results in an excess of employer contributions having been paid, these can be 
refunded to the employer from their pension fund account.   

Treatment of Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) transfers into the 2015 Scheme 

5.14 It is recognised that there will be some transitional scheme members who will have 
transferred benefits from an external pension arrangement into the 2015 Scheme.  
Where a scheme member elects to take all their benefits from the legacy scheme, 
the original transfer-in (the Cash Equivalent Transfer Value) will need to be re-
calculated to determine the amount of pensionable service that should be purchased 
in the member’s legacy scheme.   

5.15 The recalculation of the transfer-in will need to be undertaken by pension authorities 
as if it had been taken at the time of the original transfer, using the actuarial factors 
that were applicable at that time. 

5.16 Where conversion of transferred benefits from the 2015 Scheme to the legacy 
scheme results in the pension input amount changing due to actuarial adjustment, 
then an individual’s Annual Allowance position may need to be reassessed. 

Treatment of purchased added pension in the 2015 Scheme 

5.17 Some transitional scheme members will have elected to make voluntary 
contributions to purchase ‘additional pension’ in the 2015 Scheme.  For those 
members that elect to take their full benefits under the legacy scheme, any 
employee contributions paid in respect of the additional pension purchased will 
need to be converted to the equivalent value of additional pension that could have 
been purchased in the member’s legacy scheme.   

Page 135



OFFICIAL Issue date: 21 August 2020 

6 

5.18 The legacy schemes do not currently have ‘additional pension’ provisions.  Additional 
pension purchased in the 2015 Scheme is one of the unresolved issues that the 
consultation is considering.  

Scheme PAYS– treatment of debits applied to 2015 Scheme pension 

5.19 There may be instances where transitional members have previously incurred certain 
tax charges and have elected for these to be paid under Scheme PAYS with the 
associated pension debit applying to the 2015 Scheme benefits. 

5.20 Where this is the case and the member elects for all their pension benefits to be paid 
from their legacy scheme, there may be subsequent changes to the tax charges 
retrospectively.  If this is the case, pension authorities will need to recalculate the 
pension debit.  The recalculation of the pension debit will need to be undertaken by 
pension authorities as if it had been taken at the time of the original Scheme PAYS 
elections, using the actuarial factors that were applicable at that time. 

Revisiting AA tax assessments on previous years 

5.21 Under current arrangements, there is a four-year statutory time limit for reassessing 
tax for previous years. This means that where a scheme member’s pension benefits 
change for past years, altering their tax position, HMRC can collect and refund tax 
where it is owed for the current tax year, and the four full tax years immediately 
preceding the point at which the individual’s benefits change.  

5.22 Where a scheme member’s benefits change due to an election under this guidance 
so that additional tax is due for a tax year that sits outside the four previous tax 
years, HMRC cannot collect that additional tax.  As such, the member will not be 
required to pay this.  However, the recalculation will still be necessary to ensure the 
member’s tax position going forward is correct.  

5.23 The Government has confirmed that where a scheme member’s benefits change so 
that they are owed a reimbursement of any tax charges paid since April 2015, they 
will get a full refund for the full period. The scheme member will initially be able to 
seek a tax refund from HMRC in respect of any overpaid tax charges in the previous 
four tax years.   

5.24 Any further entitlement to a tax refund for years outside the four-year period will be 
refunded by means of compensation payments, which are expected to be paid after 
the Government finalises its approach to removing the discrimination, likely to be 
after April 2022. 

Police Workforce and Professionalism Unit, Home Office 

21 August 2020 

Page 136



 

 

 
Purpose: For Decision 

 
    

 

 
Committee 
 
Date 
  
Title 
 
Report of  
 

 
ISLE OF WIGHT FIRE AUTHORITY FIRE PENSION BOARD  
 
14 OCTOBER 2020 
 
COMBINED FIRE AUTHORITY (CFA) UPDATE REPORT 
 
TECHNICAL FINANCE MANAGER  

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1. Information contained in this report has been taken from the report to the Hampshire 

Fire and Rescue Authority (HFRA) Hampshire Firefighters' Pension Board for their 
meeting on 8 October 2020. 

 
2. Further updates will be provided to the board from the Pension Manager and the 

Technical Finance Manager. 
 
3. The board is asked to endorse the proposals for the consistent treatment of 

temporary promotions in the CFA and the membership of the CFA Fire Pension 
Board. 

 
AUTOMATIC RE-ENROLMENT PROCESS 
 
4. When the CFA comes into effect on 1 April 2021, as it is a new entity, it will be 

necessary go through an auto-enrolment process. Discussions have taken place in 
Hampshire County Council to determine whether this should be treated as a normal 
cyclical auto-enrolment or as contractual enrolment. The latter means that all 
employments held with employees that are not in any pension scheme will be enrolled 
into the relevant scheme, regardless of the amount of earnings. 
 

5. This will be a more straight-forward process and less resource intensive to put in 
place. It does mean however that members that were auto-enrolled as part of HFRA’s 
auto enrolment on 1 April 2020 or IWFRS auto-enrolment on 1 May 2020 and have 
subsequently opted out, will be enrolled again and will be required to opt out if they 
still wish to not remain a member of the pension scheme. 
 

TEMPORARY PROMOTIONS 
 
6. There is only one issue for Fire Pensions and that is to do with Temporary Promotions. 

IWFRS have made them not pensionable whereas HFRA has. 
 

Page 137

Agenda Item 7



7. Therefore it is recommended that the CFA make a decision confirming that from 1 
April 2021, Temporary Promotions are pensionable for Fire Pension Scheme 
members of the CFA that are temporarily promoted whilst a member of the 1992 or 
2006 Fire Pension Schemes; and the resulting additional pay will be used to award 
an Additional Pension Benefit to the member. 

 
CFA BOARD MEMBERSHIP 
 
8. At the last Hampshire Fire Pension Board meeting, it was agreed that officers would 

come back with options for the Board membership under the CFA. A number of 
different options were reviewed as it was agreed that we are keen to have IOW 
representation on the Fire Pension Board. The IOW currently has 4 board members, 
the two employer representatives are elected members, and the two scheme 
representatives are serving firefighters. 
 

9. It was felt that the best way forward would be to contact both of the scheme 
representatives to see if one of them would be willing to become an employer 
representative as both wished to continue serving on the Local Pension Board. 
 

10. It is confirmed that subject to the Board’s recommendation and approval by the 
Shadow Fire Authority that under CFA, one representative is willing to become an 
employer representative and the other will remain as a scheme representative. 

 
11. This means that this will increase the CFA Fire Pension Board membership to 8 

members. There will therefore need to be an amendment made to the Terms of 
Reference for this to take effect. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
12. That the proposal about the treatment of temporary promotions under the CFA as 

set out in paragraphs 6 - 7 is endorsed by the Isle of Wight Fire Authority Fire 
Pension Board and that a report is taken to the Shadow H&IOW Fire and Rescue 
Authority recommending a formal decision to this effect. 
 

13. That the proposal about the membership of the Fire Pension Board under the CFA 
as set out in paragraphs 8 - 11 is endorsed by the Isle of Wight Fire Authority Fire 
Pension Board and that a report is taken to the Shadow H&IOW Fire and Rescue 
Authority to enable the necessary appointments to be made. 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
14. Hampshire HFRA Fire Pension Board meeting 8 October 2020 

https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=196&MId=6615 
 
Contact Point: Jo Thistlewood, Technical Finance Manager,  821000  
e-mail jo.thistlewood@iow.gov.uk 
 

Page 138

https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=196&MId=6615

	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	4 Administration Update
	Sept20

	5 Legislation and Local Government Association (LGA) update report
	Item 5 App 1 FPB 30 Mar 20
	Item 5 App 2 FPB 31 Apr 20 interim
	Item 5 App 3 FPB 32 Apr 20
	Item 5 App 4 FPB 33 May 20
	Item 5 App 5 FPB 34 June 20
	Item 5 App 6 FPB 35 July 20
	Item 5 App 7 FPB 36 August 20
	Item 5 App 8 FPS AP factsheet 2015
	Item 5 App 9 Written statement

	6 McCloud/Sargeant case update
	Item 6 App 1 consultation
	Item 6 App 2 faqs
	Item 6 App 3 HFRA summary
	Item 6 App 4 HFRA draft response
	Item 6 App 5 immediate detriment

	7 Combined Fire Authority

